The Moldovan Medical Journal

The Publication of the Scientific Medical Association of Moldova

Frequency - 4 per year



Welcome to the Moldovan Medical Journal!

The journal was founded in 1958 on the initiative of Nicolae Testemitsanu, an outstanding expert in orthopedic surgery, social medicine and public health. From its debut the journal has striven to support the interests of Moldovan medicine concerning the new concepts of its development. Since 2017 the owner of the journal has become the Scientific Medical Association of the Republic of Moldova and the journal continues to function as

the scientific double-blind peer reviewed periodical edition issued 6 times per year designed for specialists in the areas of medicine, dentistry, pharmacy, social medicine and public health.

The Editorial Board warmly welcomes both the readers of and the authors for the journal, all those who are enthusiastic in searching new and more effective ways of solving numerous medicine problems. We hope that those who want to make their contribution to the science of medicine will find our journal helpful and encouraging.

Editorial Board

Editor-in-Chief **Topor Boris,** MD, PhD, Professor of Topographic Anatomy and Operative Surgery Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova

Associate Editor Kostin Sawa, MD, PhD, Professor of Pathology Max Planck Institute for Heart and Lung Research, Bad Nauheim, Germany

Bahnarel Ion, MD, PhD, Professor of Hygiene

National Center of Public Health, Chisinau, Moldova

Gavriliuk Mihai, MD, PhD, Professor of Neurology

Ghicavii Victor, MD, PhD, Professor of Pharmacology

Ben Gurion University of the Negev, Israel

School of Medicine, Nagoya University, Japan

Lisnic Vitalie, MD, PhD, Professor of Neurology

Moldovanu Ion, MD, PhD, Professor of Neurology

Ciobanu Gheorghe, MD, PhD, Professor of Urgent Medicine

National Institute of Urgent Medicine, Chisinau, Moldova

School of Medicine, University of Louisville, Kentucky, USA

Executive Secretary **Vovc Victor**, MD, PhD, Professor of Physiology Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova

Galandiuk Susan, MD, Professor of Surgery, Division of Colon and Rectal Surgery

Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova

Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova

Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova

Horch Raymund, MD, Professor of Surgery, Department of Plastic and Hand Surgery

Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova

Faculty of Medicine, Friedrich Alexander University, Erlangen-Nurnberg, Germany

Gurman Gabriel, MD, Emeritus Professor of Anesthesiology and Critical Care

Gutu Eugen, MD, PhD, Professor of Surgery, Department of General Surgery

Iwata Hisashi, MD, PhD, Emeritus Professor of Orthopedic Surgery

National Institute of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Chisinau, Moldova

National Institute of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Chisinau, Moldova

Matcovschi Sergiu, MD, PhD, Professor of Internal Medicine

Publisher

Ababii Ion, MD, PhD, Professor of Otorhinolaryngology Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova

Emeritus Publisher Ghidirim Gheorghe, MD, PhD, Professor of Surgery Academy of Sciences, Medical Section, Chisinau, Moldova

Emeritus Editor-in-Chief Groppa Stanislav, MD, PhD, Professor of Neurology National Institute of Urgent Medicine, Chisinau, Moldova

Advisory Board

Mustea Alexander, MD, PhD, Professor of Obstetrics and Gynecology Faculty of Medicine, University of Greifswald, Germany

Nacu Anatol, MD, PhD, Professor of Psychiatry

Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova Naidu Murali, BDS, MMedSc, PhD, Professor of Anatomy, University of Malaya Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Nikolaev Anatoliy, MD, PhD, Professor of Operative Surgery and Topographic Anatomy I. M. Sechenov First State Medical University of Moscow, Russia

Polk Hiram Jr., MD, Emeritus Professor of Surgery, Division of Surgical Oncology School of Medicine, University of Louisville, Kentucky, USA

Popescu Irinel, MD, PhD, Professor of Surgery Center of Surgery and Liver Transplant, Institute of Fundeni, Bucharest, Romania

Prisacari Viorel, MD, PhD, Professor of Epidemiology Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova

Rhoten William, PhD, Professor of Anatomy School of Medicine, Mercer University, Macon, Georgia, USA

Rojnoveanu Gheorghe, MD, PhD, Professor of Surgery, Department of General Surgery Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova

Rudic Valeriu, MD, PhD, Professor of Microbiology and Virusology Academy of Sciences. Medical Section. Chisinau, Moldova

Tarcoveanu Eugen, MD, PhD, Professor of Surgery, Department of General Surgery Grigore T. Popa University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Iasi, Romania

Valica Vladimir, MD, PhD, Professor of Pharmaceutical and Toxicological Chemistry Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova

Zaporojan Valeriy, MD, PhD, Professor of Obstetrics and Gynecology Faculty of Medicine, Medical University of Odessa, Ukraine

Emeritus Members of the Advisory Board

Gudumac Valentin, MD, PhD, Professor of Biochemistry Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, Moldova Popovici Mihai, MD, PhD, Professor of Cardiology National Institute of Cardiology, Chisinau, Moldova

CONTENTS

RESEARCH STUDIES

Ciobanu Natalia, Ciobanu Sergiu	
Femoral neck fractures in patients with stroke sequelae	
Lesnic Evelina, Niguleanu Adriana, Ciobanu Serghei, Todoriko Liliya	
Predictive factors associated to low tuberculosis treatment outcome: a cross sectional study	7-12
Railean Silvia	
Cranial deformities as a risk factor in the harmonious development of oral and maxillofacial region	
Fiser Lucia	
Acupuncture, Moxibustion and Chinese herbs in prevention of nosocomial infection in patients with acute cerebrovascular accident	
Olaru Andrei	
Infrared thermographic evaluation of patients with metastatic vertebral fractures after combined minimal invasive surgical treatment	
Capros Hristiana, Scoricova Iana, Mihalcean Luminita	
Intrauterine growth restriction: contemporary issues in diagnosis and management	
Baltaga Ruslan, Tibirnac Petru	
Usage of cardiotonic drugs at the intensive care units	
REVIEW ARTICLES	
Visternicean Elena	
The role of homocysteine in endothelial dysfunction	
Grib Liviu, Cenusa Octavian, Varvariuc Viorica, Abras Marcel, Grib Andrei, Grajdieru Romeo	
Radiofrequency ablation - new insights into the modern treatment of atrial flutter and fibrillation	
Popovich S. V., Katerenchuk I. P.	
Traumeel S – bioregulatory approach in the treatment of inflammation	
BOOK REVIEW	
Vataman Vladimir	
Monograph "Pituitary adenomas. Morphopathology and molecular profile". Author: Eugen Melnic	
GUIDE FOR AUTHORS	



Editorial Staff

Martinenko Liudmila, English Corrector, Telephone: +37322205209 Guzun Marina, Editorial Secretary, Telephone: +37332205877 Printing House "Tipografia Sirius" 2, A. Lapusneanu str., Chisinau, MD-2004 the Republic of Moldova www. sirius.md

RESEARCH STUDIES

DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.1050980 UDC: 616.718.42-001.5:616.831-005.1 

Femoral neck fractures in patients with stroke sequelae

*Ciobanu Natalia^{1,2}, Ciobanu Sergiu^{1,3}

¹Department of Neurology No 2, Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy ²Epilepsy and Cerebrovascular Diseases Laboratory, Institute of Emergency Medicine ³Clinical Hospital of Traumatology and Orthopedics, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

*Corresponding author: nataliaandronic@yahoo.com. Received February 06, 2017; accepted April 03, 2017

Abstract

Background: Patients with stroke associate a lot of complications; one of the most serious is femoral neck fracture. Nearly 30% of patients who have suffered femoral neck fracture die during the first year, in the survivors persists pronounced pain syndrome and reduced motility in the affected limb, and they become dependent in their habitual activities.

Material and methods: The notes of all patients with fractured neck of femur who were admitted to Clinical Hospital of Traumatology and Orthopedics, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova, between January 2014 and December 2015 were scrutinized.

Results: In a series of 67 hemiplegic patients who subsequently fractured their hips, it was found that hip fracture occurred significantly more often on the hemiplegic side. Hip fracture was equally common in right and left-sided hemiplegia, and often occurred within five years of the stroke.

Conclusions: Hip fracture after stroke is an increasingly recognized problem. Measures to prevent bone loss and preserve bone architecture have not been part of stroke management thus far. Because rapid bone loss is a risk factor for fracture, we believe that kinesiotherapy in the early phase of stroke rehabilitation is indicated. If a successful prevention program could be worked out in stroke patients, there would be potential saving of lives, suffering, and resources.

Key words: stroke, femoral neck fracture, osteoporosis.

Introduction

Increased fracture risk is a recognized complication following stroke. Bone loss following a hemiplegic stroke has been proposed as a major risk factor for post-stroke hip fracture, with a recent focus on the development of novel therapeutic measures to prevent bone loss and fractures after stroke [10]. Stroke is a major cause of mortality and morbidity in elderly people. Information on the prevalence of stroke is difficult to obtain. However, it is expected to increase, because the incidence of stroke increases extensively with age and because survival after stroke is prolonged. Some of the risk factors for stroke, such as age and smoking, and for complications after stroke, such as paresis and immobility, are also well-known risk factors for osteoporosis. Other symptoms after stroke, such as reduced balance and perceptual disturbances, increase the risk of falls, which are common in stroke patients. Accordingly, stroke patients would be expected to be at risk for both osteoporosis and falls and, consequently, for fractures [1, 2, 3].

Stroke patients have up to a 4-fold increased risk of hip fracture, and poststroke hip fracture occurs late after stroke (median is 30 months after stroke onset) and most often affects the paretic side. The increased incidence of fractures after stroke is partly due to loss of bone mass in the paretic extremities after stroke, hemiosteoporosis, which begins early after stroke and continues to progress for the first years after stroke onset. The reported prevalence of previous stroke among patients with hip fracture ranges from 3% to 19%, but the prevalence has been studied neither recently nor over time.

Both stroke and hip fracture are common in the elderly but little has been written about the coexistence of these problems [4]. It is recognized that hemiplegic patients fall more often than other elderly people [5] and that such falls may result in hip fracture [6], so hip fracture can be a late complication of hemiplegia. Moreover, there is aclinical impression that hip fracture usually or invariably occurs on the hemiplegic side [7]. In order to determine whether hip fracture is indeed more common on the affected side, and to ascertain the interval between stroke and fracture, 67 patients with a history of hemiplegia who subsequently fell and fractured their hips were studied.

Material and methods

The notes of all patients with fractured neck of femur who were admitted to Clinical Hospital of Traumatology and Orthopaedics, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova, between January 2014 and December 2015 were scrutinized. The admission history was studied to see if a completed stroke had occurred before the fracture. The side of the hemiplegia and the fracture and the interval between the 2 episodes were noted. All fractures were confirmed by radiography, and all patients underwent surgery involving internal nail fixation, prosthetic replacement. A previous stroke was defined according to the definitions of the World Health Organization as an "acute neurologic dysfunction of vascular origin with sudden or at least rapid occurrence of symptoms and signs corresponding to the involvement of focal areas in the brain," with symptoms lasting \geq 24 hours. If the patient had suffered more than one stroke, the interval between the most recent stroke and the fracture was recorded. Patients were excluded if the fracture occurred before or at the same time as the stroke; if the patient had sustained bilateral strokes; and if the side of the stroke was not specified in the hospital notes.

Statistical analysis

Data were analysed by Microsoft Excel. We calculated average parameters, standard deviations; t-Student test was used for comparisons. A value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Evidence of previous hemiplegia was found in 67 patients. Four (6%) of them had sustained 2 or more ischemic strokes. In 3 (4.5%) cases there were no residual signs of hemiplegia. There were 39 (58.2%) women and 28 (41.8%) men in the group of study. Mean age of patients was 67 \pm 1,37 years (minimum 46 years, maximum 82 years), mean age of females was 68,8 \pm 4,8 years and 60,8 \pm 5,5 years for men. There was a significant difference in age between the men and women (p<0.001) (fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Distribution on age.

All the women were aged 60 years or older, the majority (26 women, 67%) being in the 65-80 age range. Of the male patients, 6 (21.9%) were under 60 years, the youngest being 46 years old (tab. 1).

Part 11 11	
Table	
Laure	

The analysis variables in the group of study

	No	Mean age	The interval between stroke and fracture
Women	39 (58.2%)	68,8±4,8	4,3±2,8
Men	28 (41.8%)	60,8±5,5	4,9±3,5

Sixty four (95.5%) patients had sustained the fracture on the hemiplegic side, 3 (4,5%) on the opposite side (P<0.001). Patients with right and left sided hemiplegia were equally likely to sustain hip fractures (tab. 2).

Side of	hemip	legia	and	hip	fracture
	II VIIII VI		****		II WUUUUU

Table 2

Side of hemiplegia	Side of hip fracture	No of patients
Right	Right	31 (46.5%)
Left	Left	2 (3%)
Right	Left	1 (1.5%)
Left	Right	33 (49%)

31 (46.3%) patients had sustained their fractures within 3 years of the stroke. The longest interval between stroke and fracture was 12 years (fig. 2). Only 2 patients fractured their hips within 6 months of the stroke. No patient was documented as having a stroke simultaneously with the fracture.

The prevalence of osteoporosis risk factors in the studied group was:

- Age: 65 patients (98.5%) were over 50 years,
- Gender: there were 39 women (58.2 %), all the women were over 50 years (100%),
- 11 smokers (16.4%) and 6 ex-smokers (8.9%) had been indentified, the average duration of the smoking cessation was 4 ± 1.36 years,
- 32 subjects were overweight (47.7%),
- 1 (1.5%) patient suffered from rheumatoid arthritis, and was on long-term glucocorticoid therapy
- 2 (2.9%) patients had neck fractures before.
- Heavy drinking was a preexisting risk factor to 6 (8.9%) of the subjects.

All patients underwent surgery involving internal nail fixation, prosthetic replacement.



Fig. 2. Distribution by interval between stroke and fracture.

Discussion

In a series of 67 hemiplegic patients who subsequently fractured their hips, it was found that hip fracture occurred significantly more often on the hemiplegic side. Hip fracture was equally common in right and left-sided hemiplegia, and often occurred within five years of the stroke.

This study confirms the impression that hip fracture is significantly more common on the hemiplegic side. This may be because hemiplegic patients may tend to fall to the affected side [8], and the bone in the hemiplegic limb may be more likely to break as a result of disuse osteoporosis [9].

There are many factors which contribute to the tendency of stroke patients to fall. These include sensory, motor, reflex and circulatory disorders [5]. Stroke may result in an upper motor neuron syndrome characterized by spasticity, muscle weakness, and a variety of motor control abnormalities that impair the regulation of voluntary movement. Spasticity may negatively affect balance, mobility, and gait, possibly increasing risk of falls and bone fractures. The problem is exacerbated by use of centrally sedating medications that have antispasticity effects-such as tranquilizers, calcium-channel blockers, and phenothiazines-but they predispose patients to an increased relative risk of falls when compared with patients not taking these medications. Appropriate management of spasticity is thus an important goal in the care of post-stroke patients, and may reduce incidence and cost of expensive and probably avoidable events such as falls and fractures. Spasticity is characterized by positive and negative symptoms. Positive symptoms include exaggerated reflexes, rigidity, dystonia, and flexor and extensor spasms that are often painful. Negative symptoms such as weakness, fatigue, and slow initiation of movement also occur. Contractures result when tonedependent joint restrictions on range of motion lead to deformity at the joint, requiring surgical intervention. Muscle weakness and loss of balance combined with hypertonia and other aspects of spasticity predispose patients to falls and fractures. According to the American Geriatrics Society Guideline for the Prevention of Falls in Older Persons, older patients with more than one factor predisposing them to fall are at a substantially increased risk for frequent falling. Generally, positive symptoms are more amenable to pharmacologic treatment than negative symptoms, but patients should have their medications reviewed as some agents have effects that may exacerbate fall risk.

There are some studies that show that patients with leftsided hemiplegia are particularly prone to perceptual disorders. They are less able to perceive verticality than are patients with right hemiplegia, they suffer, more commonly, from hemispatial neglect, also called hemiagnosia, which is a neuropsychological condition in which, after damage to the right hemisphere of the brain is sustained, a deficit in attention to and awareness of one side of space is observed [11, 12]. This study shows that right and left-sided hemiplegic stroke patients are equally likely to sustain hip fractures, which indicates that perceptual disorders are not important in the genesis of falls after stroke.

Changes in the locomotor function of the affected leg are believed to be responsible for most falls after stroke [5]. In patients with an equinovarus deformity of the ankle, the toe of the hemiparetic foot may catch the floor causing the patient to lose balance.

Patients with long-standing hemiplegia are known to develop disuse osteoporosis on the affected side. Literature data describe hemiplegic patients with unilateral osteoporosis who developed hip fractures on the affected side.

Several potential mechanisms contribute to bone mineral

density loss after stroke, although there has been limited research into hemiplegia-induced bone loss at the cellular level [13]. A major factor is immobility, which contributes to generalized bone loss, in turn compounded by region-specific bone loss at sites such as the hemiplegic hip and upper limb.

Factors such as the duration of hemiplegia, degree of functional recovery, reduced vitamin D status and the use of anticoagulants [14, 15] may determine the rate and extent of bone loss after stroke. In a recently reported study of the changes in bone mineral density of the forearms and legs in relation to the duration of hemiplegia-induced immobilization after stroke, some studies confirmed that bone mineral density was decreased in the hemiplegic extremities relative to the unaffected side. They also found that there was an inverse relationship between duration of hemiplegia and bone mineral density values. In hemiplegic elderly patients with ischaemic stroke, hyperhomocysteinaemia has also been reported to be associated with hip fracture risk [16-30].

In the present study, only 2 patients sustained fractures in the first 6 months. In the early stages of recovery from stroke, one would expect those patients who had regained some mobility to be particularly prone to falls. The frequency of hip fracture in the first 6 months after stroke suggests that unilateral osteoporosis may be an important factor in the development of fractures in hemiplegic patients. Little is understood about osteoporosis in hemiplegic limbs. It would be interesting to know how commonly hemiplegic patients develop osteoporosis,how soon after stroke it occurs, and whether disuse osteoporosis is related to spasticity or weightbearing.

The incidence of hip fracture after stroke is uncertain. Peszczynski in 1957 found that 23 of 150 patients attending a rehabilitation centre after hip fracture had a history of previous hemiplegia or transient hemiparesis [5].

Conclusions

In the present study, documentary evidence of previous hemiplegia was found in 67 patients. As the study is retrospective, it probably underestimates the incidence of hip fracture after stroke. Prospective studies are required to ascertain how commonly hip fracture occurs in hemiplegic patients, to determine the relative importance of the factors predisposing to falls and fractures in patients with stroke, and to decide whether specific rehabilitation methods are effective in reducing the tendency to fall and fracture bones on the hemiplegic side.

For the moment, a pragmatic strategy for a stroke unit might be to consider non-pharmacological measures such as adequate sunlight exposure, early physiotherapy and pharmacological measures such as vitamin D and calcium supplementation for hemiplegic patients, and also to develop effective technologies for prevention of falls. Prevention of falls, both during stroke rehabilitation and afterwards, is clearly of major importance in preventing hip fractures. An important goal in the management of patients with spasticity involves restoration of normal limb position and ease of passive and/or active movement, with the aim of improving functional outcomes such as the ability to carry out activities of daily living.

So attention must be focused on stroke as a major and increasing risk factor for femoral neck fracture and also on the poor postfracture outcome and reduced survival of these patients. Prevention of poststroke fractures is necessary and is aimed at reducing the risk of poststroke fall and preventing the development of hemiosteoporosis.

References

- Sacco R, Benjamin H, Broderick I, Dykcn M, Easton J, American Heart Association Prevention Conference IV. Prevention and Rehabilitation of Stroke. Risk factors. Stroke, 1997.
- 2. Gavriliuc M, Groppa S, Moldovanu I. Protocol clinic național. Accidentul Vascular Cerebral Ischemic, Chișinău 2008.
- 3. International Osteoporosis Foundation. Facts and statistics: https:// www.iofbonehealth.org/facts-statistics.
- 4. Andersson A. G, Seiger A, Appelros P. Hip fractures in persons with stroke. Stroke research and treatment, 2013.
- 5. Peszczynski M. The fractured hip in hemiplegic patients. Geriatrics. 1957; 12: 687–90.
- Jacobsen B, Wilsgaard T. et al. Walking after stroke: does it matter? Changes in bone mineral density within the first 12 months after stroke: a longitudinal study. Osteoporos. Int. 2000; 11: 381–7.
- 7. Ramnemark A. et.al, Fractures after stroke. Osteoporos. Int. 1998; 8: 92–5.
- 8. Forster A, Young J. Incidence and consequences of falls due to stroke: a systematic inquiry. BMJ. 1995; 311: 83–6.
- 9. Poole Kenneth, Jonathan Reeve, Elizabeth A. Warburton. Falls, fractures, and osteoporosis after stroke. Stroke 33.5 (2002): 1432-6.
- Ramnemark A, Nilsson M, Borssen B. et al. Stroke, a major and increasing risk factor for femoral neck fracture. Stroke. 2000; 31: 1572–7.
- 11. Kanis J, Oden A. Acute and long-term increase in fracture risk after hospitalization for stroke. Stroke. 2001; 32:702–6.
- Dennis M, McDowall M. et al. Fractures after stroke: frequency, types, and associations / Stroke. 2002; 33: 728–34.
- Nevitt M, Cummings S. Type of fall and risk of hip and wrist fractures: the study of osteoporotic fractures. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 1993; 41: 1226–34.

- 14. Chiu K. et al. A prospective study on hip fractures in patients with previous cerebrovascular accidents. Injury. 1992; 23: 297–99.
- Jorgensen L, Engstad T, Jacobsen B. Bone mineral density in acute stroke patients: low bone mineral density may predict first stroke in women. Stroke. 2001; 32: 47–51.
- Ramnemark A, Nyberg L. et al. Progressive hemiosteoporosis on the paretic side and increased bone mineral density in the nonparetic arm the first year after severe stroke/ Osteoporos. Int. 1999; 9: 269–75.
- 17. Price R. el. al, Forearm bone loss in hemiplegia: a model for the study of immobilization osteoporosis. J. Bone Miner. Res. 1988; 3: 305–10.
- Crabtree N, Reeve J. et al. Ambulatory level and asymmetrical weight bearing after stroke affects bone loss in the upper and lower part of the femoral neck differently: bone adaptation after decreased mechanical loading. Bone. 2000; 27: 701–7.
- Hamdy R. et al. Changes in bone mineral content and density after stroke. Am. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 1993; 72: 188–91.
- Pappone N, Mandes M. et al. Determinants of bone mineral density in immobilization: a study on hemiplegic patients. Osteoporos. Int. 1996; 6: 50–4.
- 21. Sato Y, Maruoka H. et al. Development of osteopenia in the hemiplegic finger in patients with stroke. Eur. Neurol. 1996; 36: 278-83.
- Compston J, Cooper C. Bone densitometry in clinical practice. BMJ. 1995; 310: 1507–10.
- Ensrud K. et al. Hip and calcaneal bone loss increase with advancing age: longitudinal results from the study of osteoporotic fractures. J. Bone Miner. Res. 1995; 10: 1778–87.
- 24. Jones G, Nguyen T. et al. Progressive loss of bone in the femoral neck in elderly people: longitudinal findings from the Dubbo osteoporosis epidemiology study. BMJ. 1994; 309: 691–5.
- Brown S, Rosen C. Osteoporosis. Med. Clin. North. Am. 2003; 87: 1039–63.
- 26. Sato Y, Fujimatsu Y, Kikuyama M. et al. Influence of immobilization on bone mass and bone metabolism in hemiplegic elderly patients with a long-standing stroke. J. Neurol. Sci. 1998; 156: 205–10.
- 27. Sato Y. Abnormal bone and calcium metabolism in patients after stroke. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 2000; 81:117–21.
- 28. Sato Y, Kuno H, Kaji M. et al. Increased bone resorption during the first year after stroke. Stroke. 1998; 29:1373–7.
- Chantraine A, Nusgens B, Lapiere C. Bone remodeling during the development of osteoporosis in paraplegia. Calcif. Tis. Int. 1986; 38:323–7.
- 30. Sato Y, Maruoka H, Oizumi K. et al. Vitamin D deficiency and osteopenia in the hemiplegic limbs of stroke patients. Stroke. 1996; 27:2183–7.

DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.1050982 UDC: 616.24-002.5-08-036.8(478)



Predictive factors associated to low tuberculosis treatment outcome: cross sectional study

*Lesnic Evelina¹, Niguleanu Adriana¹, Ciobanu Serghei², Todoriko Liliya³

¹Department of Pneumophtysiology, Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova ²Chiril Draganiuc Institute of Phtysiopneumology, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

³Department of Phthysiology and Pulmonology, Bukovinian State Medical University, Chernivtsi, Ukraine

*Corresponding author: evelinalesnic@yahoo.com. Received February 21, 2017; accepted April 10, 2017

Abstract

Background: The standard treatment for new case of drug-susceptible tuberculosis according to WHO recommendations in the Republic of Moldova has been performed since 2000 and must achieve a treatment success rate of at least 85%. Actually the treatment success rate has increased due to excluding of MDR-TB patients from the general cohort. The major rate of patients with low outcome is represented by died and lost to follow-up cases (drop out). **Material and methods:** A retrospective selective, descriptive study targeting social, demographic, economic and epidemiological peculiarities, case-management, radiological aspects diagnosis and microbiological characteristics of 154 patients with pulmonary tuberculosis was performed. **Results:** It was established that the major risk factors for loss of follow-up were: low educational level, homelessness, history of detention, migration

and delayed patient's direct addressing the specialized hospital services. The major risk factors for death were: low educational level, homelessness and other ways of detection (detection by civic organizations, during specialized consultations in other somatic hospitals) as a result of the unemployment and lack of health insurance.

Conclusions: Raising awareness among high risk patients and their families about tuberculosis, emphasizing that the diagnosis and treatment are free of charge and independent regarding their social and economical status will improve disease outcome.

Key words: tuberculosis, risk factors.

Introduction

Tuberculosis represents a major global health problem, well recognized in the Republic of Moldova [1]. According to the WHO report in 2015, 10.4 million new cases were reported worldwide, of which 5,9 million (56%) were among men, 5.5 million (34%) among women and 1.0 million (10%) among children. From all new tuberculosis cases 1.2 million (11%) were people living with HIV. Two thirds of all cases were living in 6 countries: India, Indonesia, China, Nigeria, Pakistan and South Africa [2,3,4]. In the Republic of Moldova 4.211 cases were notified in 2015, 3.608 were new cases, 85% of them were tested by rapid diagnostic methods, 95% had HIV status, 90% had pulmonary tuberculosis and 64% were bacteriologically confirmed [1].

The standard treatment for new drug-susceptible tuberculosis according to WHO recommendations in the Republic of Moldova has been used since 2000 and lasts 6 months. It consists in a two phase regimen with four first-line drugs: isoniazid (H), rifampicine (R), ethambutol (E) and pyrazinamide (Z) in the intensive phase and two first-line drugs: isoniazid and rifampicine in the continuation phase [5]. It costs in average US\$40 per person and must achieve at least 85% treatment success rate. In the top of causes of death worldwide tuberculosis was placed on the 5th place in lower-middle income countries in 2015 [6]. According to the WHO published data in 2014 in the Republic of Moldova the drug-susceptible treatment success rate in HIV-negative patients constituted 79%, in HIV-positive cohort 47% and in multidrug resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) cohort 53% [4]. The quality of TB control activities is demonstrated by the rate of MDR-TB cases at the regional level. Globally in 2015 there were estimated 580.000 new MDR-TB cases, but only 125.000 received DOTS-Plus regimen [4]. In 2015 in the Republic of Moldova 32 % (29%–34%) of new cases were MDR-TB and 69% (66%–72%) of retreated cases were MDR-TB [1].

The major determinants of tuberculosis treatment outcomes are socioeconomic inequalities in health [7]. Public health barriers which decrease treatment outcome are: geographic (long distance, natural barriers), economic (lack of social protection and medical insurance) and cultural barriers to health care access (stigma, poor housing and environmental conditions), malnutrition, harmful habits and substances abuse (tobacco smoking, alcohol abuse, illicit drug use), ethnic group affiliation and continuous contact with an infectious source [8,9]. In consequence, the distribution of low tuberculosis outcomes reflects the social determinants with impact on late disease diagnosis and treatment onset, poor treatment adherence and high rate of side effects [9, 10]. In comorbid groups the disease progression and low treatment outcome were determined by immune suppressive conditions: HIV-positive status [11,12,13,14], diabetes [15,16], cancer [17,18], silicosis [19], chronic respiratory diseases [20], gastrointestinal diseases, malnutrition [21], other immune suppressive causes (immune modulating drugs, immune suppressive therapy, antineoplastic drugs) [22,23,24,25]. The most relevant actions for improving the outcome in those patients must be performed in the frame of general medicine network, through the active screening and close follow-up of high risk groups [26,27]. In that subgroups the tight network between primary health care, tuberculosis specialized institutions and social services will ensure the highest treatment effectiveness [28].

There is a strong relationship between the investments in

activities for strengthening tuberculosis control programs, diagnostics, treatment and effectiveness of tuberculosis national policy. World Health Organization, International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases, and UNDP emphasized that interventions from outside the health sector, social protection and urban planning have the biggest potential to increase tuberculosis control. Those organizations recommend to pay attention and to solve social issues of tuberculosis patients [5]. Higher rate of low tuberculosis outcomes in disadvantaged groups such as in poor, comorbid, addictive groups and ethnic minorities demonstrated that inter-sector collaboration is underestimated and the community participation is unsatisfactory [29].

In the frame of supportive actions, there were established duties of the social worker to be performed within the National Tuberculosis Control Programme for assistance of tuberculosis patients, their families and other categories of population with risks: identifying their social rights, type of social assistance and services for promoting social support [30, 31]. Starting with obtaining and assistance in identifying documents for the local governmental social services, the patients will be assisted in registering in the list of the general practitioner, in establishing and maintaining a favorable partnership with authorities, municipality and non-governmental organizations. In association to the social security options, the psychosocial counseling and opportunities to get a free medical examination for tuberculosis and associated diseases must be provided [32].

According to the economical status of tuberculosis patients there are different possibilities for each patient to ensure a high quality adherence to tuberculosis treatment, that are more or less satisfied by the local municipality: financial assistance - food parcels, travel vouchers, financial support [33]. It was well recognized that only governmental-public organizations have no sufficient impact on the quality of care of tuberculosis patients and treatment outcome. So, all stakeholders must agree a strong partnership for improving disease control including health focused NGOs and other organizations oriented for serving poor communities, vulnerable subpopulations, ethnic minorities, migrant workers, etc. [32,34]. However, academic institutions, medical and public health schools, throughout the scientific programmes must provide technical support for analysis of health determinants, epidemiology and monitoring of high risk patients for establishing community-based health projects and improving tuberculosis treatment outcome.

So, the aim of the study was to assess the major determinants of low tuberculosis treatment outcome: death and loss to follow-up in the period 2014-2016. Objectives were: 1. Assessment of tuberculosis treatment outcome dynamics in pulmonary tuberculosis cases registered in Chisinau during 2011-2015. 2. Assessment of general, socio-economic and epidemiological risk factors of pulmonary tuberculosis patients with low treatment outcome (death and loss to follow-up). 3. Evaluation of case-management, diagnosis, radiological aspects and microbiological characteristics of patients with low tuberculosis treatment outcome (death and loss to follow-up). 4. Establishment of a method for the comprehensive evaluation of risk factors for low treatment outcome (death and loss to follow-up).

Material and methods

It was performed a retrospective selective, descriptive study targeting social, demographic, economic and epidemiological peculiarities, case-management, diagnosis radiological aspects and microbiological characteristics of 154 patients with pulmonary tuberculosis registered in Chisinau city. The electronic system for monitoring and follow-up of tuberculosis cases (SIME TB) was used for the patients' selection. Data were extracted from the statistic templates F089/1-e "Declaration about patient's established diagnosis of new case/relapse of active tuberculosis and restart of the treatment and its outcomes". Inclusion criteria were: age > 18 years old, new case of pulmonary tuberculosis, signed informed consent. New case is the patient never treated for TB or has taken anti-TB drugs less than one month. The investigational schedule included demographic, social and epidemiological data: sex (male/female ratio), age (distribution in age groups), demographic characteristics (urban/rural residence), educational level, socio-economic status (employed, unemployed, retired, disabled, student), health insurance status (lack or presence of insurance), migration and detention history, presence of high risks (close contact with an infectious source, comorbidities: HIV-infection, diabetes, psychiatric diseases, immune suppressive treatment), type of infectious cluster, health care seeking behavior, way of the patient's detection. All selected patients were diagnosed and managed according to the National Clinical Protocol 123 "Tuberculosis in adults". Enrolled patients were distributed in three groups: the 1st group - control group (1) was constituted of 57 patients successfully treated (cured) in the period 01.01.2016-31.12.2016, the 2nd group - study group (2) was constituted of 22 patients lost to followup in the period of 01.01.2013-31.1201.2016, the 3rd group - study group (3) was constituted of 75 patients died during the treatment in the period of 01.01.2014-31.12.2016. Statistic analysis was carried out using the quantitative and qualitative research methods. Statistical survey was performed using Microsoft Excel XP soft.

Results and discussion

According to the published data by the Moldovan National Centre for Management in Health during the period 2011-2015 it was registered an important mortality decline (with 12,3/100.000) in Chisinau: 2011 - 19,2/100.000, 2012 - 15,4/100.000, 2013 - 10,8/100.000, 2014 - 10 /100.000, 2015 - 6,9 /100.000 population. Due to the improving of the treatment quality, the rate of died MDR-TB patients is continuously decreasing: 2011 - 51.7%, 2012 - 47.2%, 2013 - 46%, 2014 - 34.6%, and 2015 - 23.2%. The treatment success rate increased (+33.7%) from 2010 to 2014 in the positive acid fast bacilli patients: 2010 - 45%, 2011 - 56.7%, 2012 - 57.5%, and in bacteriologically confirmed cases 2013 - 70.3%, 2014 - 78.7%. The treatment failure rate showed a sharp decrease

from 2010 to 2015 due to definition changes: 2010 – 26.9%, 2011 – 23.6% and 2012 – 18.2%. During this period of time all cases identified with MDR-TB and performing drug-susceptible treatment were considered therapeutic failure. Starting from 2013 patients with treatment failure were considered only patients with microbiological smear positive after 5 months of treatment. Actually the rate of treatment failure is very low: 2013 - 6% and 2014 - 2.8%. The rate of patients lost to follow-up decreased evidently: 2010 - 15.8%, 2011 - 16%, 2012 - 13.7%, 2013 - 9.3% and 2014 - 11.2%.

Clinical study established a similar sex distribution in the cured (the 1st group) and lost to follow-up group (the 2nd group), with male/female ratio=1,43/1 in the 1st group and 1/1 in the 2nd group. Comparing control group of cured patients (the 1st group) and died patients (the 3rd group) it was established a predominance of men in the 3rd group: 62 (82.6%) vs. 33 (58.9%) women, with male/female ratio=2,69/1. Repartition of the patients into three age groups, identified that the largest represented were 18-44 years old in all three groups. Comparing the groups it was established that the rate of young (18-44 years) patients, economical and reproductive active people predominated in the 2nd group: 19 (86.3%) vs. control group 32 (57.1%). Patients from the age groups >45years predominated in the 3rd group without achieving the statistical threshold. So, while distributing patients according to the biological characteristics it was argued that men and women had the same probability to be cured or to default the treatment, but men more frequently die due to tuberculosis.

Demographic distribution identified that all the enrolled patients were from the Republic of Moldova and in all groups there was a similar proportion of individuals from the urban and rural areas.

Tal	ble	I
-----	-----	---

	Sex	CG (1)	LFUG (2)	DG (3)
Indices	Age Residence	N=56 (P %)	N=22 (P %)	N=75 (P %)
Sex	Men	33 (58,9)	11 (50,0)	62 (82,6) ## •••
	Women	23 (41,1)	11 (50,0)	13 (17,3) ## •••
Age groups	18-44 years	32 (57,1)	19 (86,3) **	37 (49,3)***
	45-64 years	13 (32,2)	2 (9,1)	29 (38,6) •••
	> 65 years	11 (19,6)	1 (4,5) *	9 (12,0)
Residence	urban	35 (62,5)	17 (77,3)	50 (66,7)
	rural	21 (37,5)	5 (22,7)	25 (33,3)

Distribution of patients by demographic data

Note: Applied statistical test: paired simple T-test, P – probability; Statistically significant differences between: LFUG (2) compared to the control group (CG) (1) * – p<0.05; ** – p<0.01; *** – p<0.001; DG (3) compared to the control group (CG) (1) # – p<0.05; ## – p<0.01; – p<0.001; LFUG (2) compared to the died group (DG) (3) •• – p<0.05;

•• - p<0.01; ••• - p<0.001.

While distributing patients according to the economic status, it was established that employed persons, that are contributing to the health budget by paying taxes, health insurance policy and social taxes predominated in the 1st group (control) comparing with the study groups. Disabled patients in all three groups demonstrated that most of them had no social protection and financial income. Low rate of retired patients was due to the young age of selected patients. Students were in a very limited number. Unemployed patients were the majority of all three groups, but statistically predominated in the 3rd group. Health insurance represents the major condition for accessing health care in the Republic of Moldova. Patients without insurance predominated in all study groups comparing with the control one.

Table 2

Socio-economic status of patients with pulmonary tuberculosis

Economic	State	CG (1)	LFUG (2)	DG (3)
indices	State	N=56 (P%)	N=22 (P%)	N=75 (P%)
Stable	Employed	9 (16,1)	1 (1,3) **	3 (4,0) #
	Disabled	1 (1,7)	1 (1,3)	3 (4,0)
	Retired	7 (12,5)	3 (4,0)	6 (8,0)
	Student	2 (3,6)	1 (1,3)	0
Vulnerable	Unemployed	37 (66,1)	16 (72,7)	63 (84,0) #
	Lack of	35 (62,5)	19 (86,4) ***	61 (81,3) #
	insurance			

Note: Applied statistical test: paired simple T-test, P – probability, Statistically significant differences between: LFUG (2) compared to the control group (CG) (1) * – p<0.05; ** – p<0.01; *** – p<0.001; DG (3) compared to the control group (CG) (1) # – p<0.05; ## – p<0.01; ### – p<0.001.

Considering these results, *mass media* must inform general population about full accessibility to all related diagnostic tools and specific treatment for tuberculosis is free of charge for all Moldovan citizens regardless of their health insurance and economic status.

Table 3

Distribution of patients according to the last graduate level

Educa-		CG (1)	LFUG (2)	DG (3)
tional	Educational status	N=56	N=22	N=75
level		(P %)	(P %)	(P %)
Illiteracy	No school attendance	0	5 (22,7) **	4 (5,3)
Primary level	Primary & general incomplete school	25 (44,6)	7 (31,9)	33 (44,0)
Secondary level	Completed general school	11 (19,6)	4 (18,2)	27 (36,0)##
	Professional school	15 (26,9)	6 (27,3)	8 (10,7) ##
Higher education	Superior studies	5 (8,9)	0	3 (4,0)

Note: Applied statistical test: paired simple T-test, P – probability; Statistically significant differences between: LFUG (2) compared to the control group (CG) (1) * – p<0.05; ** – p<0.01; *** – p<0.001; DG (3) compared to the control group (CG) (1) # – p<0.05; ## – p<0.01; ### – p<0.001.

Assessing the educational level it was established that most of the patients from all three groups graduated primary and general incomplete school. However, the completed general studies were more frequently identified in the patients from the 3rd group comparing with the control group and graduated professional school more frequently patients from the control group comparing with the 3rd group. Higher education was established in a limited number of cases. So, awareness and information about disease signs as well as education for risk reduction of persons with low degree of education are the most important tools that must be performed by the civil society organizations. Exposed data are revealed in the table 4.

Hierarchy of risk groups according to the widest rate of patients identified that the biggest impact on the developing of active pulmonary tuberculosis in all three groups determined the patient's vulnerable economic status and living in poor conditions. Extreme poverty (homeless individuals) was identified only in the study groups. History of migration during last year and history of imprisonment statistically predominated in the 2nd group. Low rate of family TB clusters affiliated to each investigated patient in all groups was due to the low quality of epidemiological cross-examination, rather than to the lack of closed (family) contacts. Patients with associated diseases were one third of the 2nd group and one half of the 3rd group. Comorbid patients statistically predominated in the 3rd group comparing with the 2nd group and control group. Among associated diseases, HIV infection was established in 3 (5.4%) cases of the 1st group, 4 (18.2%) cases in the 2nd group and 13 (17.3%) cases in the 3rd group. Diabetes was diagnosed only in 1 (1.7%) case of the 1st group. Chronic alcoholism was diagnosed in 1 case (1.7%) in the 1st group, 4 (18.2%) cases in the 2nd group and 16 cases (21.3%) in the 3rd group. Neoplasm was diagnosed only in1 (1.3%) case in the 3rd group.

So, the distribution of patients with pulmonary tuberculosis with different low outcomes established the primary target groups in frame of which must be performed awareness, education, and improvement of health behavior of social and economically vulnerable groups, comorbid groups, migrants and homeless people.

		0 0	, I	
	Risk groups	CG (1)	LFUG (2)	DG (3)
		N=56 (P %)	N=22 (P %)	N=75 (P %)
roups	Poor living condi- tions	32 (57,1)	15 (68,1)	52 (69,2)
ocial g	Homelessness	0	3 (13,6) *	16 (21,3) ###
S	Migration	5 (8,9)	7 (31,8) *	3 (4,0) •••
	History of deten- tion	0	3 (13,6) *	1 (1,3)
EG	Closed contact	11 (19,6)	1 (4,5) *	3 (4,0)
MBG	Associated disea- ses	8 (14,3)	6 (27,3)	34 (45,3) ### ●●

Rate of high risk groups

Note: SG – social group, EG-epidemiological group, MBG-medicobiological group.

Applied statistical test: paired simple T-test, P – probability;

Statistically significant differences between: LFUG (2) compared to the control group (CG) (1) * - p<0.05; ** - p<0.01; *** - p<0.001; DG (3) compared to the control group (CG) (1) # - p<0.05; ## - p<0.01; ### - p<0.001; LFUG (2) compared to the died group (DG) (3) • - p<0.05; •• - p<0.01; ••• - p<0.001.

Studying case-management it was identified that general medical staff was involved in the detection of one half of the control group and lower rate in study groups. The rate of patients detected by the passive way based on the microscopic examination of the symptomatic cases was statistically higher in control than in study groups. The rate of high risk groups investigated through active screening was low in all three groups that demonstrated low disease control in vulnerable populations. Specialized medical staff diagnosed more frequently patients from the 3rd group comparing with the 2nd during interdisciplinary consultations. Direct addressing to the hospital specialized services was used more frequently by the patients from the 2nd group comparing with control and the 3rd groups, due to the lack of health insurance and lack of direct addressing to the primary health care sector. Other ways of detection predominated in the 3rd group comparing with the control one. It was used for diagnosis of patients hospitalized in somatic clinical hospitals and for detection of high risk individuals performed by the civic organizations.

Table 5

Case-management	characteristics
-----------------	-----------------

Health	Detection	CG (1)	LFUG (2)	DG (3)
level	ways	N=56 (P %)	N=22 (P %)	N=75 (P %)
PHC	Detected by		1 (4,5) ***	14 (18,7)#
	GPs-sympto-	21 (37,5)		
	matic way			
	Detected by		4 (18,2)	2 (2,7)
	GPs -scree-	7 (12,5)		
	ning of HRG			
Ambulatory	Detected by		2 (9,1)	22 (29,3) ••
specialized	SP- sympto-	12 (21,5)		
level	matic way			
	Detected by		1 (4,5)	1 (1,3)
	SP-screening	1 (1,7)		
	of HRG			
Hospital	Direct	0 (16 1)	11 (50,0) ###	16 (21,3) •••
level	addressing	9(10,1)		
Other	Other ways	0	3 (13,6)	20 (26,7) ###

Note: Applied statistical test: paired simple T-test, P – probability; PHC-primary health care, GPs-general practitioners, SP-specialist pneumophtysiologist.

Statistically significant differences between: LFUG (2) compared to the control group (CG) (1) * - p<0.05; ** - p<0.01; *** - p<0.001; DG (3) compared to the control group (CG) (1) # - p<0.05; ## - p<0.01;

- p<0.001; LFUG (2) compared to the died group (DG) (3) • - p<0.05; •• - p<0.01; ••• - p<0.001.

Identifying the clinical radiological forms of pulmonary tuberculosis it was established that infiltrative opacities prevailed in the control group comparing with study groups. Appreciating clinical radiological forms it was established that the majority of cases had pulmonary infiltrative tuberculosis. Other radiological forms: disseminated tuberculosis prevailed in the 3rd group comparing with the 1st group and fibro-cavernous tuberculosis in the 2nd group comparing with the 1st group. Distributing patients according to the number of the affected lungs it was established that one lung was in-

Table 4

volved in two thirds of the 1st and the 2nd group and both lungs were affected in two thirds of the 3rd group. Destructive forms of pulmonary tuberculosis were identified more frequently in the 3rd group comparing with the 2nd group. Extensive forms of pulmonary tuberculosis affecting 3 and more lung segments predominated in the 3rd group comparing with the 1st and with the 2nd group.

Table 6

Table 7

Radiological characteristics

	Detection	CG (1)	LFUG (2)	DG (3)
Parameters	ways	N=56	N=22	N=75
		(P %)	(P %)	(P %)
Forms of TB	PIT	54 (96,4)	17 (77,3) *	57 (76,0) ##
	PDT	2 (3,6)	2 (9,1)	13 (17,3) ••
	FCVT	0	3 (13,6) *	5 (6,7)
Localization	1 lung	38 (67,8)	16 (72,7)	19 (25,3)) ### •••
	Both lungs	18 (32,2)	6 (27,3)	56 (74,7) •••
Features	Lung des-	19 (33 9)	5 (22,7)	35 (46,7) •
	truction	17 (33,7)		
	Extensive	5 (22 7)	6 (27,3)	45 (60,1) ###•••
	forms	J (ZZ,7)		

Note: PIT- pulmonary infiltrative tuberculosis, PDT- pulmonary disseminated tuberculosis;

FCVT- pulmonary fibro-cavernous tuberculosis;

Statistically significant differences between: LFUG (2) compared to the control group (CG) (1) * - p<0.05; ** - p<0.01; *** - p<0.001; DG (3) compared to the control group (CG) (1) # - p<0.05; ## - p<0.01; ### - p<0.01; LFUG (2) compared to the died group (DG) (3) • - p<0.05;

– p<0.001; LFOG (2) compared to the died group (DG) (3) * – p<0.05; •• – p<0.01; •• – p<0.001.

٨	1 i	cro	hial	logical	features
IV	11	сго	DIO	ogical	reatures

		CG (1)	LFUG (2)	DG (3)
Characteristics		N=56 (P %)	N=22 (P %)	N=75 (P %)
Microbio-	Microsco-	28 (50,0)		20 (26,7) ###•••
logical	pic positive		5 (22,7) ***	
	Culture	35 (62%)		16 (21,3) ###•••
	positive		6 (27,3) ***	
	GeneXpert	43 (76%)	12 (54,5) ***	34 (45,3) ###•••
	MTB/Rif			
	positive			
GeneXpert	Sensible	43 (100%)	8 (66,7)	26 (76,5)
MTB/Rif	Resistant	0	4 (33,7)	8 (33,5)

Note: Applied statistical test: paired simple T-test, P – probability; Statistically significant differences between: LFUG (2) compared to the control group (CG) (1) * – p<0.05;

** - p<0.01; *** - p<0.001; DG (3) compared to the control group (CG) (1) # - p<0.05; ## - p<0.01; ### - p<0.001; LFUG (2) compared to the died group (DG) (3) • - p<0.05; •• - p<0.01; ••• - p<0.001.

When assessing the laboratory features of the enrolled cured new pulmonary tuberculosis cases, it was identified that one half of patients were microscopic positive for acidfast-bacilli, 35 (62%) were identified to have positive bacteriological results (culture on solid Lowenstein-Jensen ether liquid MGIT BACTEC). The sensibility to the rifampicine through GeneXpert MTB/Rif assay was established positive in the entire control group. Drug sensitivity testing identified mono-resistance to isoniazid in 1 patient, poli-resistance to isoniazid and streptomycine in 3 cases and monoresistance to streptomycine in 1 case. In the 2nd and the 3rd group only every fifth patient was microbiological positive, due to the short duration of hospitalization. In the 2nd group were identified 4 patients with MDR-TB and there were no patients with mono- and poliresistance. In the 3rd group were identified 2 patients with MDR-TB and there were no patients with mono- and poliresistance.

An important research outcome represents the relative risk (RR), odds ratio (OR) and attributable risk (AR) indices for identifying the priority interventions in the frame of specific subgroups for low outcome. In the table 8 were represented only risk factors and features which predominated and exposed statistical difference between lost to follow-up and control groups. It was established that major risk factors for loss to follow-up were: low level of education, patient's homeless state and history of detention, followed by the migration and direct addressing to the specialized hospital services due to the lack of referral general practitioner and other socioeconomical vulnerable characteristics.

Table 8

Risk factors for loss to follow-up

Factors		Statistical indices			
	ractors	RR	OR	AR%	
Age	18-44 years	1,13-10,72	1,31-18,62	33%	
Social	Lack of insurance	1,08-1,82	1,05-15,04	27%	
economical	Low educational	2,83-6,51		100%	
features	level		N/A		
	Homelessness	2,67-5,82	N/A	100%	
	Migration	1,35-5,01	1,34-17,51	72%	
	History of detention	2,71-5,91	N/A	100%	
Case-mana-	Direct addressing to	1,51-5,73		68%	
gement	the hospital		1,79-15,99		

Note: RR-relative risk, OR-odds ratio; AR-attributable risk, N/A-non available.

Table 9

Risk factors for death due to the tuberculosis progression

Fa	actors	Statistical indices				
		RR	OR	AR%		
Demo- graphics	Men	1,81 (1,14-2,86)	3,32 (1,49-7,41)	29%		
Social economi-	Unemploy- ment	1,68 (1,05-2,69)	2,83 (1,25-6,46)	21%		
cal	Lack of insur- ance	1,58 (1,03-2,45)	2,61 (1,18-5,78)	23%		
	Low educa- tional level	1,81 (1,54-2,11)	N/A	100%		
	Homelessness	1,96 (1,64-2,35)	N/A	100%		
Case- manage-	Associated diseases	1,75 (1,34-2,29)	4,97 (2,07-11,94)	69 %		
ment	Other way of detection	2,02 (1,67-2,43)	N/A	100%		

Note: RR-relative risk, OR-odds ratio, AR-attributable risk, N/A-non available.

The next table reflects data assessing risk factors and features which statistically predominated in the group of died patients comparing with the control group. It was established that major risk factors for death were similar as with those that determined the drop up: low level of education, homelessness and ways of detection other than passive and active way according to the national policy, and unemployment that was associated to the social vulnerability.

Conclusions

The standard treatment for new case of drug-susceptible tuberculosis according to WHO recommendations in the Republic of Moldova has been performed since 2000, lasts 6 months, consists in a two phase regimen and must achieve a treatment success rate of at least 85%.

The treatment success rate increased in last 5 years due to excluding of MDR-TB cohort from the assessed cohort.

Actually, the major rate of patients with low outcome is represented by died and lost to follow-up cases.

Comparing the control group consisting of cured patients and the study group that dropped out it was identified that major risk factors for loss to follow up were: low educational level, homelessness and history of detention, migration and direct addressing to the specialized hospital services.

Comparing the control group consisting of cured patients and the study group of died patients it was identified that major risk factors for death were: low educational level, homelessness and other ways of detection (detection by NGOs, specialized consultations in other somatic hospitals) as a result of the unemployment and lack of health insurance.

Raising awareness among socially vulnerable groups and their families about tuberculosis, emphasizing that the diagnosis and treatment are free of charge and independent regarding their social status will improve treatment outcome and disease control at the local level.

References

- 1. Centrul National de Management în Sănătate, raport din 2015 [National Centre for Health Management, report 2015] Chisinau, 2015.
- Kwan C., Ernst J. D. HIV and tuberculosis: a deadly human syndemic. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. 2011;24(2):351–376.
- Ukwaja K. N. Tuberculosis treatment default among TB-HIV coinfected patients in Nigeria. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Public Health. 2013;6(3):382–383.
- 4. World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report, 2016.
- 5. World Health Organization. Treatment of Tuberculosis: Guidelines for national programmes. Geneva, 2010.
- 6. World Health Organization. Fact sheet on tuberculosis, 2016.
- Hargreaves JR, Boccia D, Evans CA, Adato M, Petticrew M, Porter JD.The social determinants of tuberculosis: from evidence to action. Am J Public Health. 2011;101(4):654-62.
- Lonnroth K, Jaramillo E, Williams BG, Dye C, Raviglione M. Drivers of tuberculosis epidemics: the role of risk factors and social determinants. Social Sciences and Medicine, 2009, 68(12), p. 2240–2246.
- Alavi-Naini RA., Moghtaderi A., Metanat M. Factors associated with mortality in tuberculosis patients. J Respiratory Medical Sceinces, 2013, 18(1), p. 52-55.
- Lesnic E., Ciobanu S., Sajin M., et al. Analysis of risk factors for default and failure among patients with pulmonary tuberculosis under DOTS strategy. Curierul Medical, Chişinău, 2014; 57 (5): 36–42.
- 11. Oshi D.C., Oshi S.N., Alobu I., Ukwaja K.N. Profile, Outcomes, and Determinants of Unsuccessful Tuberculosis Treatment Outcomes among

HIV-Infected Tuberculosis Patients in a Nigerian State. Tuberculosis Research and Treatment. 2014; 2014: 202983.

- 12. Ali S.A, Thandisizwe R. Mavundla T. R., Fantu R, Awoke T. Outcomes of TB treatment in HIV co-infected TB patients in Ethiopia: a crosssectional analytic study. BMC Infect Dis. 2016; 16: 640.
- Ismail I., Bulgiba A. Determinants of unsuccessful tuberculosis treatment outcomes in Malaysian HIV-infected patients. Prev Med. 2013; 57, Suppl: S27-30.
- 14. Sinshaw Y., Alemu S., Fekadu A., Gizachew M. Successful TB treatment outcome and its associated factors among TB/HIV co-infected patients attending Gondar University Referral Hospital, Northwest Ethiopia: an institution based cross-sectional study. BMC Infect Dis. 2017 Feb 8;17(1):132.
- Viswanathan A.A., Gawde N.C. Effect of type II diabetes mellitus on treatment outcomes of tuberculosis. Lung India. 2014; 31(3): 244–248.
- Baghaei P., Marjani M., Javanmard P., Tabarsi P., Masjedi M.R. Diabetes mellitus and tuberculosis facts and controversies. J Diabetes Metab Disord. 2013; 12(1): 58.
- 17. Jung I.Y., Kim M.H., Jeong W.Y., Ahn M.Y., Jeon Y.D., Ahn H.W., Ahn J.Y., Song J.E., Oh D.H., et al. Treatment Outcomes of Patients Treated for Pulmonary Tuberculosis after Undergoing Gastrectomy. Tohoku J Exp Med. 2016; 240 (4): 281-286.
- Chen CY1, Sheng WH, Cheng A, Tsay W, Huang SY, Tang JL, Chen YC, et al. Clinical characteristics and outcomes of Mycobacterium tuberculosis disease in adult patients with hematological malignancies. BMC Infect Dis. 2011 Nov 23;11:324.
- Hung CL, Su PL, Ou CY. Prognostic effect of tuberculosis on patients with occupational lung diseases: A 13-year observational study in a nationwide cohort. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016;95(37):e4748.
- Anthony L. Byrne, Ben J. Marais, Carole D. Mitnick, Leonid Lecca, Guy B. Marks of tuberculosis and chronic respiratory disease: a systematic review. International Journal Of Infectious Disease. 2015;32:138–146
- 21. Hicks R.M., Padayatchi N., Shah N.S., Wolf A., Werner L., Sunkari V.B., O'Donnell M.R. Malnutrition associated with unfavorable outcome and death among South African MDR-TB and HIV co-infected children. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2014;18(9):1074-83.
- 22. Lesnic E., Todoriko L., Niguleanu A. Comparative assessment of tuberculosis patients according to the socio-medical factors in a high burden trans-border region. Туберкулез, легеневі хвороби, ВІЛ-інфекция, Киев, 2016, nr. 4, vol. 27, р. 32-38.
- 23. Tweya H., Feldacker C., Phiri S., Ben-Smith A., Fenner L., Jahn A., et. al. Comparison of treatment outcomes of new smear-positive pulmonary tuberculosis patients with HIV and antiretroviral status in a TB/HIV clinic, Malawi. PLoS One. 2013; 8(2):e56248.
- Ukwaja K.N, Oshi S.N, Alobu I, Oshi D.C. Profile and determinants of unsuccessful tuberculosis outcome in rural Nigeria: Implications for tuberculosis control. World J Methodol. 2016; 6(1): 118–125.
- 25. Lin C.H., Lin C.J., Kuo Y.W., Wang J.Y., Hsu C.L., Chen J.M., Cheng W.C., Lee L.N. Tuberculosis mortality: patient characteristics and causes. BMC Infect Dis. 2014 Jan 3;14:5.
- 26. Lesnic E., Niguleanu A., Curocichin Gh. Segregation of tuberculosis patients by social, demografic and economic features on the model of Chisinau city and the role of the community support. Curierul Medical, Chişinău. 2016; 59 (4):11-17.
- Yen Y.F., Feng J.Y., Pan S.W., Chuang P.H., Su V.Y., Su W.J. Determinants of mortality in elderly patients with tuberculosis: a population-based follow-up study. Epidemiol Infect. 2017:13:1-8.
- Ditah M., Reacher C., Palmer C. et al. Monitoring tuberculosis treatment outcome: analysis of national surveillance data from a clinical perspective. Thorax. 2008; 63:440–446.
- 29. World Health Organization. Evaluation of the structure and provision of primary health care in the Republic of Moldova. Geneva, 2012.
- Rasanathan K., Sivasankara K., Jaramillo E., et al. The social determinants of health: key to global tuberculosis control. Inter Journal Tuberculosis Lung Diseases, 2011, p. 30-36.
- World Health Organization. Equity, social determinants and public health programmes, Geneva, 2010.
- 32. World Health Organization. End TB Strategy. Geneva, 2014.
- 33. World Health Organization. The global plan to stop TB 2011-2015: transforming the fight towards elimination of tuberculosis. Geneva, 2011.
- 34. World Health Organization. Systematic screening for active tuberculosis. Geneva, 2013.

DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.1050985 616.714-007.2-06:[616.31+616.716.8]-007-053.2



Cranial deformities as a risk factor in the harmonious development of oral and maxillofacial region

Railean Silvia

Department of maxillofacial surgery, pedodontics and orthodontics Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, of the Republic of Moldova Corresponding author: gingas@bk.ru. Received March 07, 2017; accepted April 10, 2017

Abstract

Background: There is no information about cranio-facial asymmetry among school children and the influence of this pathology on the quality of life. **Material and methods:** The study presents a descriptive analysis of 3923 children ages 7 to 18 years. In this scientific work were involved three types of schools: 421 children from schools with severe neurological disorders; 2157 children from auxiliary schools with special educational needs; and 1345 children from pre-university schools. Buccal examination included the dento-maxillary analysis in three planes (sagittal, vertical, and horizontal) and cranial anatomical shape was examined for all children.

Results: In total 3923 children were examined, of which 632 (16%) were determined with cranial asymmetry. Among 2157 children from auxiliary schools for children with special educational needs 18% were detected with cranial deformities. In schools for children with neurological disabilities cranial asymmetries were detected in 44.18%, and in pre-unuversity schools 4.76% were found with cranial deformities. A high incidence (twice more) of dental alveolar anomalies were found in children with cranial deformities, compared to those without deformities in the sagittal plane, 15.5% of children with cranial deformities were found with dento-alveolars anomalies and 7.84% in children without cranial deformation was (P<0.001). Similar results were found in the determination of occlusion anomalies in the horizontal and vertical planes.

Conclusions: The high incidence of cranial deformities was found among handicapped children and children from schools with special educational needs. A few children with cranial deformities were found among children from pre-university schools. It was proved that a high risk of dento-alveolar anomalies have children with cranial deformities.

Key words: cranial deformities, malocclussion, plagiocephaly, craniosynostosis, handicapped children.

Introduction

The first information about the anatomy, morphometry, the classification of the cranium deformities appears in the works of Herodotus and Halicarnassis, Chios, Hipposcratus. Since ancient times is known about the tendency to model skull shape with a view to improve the intelligence of personality. From other sources we learned that the trepanation of the skull was known in prehistoric times and was performed in medical and mystic purposes [3,4,5,14]. Cranial deformities problem is actual today and became particularly acute with the launch of the campaign "Back to Sleep" by US pediatricians association. If in 1974 it was reported an incidence of positional plagiocephalies of 1 from 300 live births, so in 1996 their incidence increased from 1 to 60 neonates [9,10]. The incidence of craniostenoses is reported constant: 1: 1000 newborns. Bruneteau and Mulliken, WojciechDec suggest an incidence of cranial deformities approximately 48% of all live newborns depending on the examination criteria [7, 11].

Significant and rapid increase in the incidence of cranial deformations generated new problems related to child development. Many authors show that children with cranial deformities have increased risk for development of pathological manifestations of neurodevelopment, risk for cognitive deficits or learning/language disabilities, otolaringological and ophthalmological problems, even cosmetic etc. [13,14,15,20]. Dane St. John and al. have shown in their study the connection between skull shape and position of the mandible. This study supports the clinical observation that the mandibular asymmetry in deformational posterior plagiocephaly is secondary to rotation of the cranial base and anterior displacement of the temporomandibular and not the result of primary mandibular deformity [19].

However, the vast majority of studies are carried out in child's early development period and there is almost no remote information on development of cranial deformities and changes made by this pathology. Sybill Dee Stock Naidoo, in their study shows that information is very poor and can not explain cranial deformities role in the development of a child during the school period [8]. Approximately all studies regarding the incidence, neurological development, otolaringological development, ophtalmological development etc. of children with cranial deformities found have not taken into account the socioeconomic position of patients [21, 24].

Trying to create a treatment plan for cranial deformities has generated very controversial opinions. While some authors consider the superiority of treatment by using the methods of orthopedic or surgical remodeling of the skull, others plead for self-remodeling of the skull or considered the skull deformity a minor cosmetic problem. In this area there are different opinions, which are probably caused by the lack of long-term studies [18,16,12,15,8,22,23].

Currently there is limited published data on the long-term observation of children with cranial deformities. The studies that are in the literature have been conducted with small numbers of participants and include patients in early stage of life. Health care providers have little evidence-based research to guide parents in treatment decision making for cranial deformities. There is a need to examine the differences in long term symmetry of the skull among school children who have cranial anomalies vs. whom have not that remains scarce and ill-defined. Proceeding from the above, in this study we aimed to assess the frequency of cranial deformities in children of school age in the Republic of Moldova and make the analysis of dento-maxillary status of children with and without cranial deformities.

Material and methods

The study was made at the Department of oral and maxillofacial surgery of the Faculty of Dentistry of Nicolae Testemitanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy of the Republic of Moldova, in the period 2012 - 2014. The study was included in the State Program with the title: the Oral Health of children in the Republic of Moldova. The aim of the study was to determine the presence of oral diseases, quality of child's life and factors that may influence the presence of oral diseases. The study involved specialists in pedodontics, orthodontics, neurosurgeon, pediatric neurologist, maxillafacial surgeon, together with the team of plastic surgeons from Wake Forest University, Weanstom Salem, USA. Examination of children was performed under the information agreement accepted by the department of bioethics of Nicolae Testemitanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy. The study presents a descriptive analysis of 3923 children ages 7 to 18 years. In this scientific work were involved three types of schools: schools for children with severe neurological disorders; auxiliary schools for children with special educational needs; and children from pre-university schools. In the first group 421 children with disorders were examined: 50.9% girls, 49.1% boys. Children examined had mental retardation (F70-F79), cerebral palsy (G80 - G83), episodic and paroxysmal disorders (G40 - G47), sequelae of inflammatory diseases of the central nervous system (G09) neurotic disorders, stress and somatoform (F40 - F48), congenital malformations, deformations and chromosomal abnormalities (Q00-Q99), other diseases of the nervous system (G90 - G99).

In the second group 2157 children were examined, 63.2% boys, 36.8% girls. In this group we have included children from auxiliary schools for children with special educational needs. In the third group of study 1345 children were examined: 48.9% boys, 51.1% girls. In this category healthy children from pre-university schools were included. All children were examined in medical units of their schools. All staff of schools was present at the examining. Clinical examination was performed in accordance with the questionnaire prepared beforehand and confirmed by the department of bioethics of Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy of the Republic of Moldova. This questionnaire included general questions (age, gender, locality, examined school category) as well as special (buccal examination and exrtabucal examination: head and neck region).

Buccal examination included the dento-maxillary analysis in three planes (sagittal, vertical, horizontal). In the sagittal plane protrusion changes of the maxilla and mandible were found, in the vertical plane: open or deep bite changes, and horizontally: the presence of unilateral and bilateral laterognathia. Examination standards were used for the diagnosis of malocclusions. The term normal occlusion includes minimal deviations from ideal parts that do not generate aesthetic and functional changes. To determine the maxilla and mandible relation, children were examined in well lit classes. The tools used for the examination of the oral cavity were wooden spatula of single-use and sterile gloves. Each patient was examined in two positions: with wide open mouth and teeth in central occlusion in a sitting position or in bed. School doctor, nurse and teachers participated in examinations. Data were recorded in questionnaires prepared beforehand. Extrabuccal clinical examination included determination of cranial form by inspection and palpation as simple, modest, direct and accessible methods. In this study all forms of cranial deformities, classified as plagiocephalies and craniostenoses were taken into account. Plagiocephalies were determined by ear flags asymmetry, unilateral bulging in front or occipital part, or both, narrow skull in vertical, horizontal or sagittal plane, according to the Argenda classification [1]. When examining some forms of cranial deformities, it was difficult to determine the position of plagiocephaly or craniostenosis, that is why they have been categorized in the intermediate group, called "other forms of deformities". When during clinical inspection children were determined with cranial deformities, a wig cap was placed on each participant, in order to confirm the presence of deformity [1,2].

The results were analyzed using Epi-info-2002 and Excel from the package Microsoft office. The data were interpreted as $M \pm m$ (average error) by means of the criterion t-Student. All statistical methods were obtained from the Statistics for Windows, version 6. The difference was regarded as conclusive when p<0.05 [31].

Results

In total 3923 children were examined, of which 632 (16%) were determined with cranial asymmetry. 12.4% of these children were found with cranial deformities of plagiocephaly type, 1% – with craniostenoses and 2.7% with other deformities. Out of 2157 children from auxiliary schools for children with special educational needs 18% were detected with cranial deformities. In schools for children with neurological disabilities cranial asymmetries were detected in 44.18% of 421examined children and in pre-university schools from 1345 children 4.76% were found with cranial deformities (P<0.001).

In total 3923 children were examined. 2157 of these children were from auxiliary schools for children with special educational needs, 421 from school for children with neurological disabilities, 1345 children were from pre-university schools. 632 (16%) of 3923 examined children were detected with cranial deformities. As a result of this study, it was found that the rate of cranial deformities is directly proportional to the nature of the examined school. We found statistically true that in schools for children with neurological disabilities 44.18% cases were found with cranial deformations, in schools for children with special educational needs – 17.71%, while in pre-university schools – 4% (P<0.001).

				1	1	1
Type of examined school	Auxiliary schools	Schools for chil- dren with neuro- logical disabilities	Pre-university schools	Total, n	Total %	
Children without cranial defor-	1775	235	1281	3291		1
mities	82.29%	55.82%	95.24%		83.89	
Children with cranial deformities of craniostenosis type	25 1.16%	8 1.90%	7 0.52%	40	1.02	-
Children with cranial deformities of plagiocephaly type	330 15.30%	99 23.52%	56 4.16%	485	12.36	X ² 647.225
Other deformities	27 1.25%	79 18.76%	1 0.07%	107	2.73	P<0.0001
Total n	2157	421	1345	3923		
Total %	54.98	10.73	34.28		100.00	-

Cranial deformities in children

Cranial deformities of plagiocephaly type were found with an increased rate compared to craniostenoses and other deformities. Thus, cranial deformities type plagiocephaly skull were found 23 times more compared to craniostenoses. In schools for children with neurological disorders 23.52% of cases were deformities of plagiocephaly type, while 1.90% were craniostenoses, in auxiliary schools 15.30% of cases were plagiocephalies and 1.16% – craniostenoses, but in pre-university schools 4.16% plagiocephalies and 0.52% craniostenoses (P<0.001). In the present study we found that plagiocephalies of I, II, III degrees are most commonly encountered in all categories of examined schools being from 3.19% to 3.75% with a decrease in deformities of IV and V degrees (1.76% and 0.18%), (P<0.001), (tab. 1).

Table 2

Sagittal occlusion disorders

Cranial defor- mities Maxilla pro- trusion	Without n/%	With n/%	Total n/%	X ² 37.769 P< 0.000
Present	258 7,84	98 15,51	356 9,07	
Absent	3038 92,16	543 84,49	3567 90,93	
Total	3291 83,89	632 16,11	3923 100	

Table 3

15

Jaw deformations in the sagittal plane

Cranial de- formities	Without	t With n/% Total n/%		
Mandible	11/ /0			X ² 11770
Absent	3225 97%	605 95%	3831 97,63%	P< 0.001
Present	66 2%	27 4,27%	93 2,37%	
Total	3291 83,89%	632 16,11%	3923 100	

After analyzing examinations of alveolar and dental systems, made in the three reference planes (sagittal, vertical and

horizontal), it was found statistically true their increased rate, almost two times higher in children with deformities compared to those without cranial deformities. Dentoalveolar deformities in the sagittal plane – protrusion of the maxilla in children with cranial deformities was 15.5% and in children without cranial deformities was 7.84% (P<0.001). 4.27% of children with deformities were detected with the maxilla protrusion compared to those without deformities: 2.01%. So, it was revealed a high incidence (twice more) of dental alveolar deformities in the sagittal plane in children with deformities, compared to those without deformities (P<0.001), (tab. 2, 3).

Table 4

Table 1

Horizontal occlusion disorders

Cranial deformities			nial ormities		14/:-	h n/0/	Total	m /0/-	X ² 32.964
Open	with	JUL 11/ %	WITH N/%		10tal n/%		P< 0.0001		
occlusion									
Absent	3115	94,65%	560	88,61%	3675 93	3,68%			
Unilaterally	110	3,34%	43	6,80%	153 3	,90%			
present									
Bilaterally	66	2,01%	29	4,59%	96 2,	42%			
present									
Total	3291	83,89%	632	16,11	3923	100			

Similar results were found in the determination of occlusion anomalies in the horizontal plane. Unilateral and bilateral laterodeviations were statistically true with a double frequency in the group of children with cranial deformities in comparison with those without (P<0.0001). Unilateral laterodeviations in children with deformities were 6% and bilateral deviations were 4.59%. While in children without cranial deformities, unilateral laterodeviations were 3.34% and bilateral were 2.01% (tab. 4). Dento-maxillar anomalies of open occlusion type were found in 11.71% of children with cranial deformities and only in 5.59% of children without cranial deformities (P<0.001), (tab. 5). But we did not find this difference in disturbances of deep occlusion type (tab. 6). At the same time, we can say that the risk of development of malocclusion in the three planes is increased in children with cranial deformities).

Table 5

Vertical	occlusion	disorders

Cranial de- formities	de- <u> S</u> Without n/% With n/%		Total n/%	
Deep oc-	Without II, 70	WICH II, 70		X ² 8464
clusion				P<0.0001
Present	693 21.06%	101 15,98%	794 20,24%	
Absent	2598 78,94%	531 84,02%	3129 79,76%	
Total	3291 83,89%	632 16,11%	3923 100	

Table 6

Cranial de- formities	Without n/%	With n/%	Total n/%	X ² 32297
Open occlu-				P<0001
sion				
Absent	3107 94,41%	558 88,29%	3665 93,42%	
Present	184 5,59%	74 11,71%	258 6,58%	
Total	3291 83,89%	632 16,11%	3923 100	

Vertical occlusion disorders

Discussion

Studies with various aspects of cranial deformities are common worldwide. A multilateral analysis of this problem began in Moldova in 2004 with the establishment of a collaborative partnership and scientific cooperation between Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova, and Wake Forest University, North Carolina, Weanstom-Salem, between the departments of Head and neck surgery in children, neurosurgery, neurology and plastic surgery. During this period we have established the basis for plastic surgery in young children, as well as orthopedic remodeling of cranial relief with the help of wig caps donated by the team of plastic surgeons from the USA. This study was done on a group of 3293 children of school age who have not received treatment for orthopedic or surgical remodeling of the skull during early child development. As a result of statistical analysis we found that the frequency of cranial deformities constituted 16% of the examined children. Analysis of results showed high incidence of cranial deformities present among children with neurological disorders (48.18%). Almost a half of the examined children were found with cranial deformities. Their frequency was two times higher than in children from auxiliary schools for children with special educational needs (15.30%) and ten times higher compared to children from pre-university schools (1.16%). Deformities of craniostenosis type did not vary significantly in all groups of examined children and were much fewer compared to deformities of plagiocephaly type. Thus, in schools for children with neurological disabilities 23.52% of children had deformities of plagiocephaly type and 1.90% of children had deformities of craniostenosis type. Children from auxilliary schools with special needs had cranial deformities of plagiocephaly type 15 times more often compared with cranial deformities of craniostenosis type (15.30% versus 1.16%). The smallest gap was found in pre-university schools, where the prevalence of plagiocephaly deformities was only 4 times higher compared to craniostenoses (4.16% versus 0.52%) (P<0.001).

In the context that many authors establish a correlation between cranial deformities and high risk of development of neurological problems in these children [24,21,25] in this study we found that cranial deformities among handicapped children and those with special educational needs prevail compared to children from pre-university schools.

Some researchers in their study have demonstrated anthropometrical changes at the cranial base in children with cranial deformities [19,26]. Others have shown the changes in brain morphometry in magnetic resonance images [27]. In this study we found that along with changes in the cranial skeleton, neurological differences also persist at maxillo-dental level. Thus, the frequency of malocclusions in the three planes (sagittal, horizontal and vertical) is two times higher in children with cranial deformities compared to those without deformities, regardless the category of examined school.

Onyeaso C.O. determined that malocclusions among children from special schools are more common compared with healthy children [29]. Ana Cristina et al. tried to choose in their research the determinant factors of malocclusion in children with special needs [28]. At the same time, Bright Thilander et al. in their research have found a frequency of 88.1% of dentoalveolar abnormalities among healthy shool children [30]. Valentina Trifan notes an increased incidence of maxillofacial anomalies in the Republic of Moldova among healthy children [32]. In present study we found that the rate of malocclusions is two times higher in children with cranial deformities, than in those without cranial deformities.

Performing a literature study, we found that views on the indication, management, and period of treatment are very controversial. Saeed et al. found that deformities of plagiocephaly type do not require treatment and the skull selfremodels with age [17]. Plastic surgeons plead for orthopedic treatment, in comparison with pediatric neurosurgeons [12]. Sybill Dee Stock Naidoo in the study shows that it is difficult to demonstrate the efficacy of orthopedic or surgery treatment, as there are only a few studies on the long-term treatment outcomes [8]. So, as to the time of indicating the treatment or the self-modeling, opinions differ [22,23,24]. Present study demonstrates the increased risk of diseases of the maxillo-dental system in children of school age with cranial deformities and the higher incidence of cranial deformities among school children with special needs and handicapped children which requires appropriate treatment in cranial remodeling as early as possible.

Conclusions

Cranial deformities persist during school period of child's development. High incidence of cranial deformities was found in school children with neurological disabilities (48.18%), 2.5 times higher than in children from auxiliary schools with special educational needs (15.30%) and ten times higher compared with children from pre-university schools (1.16%). Cranial deformities carry an increased risk for dentomaxilar deformities to develop dentomaxilla anomalies, suggests the idea of orthopedic or surgical treatment of skull remodeling during early child period.

References

- 1. Louis Agenda, MD. Clinical classification of positional Plagiocephaly. J.Craniofacial Surg. V.15, nr. 3, May 2004, 368-372.
- Kolar JC, Salter EM: Craniofacial Anthropometry: Practical Measurement of the Head and Face for Clinical, Surgical, and Research Use. Springfield, IL, Charles C. Thomas, 1997.
- Dimopoulos VG, Kapsalakiz IZ, Fountas KN. Skul morphology and its neurosurgical implications in the Hippocratic era. Neurosurg focus 2007;23(1):E10.
- Tsermoulas G, Aidonis A, Flint G. The skull of Chios: trepanation in Hippocratic medicine. J.Neurosurg.2014Aug;121(2):328-32. Doi:10.3171/2014.4.JNS131886.Epub 2014 May 23.
- 5. Missios S. Hippocrates, Galen, and the uses of trepanation in the ancient classical world. Neurosurg. Focus 2007;23(1):E11.
- Clarren SK, Smight DW, Hanson JM. Helmet treatment for plagiocephalyand congenital torticollis. J pediatr 1979;94:43-46.
- 7. Bruneteau RJ, Mulliken JB. Frontal plagiocephaly: synostotic or deformation. Plast Reconstr Surg 1992;89.21-31.
- Sybill Dee Stock Naidoo. Long-term outcomes and parental decision making about treatment for deformational plagiocephaly. Kansas City, Missouri 2013 78 p.
- 9. Dunn P.M.Congenital sternomastoid torticollis. An intrauterine postural deformity. Arch.Dis.Child.1974;49:824-825.
- Argenda L.C., David L.R., WilsonJ.A., Bell E.O. An increase in infant cranial deformity with supine sleeping position. J.Craniofac. Surg. 1996;7:5-11.
- WojciechDec. MD, and Stephen M. Warren, MD Current Concepts in Deformational Plagiocephaly. The Journal of Craniofacial Surgery V 22 Nr 1, January 2011, 6-8.
- 12. Lee, R. P., Teichgraeber, J. F., Baumgartner, J. E., Waller, A. L., English, J. D., Lasky, R. E., Xia, J. J. (2008). Long-term treatment effectiveness of molding helmet therapy in the correction of posterior deformational plagiocephaly: A five-year follow-up. Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal, 45(3), 240-245. doi: 06-210 [pii] 10.1597/06-210.1.
- Marianne Meliepaard, Natalja Bannink, Hein Raat, IreneM.J. Mathijssen. Health-related problem and quality of life in patients with syndromic and complex craniosynostosis. Child Nerv Sist(2012)28:879-882.
- Timothy R. Littlefield, Jacque L Reiff, Harold L Rekate. Diagnosis and Managment of Deformational Plagiocephaly. BNIQuarterly Vol17 Nr 4, 2001, 1-9.
- Paul Tessier. Relationship of craniostenosis to craniofacial dysostoses, and to faciostenoses. Plastic Reconstructive suregery September 1971Vol.8,No.3 224-234.
- 16. Bruner, T. W., David, L. R., Gage, H. D., & Argenta, L. C. (2004). Objective outcome analysis of soft shell helmet therapy in the treatment of

17

deformational plagiocephaly. Journal of Craniofacial Surgery, 15(4), 643-650. doi: 00001665- 200407000-00022 [pii].

- Saeed, N. R., Wall, S. A., & Dhariwal, D. K. (2008). Management of positional plagiocephaly. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 93(1), 82-84. doi: 93/1/82 [pii] 10.1136/adc.2006.093740.
- Xia, J. J., Kennedy, K. A., Teichgraeber, J. F., Wu, K. Q., Baumgartner, J. B., & Gateno, J. (2008). Nonsurgical treatment of deformational plagiocephaly: A systematic review. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, 162(8), 719-727. doi: 162/8/719 [pii] 10.1001/ archpedi.162.8.719.
- Dane St. John, BSN, John B. Mulliken, MD, Leonard B. Kaban, DMD, MD, and Bonnie L. Padwa, DMD, MD. Anthropometric Analysis of Mandibular Asymmetry in Infants with Deformational Posterior Plagiocephaly J Oral MaxillofacSurg 60:873-877, 2002.
- 20. Joel S. Beckett, M.D., M.H.S., Eric D. Brooks, B.S., Cheryl Lacadie, B.S., Brent Vander Wyk, Ph.D.,4 Roger J. Jou, M.D., Ph.D.,4 Derek M. Steinbacher, D.M.D., M.D., R. Todd Constable, Ph.D., Kevin A. Pelph rey, Ph.D., and John A. Persing, M.D. Altered brain connectivity in sagittal craniosynostosis J Neurosurg Pediatrics 13:690–698, 2014
- Brent R. Collet, PhD, Kristen E. Gray, MS, Jacqueline R. Starr, PhD, Carrie L. Heike, MD, Michael L. Cunningham, MD, PhD, and Matthew L. Speltz, PhD. Development at Age 36 Month in Children With Deformational Plagiocephal. Pediatrics. 2013 Jan; 131(1): e109-e115.
- Carter, M. R. (2008). Head moulding for plagiocephaly. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 93(9), 809-810. doi: 93/9/809 [pii] 10.1136/ adc.2007.122309.
- 23. Gill, D., & Walsh, J. (2008). Plagiocephaly, brachycephaly and cranial orthotic devices: misshapen heads and helmets. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 93(9), 805-807. doi: 93/9/805-a [pii] 10.1136/ adc.2006.108746.
- 24. Matthew L. Speltz, PhD, Brent R. Collett, PhD, Marni Stott-Miller, MS, Jacqeline R. Starr, PhD, Carrie Heike, MD, MS, Antigone M Wolfram-Aduan, BS, Darcy King, ARNP, and Michael L. Cunningham, MD, PhD. Case-Control Study of Neurodevelopment in Deformational Plagiocephaly Pediatrics. Mar 2010; 125(3): e537-e542.
- 25. Marianne Maliepaard, Irene M.J. Mathijssen, Jaap Oosterlaan and Jolanda M.E. Okkerse. Intellectual, Behavioral, and Emotional functioning in children with craniosynostosis. Pediatrics 2014;133;e1608; originally published online May 26, 2014; DOI: 10.1542/peds.2013-3077.
- 26. Captier G., Leboucq M., Bigorre F., Canovas F., Bonnel A., Bonnafe P. Montoya Plagiocephaly: morphometry of skull base asymmetry Surg Radiol Anat (2003) 25: 226–233 DOI 10.1007/s00276-003-0118-x.
- 27. Brent R Collett, Elizabeth H. Aylward, Jessica Berg, Candice Davidoff, Justin Norden, Michael L. Cunningham, and Matthew L. Speltz. Brain volume and shape in infants with deformational plagiocephaly. Childs Nerv Syst. Joule 2012;29(7): 1083-1090.
- 28. Ana Cristina Olivera, Saul Martins Paiva, Milene Torres Martins, Cintia Silva Terres and Isabela Almeida Pordeus. Prevalence and determinant factors of malocclusion in children with special needs Eur J Orthod (2011) 33 (4): 413-418.
- Onyeaso C.O. Malocclusion pattern among handicapped children in Ibadan, Nigeria. Nigeria J.of Clincal practice, June 2002, V. 5(1):57-60.
- 30. Bright Thilander, Lucia Pena, Clementina InfanteSara Stella Parada and Clara de Mayorga. Prevalence of malocclusion and orthodontic treatment need in children and adolescents in Bogota, Colombia. An /154-167
- Spinei L.. Medicine based on arguments –a transformation of approach of activity in practical medicine. Curierul Medical, Chisinau, 2012 p. 329-331.
- 32. Valentina Trifan, Ion Lupan, Daniela Trifan, Sabina Calfa. Morbidity by dental-maxillary anomalies in the Republic of Moldova. Medicina Stomatologică 1(34)/2015.

DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.1051109 UDC: 615.8:616.9-022.369:616.831-005



Acupuncture, Moxibustion and Chinese herbs in prevention of nosocomial infection in patients with acute cerebrovascular accident

Fiser Lucia

University Clinic of Primary Health Care, Center of Traditional Chinese Medicine Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova Corresponding author: drluciaf@yahoo.com. Received March 09, 2017; accepted April 14, 2017

Abstract

Background: Nosocomial infection is a current medical issue, particularly in patients with acute cerebrovascular accident. The present study purpose is to evaluate the effectiveness of acupuncture, Chinese herbs and moxibustion in prophylaxis of nosocomial infections in patients with acute cerebrovascular disease.

Material and methods: The study was carried out on a group of 100 patients. Valuing the efficiency of acupuncture, moxibustion and Chinese herbs in the prevention of nosocomial infections in patients with acute cerebrovascular accident, 50 patients (treatment group) with acute cerebrovascular accident received acupuncture and moxibustion treatment on points Zusanli (ST36) and Guanyuan (CV4) and per os – decoction Banqingheji. The control group (50 patients) did not receive any prophylactic treatment of nosocomial infection.

Results: In Acupuncture-moxibustion group infection rate was 2% (50/1) and 18% in the control group (50/9). In the control group were recorded 9 cases of infection, 7 cases (14%) constituted respiratory tract infections and 2 (4%) urinary tract infections. Acupuncture-moxibustion group revealed 1 case of respiratory tract infection.

Conclusions: Acupuncture, moxibustion on Zusanli (ST36), Guanyuan (CV4) points and decoction Banqingheji are efficient in the prevention of nosocomial infections in patients with acute cerebrovascular accident. The study demonstrates that in case of nosocomial infection of patients with acute cerebrovascular accident prevalent is nosocomial infection of the respiratory tract.

Key words: prevention of nosocomial infections, immunity, Zusanli, Guanyuan.

Introduction

Nosocomial infections have a long history and are associated with the occurrence of the first hospitals; they threaten not only the health and lives of patients but also cause huge economic loss for patients and society. The rate of nosocomial infections in different countries is 3%-17% [1]. The rate of nosocomial infections in the United States is approximately 5% [1], in UK is about 10% [2]. Nosocomial infections rate in China varies between 9.72–13.69% [2]. In Moldova, according to official data morbidity and lethality by nosocomial infections constitute respectively 6.5 and 2.0 per 1,000 people hospitalized [3].

The etymology of the word "nosocomial" (hospital) comes from the Greek word nosokomeion, nosos = disease and komeo = caring. At the beginning of the 19th century, it emerged the concept of transmitting infection from patient to patient and therefore in England appears first insulated four infected patients.

In the mid-19th century, Florence Nightingale in a study on military mortality remarked that: "The number of soldiers who died because of nosocomial infections is much higher than that of those who died in the war itself". Around the same time, Ignaz Semmelwei, Hungarian obstetrician, treating patients with puerperal fever noted that infection can be spread by medical staff in contact with the patient. And washing hands before and after consultation can prevent the spread of infection [4].

Nosocomial infection in the United States has brought increasing hospital expenses connected with 40 billion dollars per year [1]. In P. R. of China due to nosocomial infection hospital costs are increased by 10 billion yuan per year [5]. Field studies show that patients with nosocomial diseases pay for treatment 2489.89 yuan more than the patients who did not undergo a nosocomial infection and it increases hospital stay by an average of 15.68 days [6]. Currently in P.R. of China rate of nosocomial infections at patients with stroke constitutes 18.03%, at patients with hemorrhagic stroke - 29.30%, and at patients with ischemic stroke - 12.66% [7]. Clinical studies have shown that in patients with acute cerebrovascular accident prevailed nosocomial infections in the respiratory tract, so Wang Yan and Tan Jun [8] reported that the rate of respiratory infections was 6.96% (88/1265), the rate of urinary tract infections was 4.35% (55/1265), with other localization rate of infection was 1.11% (14/1265), the rate of infection with two or more locations amounted to 1.42% (18/1265). Pan Miao [9] reported that in patients with acute cerebrovascular accident, lower respiratory tract infection rate is 53.70%, 16.67% upper respiratory tract and urinary tract - 11.11%. Wang Fang and Yu Changqing [10] reported 73 cases of urinary tract infection, which is 67 cases (30,41%) of upper respiratory tract infections (27.92%), 59 cases of lower respiratory tract infections (24.58 %), 15 cases of infections of the gastro-intestinal (6.25%), 10 cases of biliary tract infection (4.17%), infections of skin and soft tissue infections - 9 cases (3.75%). The etiology of bacterial nosocomial infections in patients with acute cerebrovascular accident is so diverse, that Wang Yan, Tan Jun relate to them [8] 86 cases, including Pseudomonas aeruginosa – 25, 21 Escherichia coli, fungi – 13, 9 Klebsiella pneumoniae, Staphylococcus aureus - 8, Staphylococcus epidermidis - 6, Enterococcus - 4. Wang Fang,Yu Changqing [10] reported 155 cases of bacterial infection, in 35 cases was used the microbiological examination, as a result in 24 cultures were discovered gram negative bacteria which constitutes 62.50%, Escherichia coli 3, Klebsiella pneumoniae

2, Staphylococcus aureus 3, Staphylococcus epidermidis 3, Pseudomonas aeruginosa 3, Proteus mirabilis 2, Candida albicans 2, Citobacter 2, Enterobacter cloacae 2, Acinetobacter 1.

Zheng Xiaolan and coauthor [11] during eight years of clinical studies found that the percentage of G-infections decreased from 72.73% in 1997 to 52.54% in 2004 ($\chi 2 = 87.720$, <0.01). Rate of infections caused by Staphylococcus aureus is down from 15.31% in 1997 to 7.51% in 2004.

The main methods of nosocomial disease prevention are: disinfection, isolation and preventive use of antibiotics. But, in the case of prophylactic use of antibiotics, only 36% of patients showed clinical signs of infection, the prophylactic use of antibiotics in 24-57% was found to be unnecessary. Misuse of antibiotics has caused not only serious economic loss, but the occurrence of adverse events, the occurrence of antibiotic resistant strains as well as disturbance of the immune system of patients. Lederberg said: "People, to keep as a species, battle with the spread of nosocomial infections, causing the appearance of a large number of immunodeficient patients" [1].

According to relevant statistics, the rate of nosocomial infections in patients with a stroke is much higher than the average rate of hospital nosocomial infection [8-11]. Most patients with stroke are the people of the third age, with the decline of immune function; and the critical central nervous system damage, produces neuro-endocrine complications, worsening even more pronounced immune dysfunction. The need for a more invasive treatment increases the risk of infection. Thus, patients with cerebrovascular diseases have become patients at high risk of nosocomial infections, and prevention of nosocomial infections at patients with strokes became imperative.

Numerous studies have demonstrated the benefits of Traditional Chinese Medicine in prophylaxis of diseases. In the famous ancient medical work "Yellow Emperor" it is said: "If Qi Vital is rigorous, pathological factor can not act", also is mentioned the effect of acupuncture in strengthening Vital Qi, removing pathogenic heat and detoxification, and thereby obtain an immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory effect.

Material and methods

The study was conducted in №1 University Clinic of the University of Traditional Chinese Medicine in Tianjin City, P. R. of China.

100 patients were randomly divided into two groups of 50 patients each. Both groups followed the conventional treatment of acute cerebrovascular accident. The research group in order to prevent nosocomial infection received Banqingtangji decoction 150 ml once a day for 6 days, followed by the treatment with acupuncture on Zusanli point (ST36), and a bilateral Guanyuan point (CV4) plus Moxibustion on Zusanli points (ST36) during 15 minutes per day, for 6 days. The control group did not follow any prophylactic treatment of nosocomial infection. The observation period – three weeks.

Results and discussion

Following the prophylactic treatment of nosocomial infection applied in Acupuncture-moxibustion group infection rate was 2% (50/1) and 18% in the control group (50/9). In the control group were recorded 9 cases of infection, 7 cases (14%) constitute respiratory tract infections and 2 (4%) urinary tract infections. Acupuncture-moxibustion group had 1 case of respiratory tract infection.

Table 1

Comparison between 2 groups by age

Groups	40-50	50-55	56-60	61-65	66-70	71-75	Over 76
Acupuncture moxibustion group	2	9	6	6	9	8	10
The control group	3	2	4	9	9	5	16

(P>0.05)

Table 2

Comparison between 2 groups according to sex

Groups	Acupuncture-moxibustion group	The control group
Male	30	30
Female	20	20

(P>0.05)

Table 3

Ranking systems of nosocomial infection in the Acupuncture-moxibustion group

Localization	The number of cases	(%)	
Respiratory system	1	2	
The urinary system	0	0	
Digestive system	0	0	
Other locations	0	0	

Table 4

Ranking systems of nosocomial infection in the control group

Localization	The number of cases	(%)
Respiratory system	7	14
The urinary system	2	4
Digestive system	0	0
Other locations	0	0

Most patients with acute cerebrovascular disease are elderly, because of illness and old age, the body's resistance is low, and the likelihood of infection increases significantly. Traditional Chinese medicine treatise lacks direct entries on the prevention of nosocomial infections, but two thousand years ago there was already the concept of disease prevention and "prevention and disease exacerbation". The treatise "Yellow Emperor" stated "if Qi Vital is vigorous, pathogenic factor can not act", so the state of Vital Qi is a decisive factor in the emergence of disease. Chinese medicine offers methods to strengthen Vital Qi respectively, regulating the immune response, effectively protected from infection, including the nosocomial ones. The basic components of Banqingtangji decoction are the following plants: Folium Isatidis and Radix Isadidis.

Comparison of 2 nosocomial infection prevention groups

Table 5

Groups	Ineffective	Total patiens(n)	Infection rate (%)
Acupuncture mo- xibustion group	1	50	2
The control group	9	50	18

Note: n-number of patients, (P<0.01).

Folium Isatidis plant has a cold nature, bitter taste, is distributed on the meridians of heart and lungs, removes heat and toxins, cools the blood and removes macules. In "Chinese Materia Medica" [12] it is mentioned that, Folium Isatidis plant: "Treats toxic fire and macules caused by pestilence, treats macules and papules caused by wind and heat treating intestinal ulcers and lung pain, stops hemoptysis and epistaxis. For patients with toxic heat is indicated using the juice of the leaves". Radix Isadidis has a cold nature, bitter taste, is distributed on the meridians of heart and stomach. It possesses detoxification effect, removes the heat, favors throat and cools the blood. Mostly indicated in febrile diseases, headache, rash, toxic heat retention. Folium Isatidis plant and Radix Isadidis both have cold nature, bitter taste, are distributed on the meridians of the heart, lungs, stomach, have detoxification effect, cool the blood, remove heat from the lungs, stomach and heart, so they are highly effective in infections.

Point name Guanyuan(,CV4) means: Guan - close, lock, store, and Yuan concerns Yin and Yang energies. This point is at the uterus level which is "Essence home". In the famous ancient work "Su Wen-Qi xue lun", it is mentioned that this point belongs to Ren meridian, above is the - Mu point of Small Intestine Meridian of hand Taiyang, also is the confluent of the Three Yin Meridians: Liver, Spleen and Kidney, is located on the midline, three cun below the navel. Nearby are abdominal veins and arteries, nerves ramifications, this area is called Dantian. Guanyuan point stores Premordial Essence and Qi (Yuan Qi). The area between the lower and kidney umbilical region is considered the home of the 12 meridians and life. The ancient works and contemporary studies point out the efficiency in the treatment of diseases of the urinary system, genicologic, reproductive disturbances, due to its function of regulating Qi and blood.

Ancient doctors appreciated very much curative action and health maintenance effect of the point Zusanli (ST36). This is the point – He of the Stomach meridian. In the ancient books it is said: "The stomach is the sea of five organs Zhang and the six organs Fu". "The stomach is the sea of water and cereals". Stomach interacts with spleen through the connection type interior - exterior. According to Chinese medicine theory bases, spleen is the postnatal source of life, the source of Qi and blood, vital based activities. In the ancient medical work it is said that, point Zusanli (ST36): "Controls stomach, controls distension and fullness of sensations in the abdomen and chest, controls decline of visceral Qi, constipation, abdominal pain, cardiac pain". Doctors in later generations summarized: point Zusanli (ST36) has beneficial effect on postnatal energy maintain pre-natal energy, regulates the function of the stomach and spleen, strengthens the body and prolongs life, is indicated for patients with chronic diseases including those with the immune system diseases. Clinical studies have demonstrated that moxibustion applied on Shenque point (CV8) has immunomodulatory effect by increasing values of IgA, IgM, IgG [13]. And moxibustion applied to Zusanli point (ST36) to patients with leukopenia resulted in increased values of IgA, IgM, IgG [14].

WanWenli [15] reported that moxibustion applied to Zusanli point (ST36) increases activity of RBC-C3bRR (red blood cell C3b roeetor rosette), increases CD4 values and decreases CD8 values. Immunomodulating action of points Zusanli (ST36) and Guanyuan (CV4) was investigated by Tang Shi [16] who reported that the application of moxibustion on points Zusanli (ST36) and Guanyuan (CV4) has an antiinflammatory and immunomodulatory effect by suppressing cytokine release, strengthening the thymus, spleen, and by adjusting the imbalance of neurotransmitters - norepinephrine (NE) and serotonin (5-HT). Moxibustion action on T lymphocytes was investigated by HanCui [17], he observed antitumor effect of the method of moxotherapy "tianjiu" in mice with transplanted tumor. The study showed that the method of Moxibustion "tianjiu" inhibits the growth of solid tumors S180, inhibits weight gain of the spleen and decreases thymus weight. Moxibustion method "tianjiu" significantly increases the activity of T lymphocytes T and NK cells (Natural killer cells).

Zhao Jianguo [18] studied the effect of decoction Banqingheji in the prevention of nosocomial infections in patients with acute cerebrovascular accident. The study demonstrated that in the group that used the decoction Banqingheji efficiency ratio was 91.00% and in the group that used allopathic medicine efficiency ratio was 64.50%. Therefore, decoction Banqingheji by the effect of adjusting the immune function can be used in the prophylaxis of nosocomial infections.

Immunomodulating effect of acupuncture is holistic; this is one of the basic concepts of Chinese medicine. Acupuncture can operate simultaneously at different levels of several organs and organ systems. This action is realized by the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal and nervous system. Due to the holistic effect of acupuncture, it can act in two ways as a regulator; it may improve immune function and inhibit the hyperactivity to decrease immune system function. This adjustment in either direction is possible due to the close link between nervous, endocrine and immune systems [19].

Song Chunfeng [20] has found that Chinese herbs also

have a holistic effect, regulating the hypothalamic – pituitary – adrenocortical sistem, especially in cases of kidney deficiency, aging, stress, climacteric changes.

Most scientists believe that 33% of cases of nosocomial infection could be prevented [21].

Conclusions

1. Acupuncture and moxibustion applied on Zusanli (ST36) and Guanyuan (CV4) points in combination with BanQingheji decoction are effective in the prevention of nosocomial infections in patients with acute cerebrovascular accident.

2. In patiens with acute cerebrovascular accident prevails nosocomial infection of the respiratory tract.

References

- Yú Zōng hé. Línchuáng yīyuàn gănrăn xué. Dì l băn. Húnán kēxué jìshù chūbăn shè [Clinical Hospital Infection. 1st edition. Hunan Science and Technology Press], 1998,4-5.
- Wu Chuánrén. Yīyuàn gănrăn kòngzhì de fă zhăn. Zhōngyī yīxué wénxiàn [Development of hospital infection control. Chinese medicine literature], 2006,27 (6):561.
- Prisacari V, Roic E. Particicularitați Epidemiologice în Infecțiile Neurochirurgicale. Buletinul Academiei de Științe a Moldovei, Științe Medicale, 2(16), 2008:13. [Epidemiological features in neurosurgical infections. Bulletin of the Academy of Sciences of Moldova. Medical Sciences], 2008, 2(16):13.
- Robert A Weinstein. Nosocomial Infection. Emerging infectious diseases.1998,14(3):230.
- Zhāng Zhōng. Nián zhōngyīyuàn kàng gănrăn yàowù shǐyòng qíngkuàng fēnxī. Zhōnghuá yīyuàn gănrăn zázhì, [Chinese medicine hospital anti-infection drug use analysis. Chinese Journal of Hospital Infection], 1996,6 (4):248.
- Xiū Yīng. Yīyuàn gănrăn jīngjì sǔnshī de diàochá fēnxī. Zhōnghuá yīyuàn gănrăn xué zázhì [Investigation and analysis of economic loss of hospital infection. Chinese Journal of Hospital Infection], 1996, (1): 26.
- 7. Wáng Yàn, Tán Jūn. Năo cù zhông huànzhě yīyuàn gănrăn yánjiū fenxī. Zhôngguó gănrăn kòngzhì zázhì 2004 nián 4 yuè dì 3 juăn dì 2 qī:136. [Analysis of Hospital Infection in Stroke Patients. Chinese Journal of Infection Control], April 2004, Vol. 3, No. 2,:136.
- 8. Pān Miǎo, Rǎn Píng. Nǎo xiěguǎn jíbìng huànzhě yīyuàn gǎnrǎn diàochá fēnxī. Zhōngguó gǎnrǎn kòngzhì zázhì 2003 nián 10 yuè dì 2 juǎn dì 4 qī:265. [Investigation and Analysis of Nosocomial Infection in Patients with Cerebrovascular Diseases. Chinese Journal of Infection Control], Vol. 2, No. 4, October 2003:265.
- 9. Wáng făng, Yú chuánqìng. Năo xiĕguăn bìng hébìng gănrăn línchuáng fēnxī. Zhōngguó jīcéng yīyào 2004 nián 11 yuè dì 11 juăn dì 11 qī.:1339. [[Clinical analysis of cerebrovascular disease complicated with infection, China's primary medicine], November 2004 11, No. 11 :1339.

- Zhèng Xiǎolán, Wàn Qióng, Xiè Yìhóng, Wàn Xiǎo, Liúchūnhuá. Línchuáng fēnlí bìngyuánjùn jí nài yào pǔ biànqiān fēnxī. Zhōnghuá yīyuàn gǎnrǎn xué zázhì,2007,17(1):225-226 [Analysis of hospital pathogens and drug resistance spectrum. Chinese Journal of Nosocomiology], 2007,17 (1): 225-226.
- 11. Liào Yīngjūn. Nǎo cù zhōng bìng fǎ yuànnèi gǎnrǎn de línchuáng fēnxī. Jìshēng chóng bìngyǔgǎnrǎnxìngjíbìng,2004,3(2):17-18 [Clinical analysis of nosocomial infection in stroke patients], 2004,3 (2):17-18.
- Lěi Zàiquán, Chén Söngyù. Zhông yàoxué. Shànghǎi kēxué jìshù chūbǎn shè. 1995:71-72 [Chinese Materia Mediaca. Shanghai Science and Technology Press], 1995:71-72.
- 13. Wáng Fènglíng, Li Huì, Wèi zhèngqū, děng. Jiǔ shén quē xué duì lǎonián rén miǎnyì gōngnéng jí qí quánshēn zhuàngtài de yǐngxiǎng [J]. Zhōngguó zhēnjiǔ,1996,(7):3 91 [Effects of moxibustion at Shenque on elderly immune function and the whole body status [J]. Chinese Journal of Acupuncture and Moxibustion], 1996, (7):391.
- 14. Wèi Zànměi, Zhuāng Qǐlán. Zhēn cì zú sānlǐ zhìliáo báixibāo jiǎnshǎo zhèng jí duì miǎnyì gōngnéng de guānchá J. Shànghǎi zhēnjiǔ zázhì,1996,15(6):12. [Treatment of Leukopenia with Acupuncture at Zusanli point and observation of immune function [J]. Shanghai Journal of Acupuncture and Moxibustion], 1996,15 (6):12.
- 15. Wáng Wénlì, Huáng Díjūn, Wáng Zàimó děng. Mài lì jiǔ wéi zhǔ duì píxū xiè xiè huànzhě miǎnyì gōngnéng de yǐngxiǎng. Shànghǎi zhēnjiǔ zázhì,1998,17(3):20 [The effect of wheat moxibustion on immune function in patients with spleen deficiency diarrhea. Shanghai Journal of Acupuncture and Moxibustion], 1998,17 (3):20.
- Táng Shì, Zhào Liàng. Ài jiǔ zhìliáo lèi fēngshī xìng guānjié yán kàng yán miǎnyì zuòyòng jīlǐ yánjiū [J]. Zhēn cì yánjiū,2003,28(4):292. [Study on Anti-inflammatory and Immune Mechanism of Moxibustion in treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis [J]. Acupuncture research], 2003,28 (4):292.
- 17. Hán Cuì, Li Xuéwň, Liú Zhèn. Tiān jiǔ kàng xiǎo shǔ yízhí xìng zhǒngliú zuòyòng jí duì miǎnyì gōngnéng de yǐngxiǎng. Tiānjīn zhōngyī,2001,18(5):30-31. [Effect on immune function of Tian jiu moxibustion on mice with transplanted tumor. Tianjin Traditional Chinese Medicine], 2001,18 (5):30-3.]
- Zhào Jiànguó, Chéng yũ, Hán lì. Băn qĩng héjì yùfáng yĩyuàn gănrăn de línchuáng yánjiū. Tiānjĩn zhōngyĩ,2002,19:16. [Banqing mixture to prevent hospital infection clinical research. Tianjin Chinese medicine], 2002,19:16.
- Chén Jiànshè, Chén Wénkǎi. Zhēnjiǔ tiáojié miǎnyì gōngnéng de jīlǐ. Liáoníng zhòng yī zázhì,2006,33(2):210 [Acupuncture mechanism of immune function regulation. Liaoning Journal of Traditional Chinese Medicine], 2006,33 (2):210.
- 20. Sòng Chūnfēng, Zhèng Shīlíng, Lǔ Pèiyuán. Bùshèn zhōngyào duì shèn yáng xū dà shǔ xià qiūnǎo-chuítǐ-shènshàngxiàn zhóu, xiě línbā xìbāo Ca2+hé xiěqīng gài de yǐngxiǎng "zhōngguó zhōng yī jīchǔ yī xué zázhì" 2002 nián dì 8 juǎn 05 qī :18 [The effect of Kidney-tonifying Chinese medicine on hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis, Ca2 + and serum calcium in kidney-yang deficiency rats. Journal of Basic Medicine of Traditional Chinese Medicine] 2002,08,05:18.
- Scheckler We, Brimhall D.Requierements for infrastructure and essential activities of infection control and epidemiology in hospitals. Infect Contorl Hosp Epidemiol, 1998,19:114-124.

DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.1051067 UDC: 616.711-006.04-001.5-089.819+615.84



Infrared thermographic evaluation of patients with metastatic vertebral fractures after combined minimal invasive surgical treatment

Olaru Andrei

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Corresponding author: spinalmetastases@mail.ru. Received February 20, 2017; accepted April 12, 2017

Abstract

Background: Vertebral cement augmentation and external beam radiotherapy have become increasingly used techniques for treatment of vertebral compression fractures due to spinal metastatic lesions in the Republic of Moldova. Surgically, the goal of vertebral cement augmentation is to improve the strength and stability of the injured vertebrae, as well as local tumor control. External beam radiotherapy for suppressing tumor or inducing pain relief are performed immediately after vertebral cement augmentation. Usually, local tumor control is occurred by CT or MRI studies. We have studied through the infrared thermography the dynamics of temperature gradient of tumoral foci skin projection.

Material and methods: The purpose of this study is to evaluate the local tumoral control, analyzing the infrared thermographic examinations in 33 patients with uncomplicated metastatic vertebral fractures, undergoing combined method of treatment (vertebral cement augmentation + external beam radiotherapy), before the treatment and at 12 months follow-up.

Results: We observed an indirect tumor "thermographic field" decrease registered by temperature gradient decrease from an average of 2.03±0.24°C in preoperatively to 1.28±0.33°C at 12 months postoperatively follow-up.

Conclusions: Combined method of stabilization (vertebral cement augmentation + external beam radiotherapy) in patients with uncomplicated metastatic vertebral fractures is effective in minimal invasive surgery and offering local tumor control.

Key words: spinal metastases, pathological fractures, vertebral cement augmentation, radiotherapy, infrared thermography.

Introduction

Historically, temperature has been proved to be a very good indicator of health [4, 5. 8]. Human, being a homeothermic mammal, is capable of regulating deep body temperature within a narrow range through a number of behavioral, metabolic and physiological processes. In this order, the entire homeothermic body can be divided into two parts: the inner core and the outer periphery. The human innercore normal temperature is preserved within a narrow limit (approximately 36.2–37.5°C), regulatory mechanism being essential for normal functioning of all biochemical ways. In this regard, any change of core and peripheral temperature, by a few degrees in the same conditions, is considered as a clear sign of probable illness [2, 3, 7].

The first report of cutaneous temperature changes is described by Hippocrates and later by ancient doctor Celsius (Celsian signs). In 17th century, physician George Martin first used the thermometers to measure diurnal changes of temperature in normal subjects. In 19th century, Carl Wunderlich published his report, where he described temperature as a scientific indicator of illness. In 1800 was discovered, by Sir William Herschel, infrared radiation followed by the recording of the first thermal image, which opened new dimensions in the field of temperature measurement. Hardy, in 1934, described the physiological role of infrared emission from human body and proposed that human skin can be considered as a thermal radiator and established the diagnostic importance of temperature measurement by infrared technique which paved the way for using infrared thermography in medical sciences. But, the first use was reported just in the 1960, because of non availability of special quality equipment [1, 6, 7].

Infrared thermography (IRT) is a non-contact, and therefore remote, method of measuring the surface temperature of objects. All objects with temperature above absolute zero emit electromagnetic radiation, which is known as infrared radiation or thermal radiation, within a range of 0.75–1000 μ m. The infrared emissions from human skin at 27°C lie within the wavelength range of 2–20 μ m. It peaks around 10 μ m. For medical applications, we use a very narrow wavelength band (8–12 μ m). As per usual, the first modern infrared detector was originally developed for military applications [5].

The IRT examination of irregular objects surface causes abnormal thermal patterns, which indicate the presence of those defects. Similarly in clinical practice, the illness causes abnormal thermal patterns on the skin surfaces. In 1963, Barnes demonstrated that thermograms can provide information of physical anomalies and thereby be useful for diagnosis of physical illness [3, 6, 8, 9].

Material and methods

We analyzed the IRT imaging, in a group of 33 patients with uncomplicated metastatic vertebral fractures, undergoing combined method of treatment (vertebral cement augmentation + external beam radiotherapy), before the treatment and at 12 months follow-up. For IRT imaging we used the portable hardware *WPTMC*-2000 ME⁻. This device has been specially designed for use in medical practice, with a spectral range between 3-5µm, and a thermal range from -10°C to 170°C, with sensitivity in the field of examination of 0.02°C and accuracy of $\pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C.

The distance and angle of the subject to the camera have profound effects on the accuracy and precision of temperature measurement by IRT. In our study the IRT examination



Fig. 1. Patient with breast carcinoma and L_{III} metastatic vertebral collapse with symptomatic radicular dysfunction.

was carried out in a room about 20m², with a temperature control about 20-24°C, convection and air leakage rate less than 0.4m/s and relative humidity 50-75%, in a comfortable position for the patient. For patients with severe static and dynamic disorders sitting in the chair or horizontally it was possible to record. The distance between the patient and analyzer was about 2-2,5m. The first record of IRT occurred after patient's adapting with room environment (average 10 minutes). It was registered thermal field over the tumoral locus in the spine, at the spinous line. If on the patient was observed any neurological disturbance, we registered thermal schedule over paravertebral lines and limbs. To appreciate the difference in temperature between the thermal projection of the vertebral tumoral locus and other anatomical regions of the examined patient was established standard thermal schedule or physiological status.

As a physiological status of the investigated patient served arithmetic average of IRT registered temperatures in eight different symmetrical anatomical regions of the body, in two points on the thorax and abdomen, respectively, and four points on the back. To determine the thermal activity (aggressiveness) of the metastatic locus in the vertebral segment, or severity of neurological deficits, we estimated stroke IRT. This is a functional pharmacological active test, registered after 30 minutes of sublingual administration of five pills of glucose with vitamin C. At the same time, we must keep in mind that, in the elderly it was impossible to rule out the influence of preexisting degenerative changes of the spine or peripheral vascular disorders on thermographic picture of the patient.

By these reasons, for the analysis and the correct description of the results obtained in the examination of the IRT, we used three basic principles:

- Thermo-morphological describing the anatomy of the hyperthermic locus: location, shape, surface, contour, uniformity;
- Thermo-functional represented by difference between background temperature and provoked tem-



Fig. 2. Patient with prostate adenocarcinoma T2N0M1 and Mt in LIII treated by external beam radiation therapy. Actinic dermatitis (at 1 month follow-up).

perature range of the tumoral locus, or body thermoasymmetry (with temperature gradients definition);

• Thermo-regulation – functional tests were used for assessing the dynamics of thermal changes in tumor foci.

After the IRT examination was calculated temperature gradient (TG) by using the accompanying software of *MPTMC-2000M*, which represents the difference between the maximum temperature (t°C) of the tumor field and standard thermal regime of the patient.

Results

Preoperative evaluation of patients in 100% cases revealed a typical thermal syndrome. It was represented by a clear hyperthermic area in tumoral field (over 1.5-2°C) with homogeneous irregular contour, sometimes asymmetrical, located in the projection of the vertebral tumor foci. In patients with symptomatic radicular syndromes, "root strips" were observed, represented by hypothermia zones on the affected limb as compared to the healthy limb (fig. 1).

After minimal invasive surgical treatment of collapsed vertebrae, we determined the thermo-functional characteristics of tumoral foci and limbs and we observed in follow-up the dynamics of TG after undergone therapy (fig. 2).

The efficacy of applied combined surgical treatment was tested in follow-up – before and after surgery at 1, 6 and 12 months. Were considered as positive results of the applied treatment the situations where the hyperthermic areas of tumor foci appear through a "model of extinction" in followup or hypothermic zones of limb occur through temperature normalization. In the absence of positive dynamics, we can consider tumor resistance or inefficiency of practiced method of treatment, which requires radical therapeutic model changes.

Thereby, after TG values registration, we obtained the values of temperature gradient in tumoral foci: before treatment – $2.03\pm0.24^{\circ}$ [1.6°; 2.5°]; at 1 month – $1.98\pm0.3^{\circ}$ [1.5°; 2.8°]; at 6 months – $1.55\pm0.28^{\circ}$ [1.1°; 2.3°]; at 12 months – $1.28\pm0.33^{\circ}$ [0.8°; 2.3°] (fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Temperature gradient evolution in follow-up period.

Analyzing the data presented in figure 3, we observe that after applied combined method of minimal invasive surgical treatment, there is a general improvement of temperature gradient in tumor foci with $-0.7\pm0.26^{\circ}$ at 12 months.

Discussion

The human body's temperature is maintained constantly by a sophisticated thermoregulatory center in the hypothalamus. Thermoregulation is impaired in sick patients. IRT indicates the temperature pattern to identify an abnormality. Hence, there is no radiation risk as it captures the infrared radiation from the skin and is totally painless. Based on this idea, thermography was developed and first used for the diagnosis of breast cancer.

Because of its accuracy, low risk, and noninvasive nature, IRT should be employed as a cost-effective initial screening procedure to distinguish between patients with substantive radicular disorders and those experiencing minor localized injury. IRT is a test advocated by some physicians and chiropractors for diagnosing disk abnormalities.

Usually analysis of the thermograms of patients showed regional hyperthermia in the spinal pathology field and hypothermia in affected lower limb. The combination of local (spinal) and distant (peripheric) thermoasymmetries, which are realized through reflex mechanisms of vegetovascular innervation, is a characteristic feature of the thermovision syndromes in IRT examinations in patients with spinal disorders. The mechanisms of the origin of thermoasymmetry are discussed. For example, malignant cancerous lesions (neoplasms) develop high metabolism and use more blood supply than normal tissue. A comparative estimation of different methods in the differential diagnosis indicated the advantages of IRT. Several studies have found good to excellent reproducibility for paraspinal thermal scanning using a variety of devices [12-14].

Infrared thermography has become a reliable clinical

technique used to measure body temperature and indicate noninvasively the presence of cancerous diseases. From these reasons, IRT can detect temperature changes during spinal diseases, also vertebral tumors.

This abnormality in temperature distribution might indicate the presence of an embedded tumor. Although, IRT currently is used to indicate the presence of an abnormality, there are no standard procedures to interpret these and determine the location of an embedded tumor [15-17].

Our research focused on the spinal tumoral field evolution before treatment and in follow-up. The temperature emitted from the skin visualized on the screen in the form of contoured color spectrum - blue, yellow, green and red depending on "thermal activity" of vertebral metastases. The regional thermal deficit of the affected lower limb did not follow the specific dermatome. A possible explanation of this clinical finding is that blood supply of the skin in the lower extremities is different to the neural sensitivity in the same areas.

Studies on the application of thermography in spinal metastases management are scarce, and there are no studies of thermal changes during vertebral metastases evolution after cement augmentation. This research is a first step towards IRT examination outcomes of patients with spinal metastases after minimal invasive surgical treatment.

The main limitation is the absence of a control group. In future research, we will consider this. We believe that it has not significantly affected our results, because we analyze the absolute value of the temperature, but not the temperature difference between the two sides of the lower extremities.

Conclusions

By detecting cutaneous temperature changes in the tumoral foci, fracture level and limb, infrared thermography offers another non-invasive, contrast-free option in functional assessment of treatment outcomes. Percutaneous vertebral cement augmentation is a minimally invasive procedure and, when combined with radiotherapy, is effective in providing a local tumoral control.

References

- Bagavathiappan S, Saravanan T, Philip J, Jayakumar T, Raj B, Karunanithi R, Panicker TM, Korath MP, Jagadeesan K. Infrared thermal imaging for detection of peripheral vascular disorders. J Med Phys. 2009 Jan;34(1):43-7. doi: 10.4103/0971-6203.48720.
- 2. Bouzida A., Bendada X.P. and Maldague L.J. Visualization of body thermoregulation by infrared imaging. Journal of Thermal Biology 2009; 34:120–126.
- Cheung BM, Chan LS, Lauder IJ, Kumana CR. Detection of body temperature with infrared thermography. Accuracy in detection of fever. Hong Kong Med J. 2012 Aug;18 Suppl 3:31-4.
- Fraerman AP, Kolesov SN, Likhterman LB. Diagnostic possibilities and prospects for the use of thermovision in neurosurgical clinical practice. Vopr Neirokhir, 1978(2): p. 27-35.
- Goldberg HI, Heinz ER, Taveras JM. Thermography in neurological patients. Preliminary experiences. Acta Radiol Diagn (Stockh), 1966.
 p. 786-95.

- 6. Jones BF, Plassmann P. Digital infrared thermal imaging of human skin. IEEE Eng Med Biol Mag. 2002 Nov-Dec;21(6):41-8.
- Lahiri BB, Bagavathiappan S, Jayakumar T, Philip J. Medical applications of infrared thermography: A review. Infrared Physics & Technology, 2012; 55:221–235.
- Melnikova VP, Nikiforov BM, Voronov VG. Thermography in the diagnosis of spinal cord tumors. Zh Nevropatol Psikhiatr im. S S Korsakova, 1979. 79(5): p. 555-9.
- Tan JH, Ng EYK., Acharya UR, Chee C. Infrared thermography on ocular surface temperature: a review. Infrared physics & technology 2009; 52(4): 97-108.
- 10. Ring EF. Quantitative thermal imaging. Clin Phys Physiol Meas 1990; 11:87-95
- 11. Kondrat'ev VB. Thermography in oncology. Vopr Onkol. 1972;18(3):101-11.
- 12. McCoy M, Campbell I, Stone P, Fedorchuk C, Wijayawardana S, Easley K. Intra-examiner and inter-examiner reproducibility of paraspinal ther-

mography. PLoS One. 2011 Feb 11;6(2): 135-8. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0016535.

- Owens EF Jr, Hart JF, Donofrio JJ, Haralambous J, Mierzejewski E. Paraspinal skin temperature patterns: an interexaminer and intraexaminer reliability study. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2004 Mar-Apr;27(3):155-9.
- 14. Hart J, Owens EF Jr. Stability of paraspinal thermal patterns during acclimation. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2004 Feb;27(2):109-17.
- Fraerman AP, Kolesov SN, Likhterman LB. Diagnostic possibilities and prospects for the use of thermovision in neurosurgical clinical practice. Vopr Neirokhir. 1978 Mar-Apr;(2):27-35.
- 16. Kolesov SN, Likhterman LB, Fraerman AP. Mechanisms of temperature asymmetries of the skin of the head in focal lesions of the brain. Zh Vopr Neirokhir Im N N Burdenko. 1985 Jan-Feb;(1):33-8.
- Teske HJ, Heissen E, Dumke K, Greb KH. Thermography as a method or tumor diagnosis. Fortschr Geb Rontgenstr Nuklearmed. 1972:Suppl:130-1.



DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.1051077 UDC: 618.33-073.43+612.647



Intrauterine growth restriction: contemporary issues in diagnosis and management

*Capros Hristiana, Scoricova Iana, Mihalcean Luminita

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

*Corresponding author: caproscristina@ yahoo.com. Received March 02, 2017, accepted April 10, 2017

Abstract

Background: Intrauterine growth restriction represents a fetal life treating condition in obstetrics. Diagnosis and appropriate management during pregnancy is essential because of the considerable morbidity and mortality to which restricted new-borns are exposed. Implementation of diagnostic criteria could potentially determine an optimized outcome in these patients.

Material and methods: The article reflects a study of 728 cases of patients delivered to the Obstetrical department of Municipal Hospital No1, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova during January-December 2016. A special protocol for clinical and paraclinical data collection was used. From these 728 cases, 50 histories of low birth weight fetuses (<2500g) were analysed in detail.

Results: The average weight of LBW fetuses was 2057 gr. 27 fetuses (54%) were diagnosed as intrauterine growth restricted fetuses. The average weight of fetuses with the diagnosis of IUGR was 1989 gr. 18.52% infants had a very low birth weight (1000-1499 g.), 84.48% infants had low birth weight (2500-1500 g). **Conclusions:** The prevalent criteria for diagnosis of intrauterine growth restriction in our study were foetal abdominal circumference below 10th percentile (52.3%). The ultrasound evaluation showed to have an average sensitivity in the predicting the foetal weight at birth (47.6%). In the majority of cases the delivery was done by cesarian section (62.9%), with the most frequent indication for foetal extraction – vascular redistribution and beginning of cerebral vasodilatation (37.5%).

Key words: intrauterine growth restriction, small for gestational age, foetal Doppler, foetal biometry.

Introduction

Intrauterine growth restriction is a major public health problem both in the industrialized and developing countries. For obstetricians – gynaecologist's foetal intrauterine growth restriction means important risk for iatrogenic prematurity, foetal distress, impaired neurodevelopment, cerebral palsy and perinatal death [1]. The prognosis in neonatal intrauterine growth restriction depends on the severity of the etiological factors, presence of foetal prematurity, foetal distress, cerebral anoxia, perinatal asphyxia and meconium aspiration syndrome [2]. Diagnosis and appropriate management during pregnancy is essential because of the considerable morbidity and mortality to which restricted new-borns are exposed. Not to diagnose an intrauterine affected foetus means to jeopardize its vital prognosis. On the other hand, to deliver the foetus before term is to induce the risc of prematurity. The clinician is always measuring risk of delivery in very early gestation with associated morbidity against the risk of fetal death if the fetus remains in utero [3]. Conversely, to label a normal foetus by mistake as being growth restricted means to expose him to unnecessary interventions.

Thus, antenatal detection of intrauterine growth restriction and correct clinical management can improve outcome for these neonates. Also, we have to mention that till now, no evidence-based management protocols are available [4].



Fig. 1. The incidence of small for gestational age in developed and developing countries.

The Lancet in 2008 reported the incidence of foetal growth restriction in developed countries is 3-7% of birth, while in developing countries is up to 24-40% of cases [5] (fig.1).

In the Republic of Moldova the reported incidence is $6.3 \pm 0.063\%$ [6]. Normal fetal growth is determined by a number of factors. These include genetic potential, nutritional status of the mother, placental function and transfer of nutrients, and intrauterine hormones and growth factors. Numerous risk factors for foetal growth restriction have been described and classified into maternal, foetal and placental factors [7] (fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Risk factors for fetal growth restriction.

Various maternal factors may lead to foetal growth restriction - under-nutrition hypertension, diabetes, anti-phospholipid syndrome, lupus erythematosus, hemoglobinopathies, maternal infections, chronic illness, drug abuse and drug exposure, smoking [8]. Foetal genetic syndromes and chromosomal disorders - trisomies 21, 13 and 18 and Turner's syndrome are associated with higher rates of growth restriction [9]. Placental and cord anomalies- membranous cord insertion, placenta praevia are associated with higher rates of foetal growth restriction. Among all causes, uteroplacental insufficiency is thought to be the major cause of intrauterine growth restriction [10]. The literature includes several confusing and controversial terms and definitions related to intrauterine growth restriction. There is no universally accepted definition of intrauterine growth restriction and most statistics include such terms as "small for gestational age", "low weight at birth", "very low weight at birth". These also include distinctions between 'references' used by the obstetricians, and those used by the paediatricians. In general, small for gestational age is defined as a birth weight below a certain limit compared with a population-based reference curve, while intrauterine growth restriction is defined as a failure to reach the genetic growth potential and always implies pathological growth [11]. For both "small for gestational age" and intrauterine growth restriction fundal height measurement is a screening method. This investigation has little ability to differentiate between normal but small fetus and the fetus at perinatal mortality and morbidity [12]. There are no universally accepted criteria for the diagnosis of abnormal foetal growth. Obstetrical literature as diagnostic criteria proposes: a) a fall in symphysisfundus curve; b) deviation in ultrasound fetometry; c) pathological Doppler examination of the umbilical artery in small for gestational age fetus; d) pathological amniotic fluid volume in small for gestational age fetus [13]. The current gold standard for the diagnosis of abnormal foetal growth remains biometry: the most used definitions are based on abdominal circumference or calculated foetal weight for a given period of gestation below the 10th percentile [14]. Till now, there is no consensus on whether the diagnosis of intrauterine growth restriction, should be based on estimated foetal weight, estimated abdominal circumference or both [14, 15, 16].

Material and methods

The article reflects a descriptive, non-experimental study with a general group of 728 patients hospitalized during 2016 in the Obstetrical department of Municipal Hospital No 1, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova. Methods of data collection in the study were based on extraction of medical documentation data from archive to complete the elaborated questionnaire for research. Statistical processing was performed using the program "Microsoft Office Excel 2010".

Results and discussion

From these 728 cases, 50 histories of low birth weight fetuses (<2500g) were analyzed in detail. The average weight of neonates was 2057 g. 27 fetuses (54%) were diagnosed as intrauterine growth restricted fetuses. RGOG Green-top guideline defines small-for-gestational age as an infant born with a birth weight less than the 10th centile. For these standards or personalized population centiles are used [17]. The smaller is the percentile weight of the fetus the higher is the probability to have a growth restriction. Untrauterine growth restriction is not synonymous with small for gestation. 50-70% of smallfor-gestational age fetuses are constitutionally small, others "pathologically small" or growth restricted. Such infants were shown to be at increased risk for neonatal death [18, 19]. For example, the neonatal mortality rate of small for gestational age infants born at 38 weeks was 1 percent compared with 0.2 percent in those with appropriate birthweights [20].

The average weight of fetuses with the diagnosis of intrauterine growth restriction was 1989 g. 18.52% of infants had a very low birth weight (1000-1499 g). 84.48% of infants had low birth weight (2500-1500 g). In our study we did not have infants with extremely low birth weight (500-999 g).

Correct establishment of gestational age and determination of maternal risk factors improve the identification of small for gestational age with possible adverse pregnancy outcomes such as stillbirth, neonatal death, or low Apgar score [21, 22].

Risk factors as: maternal age, parity, maternal body mass index, mass weight gain during pregnancy, practice of exercise, diet, drug abuse, smoking, pregnancy interval, previous still-birth and pregnancy hypertension, diabetes, renal disease, antiphospholipidic syndrome, sex of the fetus, and complications of present pregnancy were included in the study protocol [23, 24].

The average age of mothers of children with IUGR was 29.07 years, the age ranged from 21 to 38 years. They were divided into 4 age groups: 21-25 years, 26-30 years, 31-35 and > 36 years. The majority of mothers belonged to the age group of 26-30 years (37.04%), 21-25 years old was 25.93%, 31-35 -22.22% and> 36 years - 14.81%. It was found that the majority of mothers of children with IUGR were from the age group up to 30 years - 62.96%. Over 30 years were 37.04%. These mothers were also divided into 2 groups according to their social status: a housewife or a working woman. The group of housewives predominated: 56% versus 44% of employees. Parity of pregnancy of mothers ranged from 1 to 5. Mothers with the first pregnancy - 55.56%. The second pregnancy accounted for 29.63% of mothers, the third one - 7.41%, the fourth and fifth - 3.70%. By parity of birth, the mothers were divided into 3 groups: mothers with first birth made up the majority - 41.46%, second-birth - 29.27% and third birth were in 29.27%. Each of the examined risk factor has a likelihood ratio which can be used in calculation of general risk and particular antenatal management. This can include maternal serum markers in the first trimester of pregnancy, assessment of uterine Doppler, evaluation of the placenta morphology and serial ultrasound scans [25, 26].

Pregnancy-induced hypertension was diagnosed in 18.52%. Bad obstetric history was in 33.33% of pregnant women, 44.44% had scars on the uterus, 33.33% had miscarriage and 22.22% – infertility.

Gestational age was calculated using information from date of birth and estimated date of delivery determined in early pregnancy. The gestational age of children with IUGR was between 28 and 39 weeks. 28-32 weeks was 12.72%, 33-36 weeks – 43.80%, 37-39 weeks – 43.48%.

Normal fetal growth and development can be divided into three physiologic stages: cell replication and proliferation; cell migration and aggregation to form tissue and rudimentary organs; and increase in cell size and formation of functional organ structures. Thus in early pregnancy, very high mitotic activity is paired with very little change in mass, while in late pregnancy mitosis slows with a coincident rapid gain in weight [27]. As a result, genetic factors most influence fetal growth during the first half of pregnancy, and hormonal or environmental factors dominate later in pregnancy. Depending on this we can distinguish 2 different forms of intrauterine growth restriction: early and late [28]. These two forms are distinct by the cause, evolution, ultrasound parameters modifications, and postnatal outcome [29]. The diagnosis of intrauterine growth restriction in our study was mainly based on abdominal circumference value, with the prevalence of cases with 10th percentile abdominal circumference or linear growth chart. So the 10th percentile was used as a cut-off for hospitalization decision and fetal close monitoring [30].

The results of these ultrasound data (head circumference, abdominal circumference, femur length) were processed and compared to the percentile corridors: <3, 3-5, 5-10, >10. The difference between the estimated weight and the actual weight of the fetus was from 10 grams to 520 grams. The average dif-

ference was 255.71 grams. The difference <300 grams was 47.62%, > 300 grams was 52.38%.

The value of the head circumference of the fetuses in the majority was below the 10th percentile - 76.19%, head circumference >10 percentile - 23.81%, 5-10 percentiles - 9.52%, 3-5 percentiles - 33.33% and <3 percentiles were 33.33%. By the femur length most of the fetuses were found in the percentile > 10 (71.43%), 3-5 and 5-10 percentiles at 4.76% and in the percentile <3 were 19.05% of the fetuses. By the abdominal circumference most fetuses also belonged in corridor - the percentile 10 (52.38%), 3-5 and 5-10 percentiles at 4.76%, and <3 percentile - 38.10% (fig. 3). It was calculated for how many weeks the fetuses are lagging by the circumference of the abdomen from gestational age. Lagging by <2 weeks were 28.57%, for 2-4 weeks - 52.38%, for> 4 weeks - 19.05%. Fetal observation was based on fetal Doppler, amniotic fluid volume and cardiotocography [31, 32]. Of all the ultrasound results processed, 38.09% had pathological ombilical and middle cerebral artery Doppler (pulsativity index, resistance index and systolic/diastolic index). We used a Doppler follow-up program to distinguish various causes of small fetuses for gestational age. Small fetuses of small mothers and those small due to chromosomal aberration usually have normal Doppler tracings of umbilical and uterine arteries. The use of umbilical artery Doppler ultrasound has led to reductions in perinatal death related to complications of placental insufficiency and iatrogenic preterm delivery [33].



Fig. 3. Abdominal circumference of the fetuses (by percentile).

However, umbilical artery Doppler is not reliable for the identification of late-onset growth restriction and associated complications. Unfortunately, late-onset fetal growth restriction is more prevalent than growth restriction of early onset, and most adverse outcomes attributable to late-onset growth restriction occur in fetuses with normal umbilical artery Doppler waveforms [34].

Data of the circulation insufficiency, as data of blood circulation in the middle cerebral artery were in 38.09%. Of these, circulatory insufficiency was in 87.50% of cases. Most often there was a deficiency of I degree: 62.5% (IA-37.5%, IB – 25%). II degree of insufficiency – 12.5%, III degree – also 12.5%. Location of placenta was in 66.67% of cases anterior, 33.33% – posterior. According to the delivery, 62.96% had a cesarean section, 37.04% had vaginal birth (fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Delivery modality of the fetuses.

As reported by Perroten et al., and Yogev et al. at least one half of all infants born with intrauterine growth restricted will experience intrapartum asphysia at birth [35, 36]. Meconium aspiration and fetal hypoxia are also common [37]. Guidelines suggest that C-sections are more appropriate for infants with intrauterine growth restriction due to these risk factors and as mentioned earlier, due to their small size [14-16].

The female sex of newborns prevailed: 59.26%, male – 40.74%. We were also interested in Apgar score of the neonates, as in literature the antenatal detection and monitoring program for fetuses suspected with intrauterine growth restriction result in a better neonatal score, compared with cases of fetuses not identified antepartum [38].

The Apgar score at 1st minute for newborns with IUGR varied from 4 to 8. More children had score 7 (59.26%). Score 8 received 14.81% of infants, 4 – 3.70%, 5 and 6 points for 11.11% of newborns. The Apgar score at 5th minute – 7 points received 55.56% of children, 8 points – 33.33%, 5 points – 3.7%, 6 points – 7.41%.

Conclusions

The diagnosis and the management of intrauterine growth restriction still constitute a clinical dilemma. The prevalent criteria for diagnosis of intrauterine growth restriction in our study were foetal abdominal circumference below 10th percentile (52.3 %). The ultrasound evaluation showed to have an average sensitivity in the predicting the foetal weight at birth (47.6%). In the majority of cases the delivery was done by cesarian section (62.9 %), with the most frequent indication for foetal extraction – vascular redistribution and beginning of cerebral vasodilatation (37.5 %). Accurate diagnosis of intrauterine growth restriction can be achieved by improvement of methods for assessing the foetal biometry.

References

 Paladi Gh., Cerneţchi Olga, O., Iliadi-Tulbure Corina, Tabuica Uliana. Retardul de dezvoltare intrauterină a fătului: aspecte de diagnostic şi conduită. Chişinău: Tipografia Sirius, 2012. 160 p.

- 2. Paladi Gh., Iliadi-Tulbure C., Tabuica U. Zaderzhka vnutriutrobnogo razvitiya ploda: diagnostica i optimalnyy metod rodorazreshenia. Akusherstvo i ginekologia, Moskva, Rossia, 2011,5;34-37.
- Stratulat P., Fuior-Bulhac L., Cozma D. Valoarea ecografiei în prognozarea rezultatelor perinatale la fetușii diagnosticați cu retard de creştere intrauterină. În: Buletinul Academiei de Științe a Moldovei. Științe Medicale, 2012, vol. 4(36), 140-145.
- Anju S., Berghella V. Intrauterine Growth Restriction (IUGR): Etiology and Diagnosis. In: Curr Obstet Gynecol Rep, 2013, no. 2;102-111.
- Flenady V, Koopmans L, Middleton P. et al. Major risk factors for stillbirth in high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2011 Apr;377(9774):1331-1340.
- Gaţcan Ş., Fuior-Bulhac L., Rotaru N., Cerneţchi O. Insufucienţa circulatorie (IC) – particularităţi ecografice în retardul de creştere intrauterin (RCIU) al fătului. Revista medico-chirurgicală a societăţii de medici şi naturalişti din Iaşi, 2013, vol 117, Nr.3, Supl.1,118.
- 7. Cunningham F, Leveno KJ, Bloom SL, et al. Williams Obstetrics. Twenty-Fourth Edition. New York, NY: McGraw- Hill, 2013
- 8. Tsatsaris V. Le retard de croissance intra-utérin. Aspects cliniques et fondamentaux. Elsevier Masson, 2012.
- 9. Copel JA, Bahtiyar MO. A practical approach to fetal growth restriction. Obstet Gynecol 2014; 123: 1057-1069.
- 10. Salomon LJ, Malan V. Bilan étiologique du retard de croissance intrautérin (RCIU). J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod. 2013 Dec;42(8):929-40.
- Unterscheider J, Daly S, Geary MP, et al. Optimizing the definition of intrauterine growth restriction: the multicenter prospective PORTO Study. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2013; 208: 290.e1-6.
- Grangé.G. Modalités de dépistage et de diagnostic du fœtus petit pour l'âge gestationnel. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod. 2013 Dec; 42(8):921-928.
- 13. Gardosi J, Madurasinghe V, Williams M, Malik A, Francis A. Maternal and fetal risk factors for stillbirth: population based study. BMJ. 2013 Jan;346:f108.
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. ACOG Practice bulletin no. 134: fetal growth restriction. Obstet Gynecol 2013; 121: 1122-1133.
- CNGOF. Recommandations pour la pratique Clinique. Le retard de croissance intra-utérin. 2013. http://www.cngof. asso.fr/data/RCP/ CNGOF_2013_FINAL_RPC_rciu.pdf. Accessed on 11/02/2017.
- RCOG. Small-for-Gestational-Age Fetus, Investigation and Management (Green-top Guideline No 31) downloaded on 1/02/2017. At: https://www.rcog.org.uk/en/guidelines- research-services/guidelines/ gtg31/.
- 17. Deter RL, Lee W, Sangi-Haghpeykar H, et al. Personalized third-trimester fetal growth evaluation: comparisons of individualized growth assessment, percentile line and conditional probability methods. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2016; 29: 177-185.
- Gascoin G, Flamant C. Long-term outcome in context of intrauterine growth restriction and/or small for gestational age newborns // J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod (Paris). – 2013. – Vol. 42 – №8 – P. 911-20.
- Ego A. Définitions : Petit poids pour l'âge gestationnel et retard de croissance intra-utérin. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod. 2013 Dec; 42(8):872-894.
- Flamant C, Gascoin G. Devenir précoce et prise en charge néonatale du nouveau-né petit pour l'âge gestationnel. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod. 2013 Dec; 42(8):985-95.
- 21. Malin GL, Morris RK, Riley R, Teune MJ, Khan KS. When is birthweight at term abnormally low? A systematic review and meta-analysis of the association and predictive ability of current birthweight standards for neonatal outcomes. BJOG 2014; 121: 515-526.
- 22. Monier I, Blondel B, Ego A, Kaminiski M, Goffinet F, Zeitlin J. Poor effectiveness of antenatal detection of fetal growth restriction and consequences for obstetric management and neonatal outcomes: a French national study. BJOG: Int J Obstet Gy. 2015 Mars 1;122(4):518-27.1.
- 23. Akolekar R, Syngelaki A, Poon L, Wright D, Nicolaides KH. Competing risks model in early screening for pre-eclampsia by biophysical and biochemical markers. Fetal Diagn Ther 2013; 33: 8–15.

- 24. Poon LCY, Volpe N, Muto B, Syngelaki A, Nicolaides KH. Birthweight with gestation and maternal characteristics in live births and stillbirths. Fetal Diagn Ther 2012; 32: 156–165.
- 25. Karagiannis G, Akolekar R, Sarquis R, Wright D, Nicolaides KH. Prediction of small-for-gestation neonates from biophysical and biochemical markers at 11–13 weeks. Fetal Diagn Ther 2011; 29: 148–154.
- 26. Fadigas C, Saiid Y, Gonzalez R, Poon LC, Nicolaides KH. Prediction of small-for-gestational-age neonates: screening by fetal biometry at 35–37 weeks. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2015; 45: 559–565.
- Fuior L. ş.a. Particularitățile morfofuncționale ale complexului placentar al nou-născuților prematuri cu retard de dezvoltate intrauterină. În: Buletinul Academiei de Științe a Moldovei. Științe Medicale, 2014, vol. 1(42), p. 48-52.
- Parra-Saavedra M, Crovetto F, Triunfo S, et al. Association of Doppler parameters with placental signs of underperfusion in late-onset smallfor-gestational-age pregnancies. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2014; 44: 330-337
- 29. Figueras F, Gratacos E. Stage-based approach to the management of fetal growth restriction. Prenat Diagn 2014; 34: 655–659.
- 30. Fuior-Bulhac L. Aspectele diversilor parametri ecografici în aprecierea retardului de creştere intrauterină fetală. În: Buletinul Academiei de Științe a Moldovei. Științe Medicale, 2014, vol. 1(42),p. 73-81.
- 31. Di Lorenzo G, Monasta L, Ceccarello M, Cecotti V, D'Ottavio G. Thirdtrimester abdominal circumference, estimated fetal weight and uterine

artery doppler for the identification of newborns small and large for gestational age. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2013; 166: 133–138.

- 32. Serra V, Moulden M, Bellver J, Redman C. The value of the short-term fetal heart rate variation for timing the delivery of growth-retarded fetuses. BJOG. 2008 Aug;115(9):1101-7.
- 33. Akolekar R, Syngelaki A, Gallo DM, Poon LC, Nicolaides KH. Umbilical and fetal middle cerebral artery Doppler at 35-37 weeks' gestation in the prediction of adverse perinatal outcome. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2015; 46: 82-92
- Alfirevic Z, Stampalija T, Medley N. Fetal and umbilical Doppler ultrasound in normal pregnancy. Cochrane Data- base Syst Rev 2015; 4: CD001450.
- 35. Perrotin F, Simon EG, Potin J, Laffon M. Modalités de naissance du fœtus porteur d'un RCIU. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod. 2013 Dec.
- Yogev Y, Hiersch L, Yariv O, Peled Y, Wiznitzer A, Melamed N. Association and risk factors between induction of labor and cesarean section. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2013 Nov;26(17):1733-6. (8):975-984.
- Horowitz KM, Feldman D. Fetal growth restriction: risk factors for unplanned primary cesarean delivery. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2014 Nov 14:1-4.
- 38. Hediger M, Joseph KS. Fetal growth, measurement and evaluation. In Reproductive and perinatal epidemiology, Louis GB, Platt RW (eds). Oxford University Press: New York, NY, 2011; 168–185.



DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.1051083 UDC: 615.22.035:616-005-083.98



Usage of cardiotonic drugs at the intensive care units

Baltaga Ruslan, *Tibirnac Petru

Valeriu Ghereg Department of Anestesiology and Reanimatology Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova *Corresponding author: petru2020@gmail.com. Received March 16, 2017; accepted April 11, 2017

Abstract

Background: Circulation insufficiency is one of the most common dysfunctions in the patients admitted to the intensive care units (ICU) [1]. These patients need an intravenous (IV) vasoactive drug administration to optimize or support cardiovascular system (CVS). Emergency situations, hard work conditions, difficult devices' usage and a lot of other specific factors of complex environment of ICU create favorable conditions for the occurrence of medical errors (ME).

Material and methods: Within this prospective study were examined the methods of administration and the types of the errors that were found during the administration of the following drugs: epinephrine, noradrenaline, dopamine and dobuthamine. In the period of time May – September 2016, were examined 50 patients from ICUs from 4 different hospitals. The age limits were between 31-100 years old. The data collection was accomplished on the base of a questionnaire prepared beforehand.

Results: From all the number of examined patients, 33 (66%) were men and 17 (34%) – women. The body weight was indicated in the medical notes of 21 (42%) patients. To 15 (30%) of them was administrated the adrenaline, noradrenaline had the incidence in 15 patients (30%) and dopamine – 17 patients (34%).

Conclusions: Tracked dosage errors in 20% of cases, 4% of them were found at dilution administration of the drugs. The inscription of administered drug in medical notes was lacking in 2 uses.

Key words: cardiotonic medication, medication error, automatic syringe pump, dilution.

Introduction

Circulatory failure is one of the most common disorders in patients admitted to the intensive care units (ICU) [1]. These patients often need intravenous (IV) vasoactive drug administration to optimize or support the function of cardiovascular system (CVS).

Cardiac output together with the blood elements ensure the fundamental necessity of the tissues, that is adequate transport of oxygen to maintain their functionality. Sequelae or their functional decompensation may occur in vital organs with limited capacity to compensate the hypotensive flares (brain, heart, kidneys, etc.). Blood pressure (BP) management is one of the main tasks of intensivist physicians and a number of actions are used for this purpose. Removing of cause (eg. hemorrhage, combustion treatment etc.) is the first task which most often is done in teams with specialists in other fields. Another vital intervention is the fluid-responsiveness, which is performed with crystalloid solutions (sol. of NaCl 0.9%, Ringer's sol., etc.) or colloids (prepared from starch, gelatin, etc.). If the infusion therapy is inefficient and the cardiac output does not ensure the needs of tissues, cardiac drugs are chosen.

Cardioverter and vasoconstrictor preparations are frequently used in the ICU and resuscitation department in order to maintain a working blood pressure and satisfactory cardiac output in patients.

It is extremely important to dose those preparations with vigilance in critically ill patients, who typically have more concomitant diseases. Taking into account that the doses are expressed in mc/kg/min., they are extremely small, and serious or even lethal side effects may occur even in case of a minor dosage error. Emergency situations, the harsh working conditions, the use of sophisticated equipment and many

other factors specific to the complex environment of the ICU create a favorable ground for medication errors (ME).

Health care system is not infallible. Errors are common in most of the health care system and are reported as the seventh most common cause of death [2].

In the ICU, on average, 1.7 errors per day refer to a patient [3] and all have a life-threatening potential. Medication errors represent 78% of serious medical errors in the ICU [4]. The most common ME have been identified at the nurse level, which is 19% of all adverse events and representing more than 7,000 deaths annually in the USA [5].

Besides that the patient's safety is endangered. It should be noted that ME, which have not resulted in death, but caused damages, required additional drug administration. Respectively, it increases directly or indirectly the cost and length of hospitalization. Epiphenomenally, the risk of other ME occurrence increases. Although not all ME result in damage and often remain unnoticed.

Material and methods

The method of administration and the types of errors we encountered during the administration of the following preparations: epinephrine, noradrenaline (norepinephrine), dopamine and dobutamine were researched during this prospective study.

Epinephrine, delivery form: adrenaline hydrotartat, 0.18% solution for injection in 1 ml ampoules. Indications: cardiac arrest, status asmaticus, heart failure, shock. Dose: 2 mcg/min bronchodilator effect, 2-10 mcg/min inotropic effect, more than 10 mcg/min vasopressor effect. Side effects: hypertension, tachycardia, arrhythmias, skin necrosis in case of perivenous administration, vasoconstriction on splanchnic vessels. Noradrenalin is a 0.2% solution for injection in 1 ml

	Adrenaline	Noradrenaline	Dopamine	Dobutamine	Adrenaline +Dopamine	Noradrenaline + Dopamine
Sepsis (septic shock)	1	7	2	-	-	-
Massive surgeries	4	5	8	-	1	-
Massive injuries	7	1	4	-	-	1
Cardiogenic shock (heart failure)	1	2	3	-	-	1
Hemorrhages	2	-	-	-	-	-
Total	15	15	17	-	1	2

32

Indications according to the diagnosis

ampoules. By the chemical structure, it distinguishes from adrenaline by the lack of methyl group to the nitrogen atom of the amino group of the side chain. Indications: hypotensive states (sepsis, shock) mainly due to its predominant vasoconstrictor effect. Dose: 1-30 mcg/min produces vasoconstriction without significant change in cardiac output and heart rate. Side effects: bradycardia, arrhythmia, anxiety, headache, hypertension, necrosis in case of perivenous injection. Dopamine is a 4 mg solution for injection in 5 ml ampoules. Indications: heart failure, shock conditions (except hypovolemic shock). Dose: 2-10 mcg/kg/min inotropic action prevails, 10-20 mcg/kg/min vasopressor effect prevails. Side effects: hypertension, tachycardia, arrhythmias, skin necrosis in case of perivenous administration, vasoconstriction on splanchnic vessels. Dobutamine is a 0.5% solution for injections in 50 ml ampoules and 1.25% in 20 ml ampoules; freeze-dried powder for injection solutions in 0.25 and 0.53 g. By the chemical structure, it is a dopamine catecholamine and differs from dopamine by the fact that a hydrogen atom of the amino group is replaced by paraoxyphenylmethylpropyl radical. Indications: heart failure, inotropic effect, increasing the heart rate to a lesser extent than dopamine, decreases the ventricular filling pressure, it is preferred in the treatment of decompensated heart failure. The peripheral vascular resistance remains unchanged or falls slightly. Dose: 5-20 mcg/kg/min. Side effects: arrhythmias, hypertension, angina pectoris, phlebitis [6-7]. 50 patients were collected from the ICU, in the period May-September, 2016. The lower age limit was 31 years and the upper one - 100 years. Data collection from patients was based on a questionnaire drawn up in advance.

Results and discussion

From all the number of examined patients, 33 (66%) were men and 17 (34%) were women.

The body weight was indicated in the medical card of 21 (42%) patients. This fact indicates a potential medication error. This problem is caused by poor equipment in triage points, on the one hand, or by beds in specialized departments that are old and scales are not fitted in their construction.

Age limits were between 31-100 years.

According to the obtained results, we can see that the dose

in patients, whose body weight was not indicated, was calculated empirically by the doctor. But most often the dose was corrected depending on changes in BP.

Cardiotonic medication was indicated in the following diagnoses: sepsis (or septic shock), massive surgeries, cardiogenic shock (heart failure), massive injuries and hemorrhages (tab. 1).

Statistical analysis of data

From the total number of patients, the adrenaline was administrated in 15 (30%) of them. In 9 (18%) of cases was indicated the amount of solute in the medical cards and in 6 (12%) of the cases was noted the dose. The way of administration was represented by 9 (18%) of the cases of administration by dilution and 6 (12%) of the cases of administration by automatic syringe pump. The recording of medication in the medical card did not correspond to the way of administration. Dosage errors were detected in three cases, two of which were administered by automatic syringe pump.

The administration of noradrenaline had an incidence in 15 patients (30%). The dose administration was noted in the medical card in 14 patients (28%). Of these, only one case (2%) represented the way of administration by dilution. Dosage error was attested in two cases. The drug administration was not indicated in the medical card in one patient.

The subjects who received permanent medication of dopamine represented a group of 17 patients (34%) and in 5 patients (10%) of these was noted the substance quantity in the volume of injection and in 12 patients (24%) was noted the dose of administration. The way of administration was dominated by the automatic syringe pump – 13 cases (26%). Dosage error was proven in five cases.

3 patients (6%) received combined medication, of which 2 patients were administered noradrenaline associated with dopamine, and one patient was administered adrenaline associated with dopamine. The dose of administration was noted in the medical cards in patients who received the combined medication (6%) of cardiotonic (tab. 2).

Unfortunately, we have not encountered patients receiving dobutamine during the study.

Variations in blood pressure (BP) and heart rate (HR) were

Table 2

	Adrenaline	Noradrenaline	Dopamine	Dobutamine	Adrenaline +Dopamine	Noradrenaline + Dopamine
Substance quantity	9	1	5	-	-	-
Dose (mcg/kg/min.)	6	14	12	-	1	2
Administration by dilution	9	1	4	-	-	-
Administration automatic syringe pump	6	14	13	-	1	2
Dose error	3	2	5	-	-	-

Recording of drug in the medical card and administration type

indicated in the medical card at a rate of 100%. This shows that these two values serve as landmarks at the administration of cardiotonics in emergency cases. This fact explains the incidence of cases when the drug administration (2%) was not noted in the medical card or the incorrect dose recording during the data collection (20%).

The nurse knows only the amount of solute and the infusion in proportion of 98%. This can be a source of errors even if the doctor performed correctly all procedure maneuvers.

Cardiotonic drugs were administered through the central catheter in a proportion of 98%, most often simultaneously with the secondary solution.

A label written by hand was attached in the absolute majority of studied cases, and the type of drug and quantity of administered substance were indicated on it.

A medical error becomes a medication incident only when the patient is harmed. Not all the incidents connected with the medication are caused by the medication errors. In an analysis of the 2000 anesthetic incidents, 7.2% were caused by the medication errors and not one of them was fatal [8].

Incorrect written prescription represents a frequent cause of medication errors. At a University hospital, from all the amount of the errors, 57% of them were mistakes or lapses, 39% - were the errors, caused by unconscious deviation from the rules and only 4% were conscious deviations from the rules. None of the involved staff could explain what had happened, although the main causes are: hurry, tiredness, interruption by somebody else, insufficient knowledge of the specific medication, confusion while watching another patient. Inexperienced doctors and unsupervised residents have the predisposition to make the clinical errors [9].

Medication transcription or some numeral dates are susceptible to errors. Doctors sometimes transcribe medication records. The error rate of the transcription is approximately 1%, but a third part of them could be fatal. The usage of computer systems in medical indications reduces this risk [10].

Dosage and incorrect rates, including unintentional bolus administration, are frequent errors found in intervenous administration [11].

Medication errors represent an important cause of patients' morbidity and mortality. Therefore, only 10% of the errors represent the RA and have severe consequences for the patients. The Institute of Medicines' rate from USA has shown that from 44 000 to 98 000 patients die annually as a consequence of ME and a significant part is caused by the drugs [12].

In ICUs the majority of the drugs are administered in perfusions based on the weight of the patient. Weight estimation and the dose calculation by math's searching increase the risk of the ME apparition. Because of that for the drug administration are often used difficult devices, but devices' defects could lead to drug administration with the wrong speed. We must be aware of the fact that the administration with the inappropriate speed such drugs as cardiotonics and anticoagulants can lead to some consequences with the lethal end [13].

Financial costs of adverse events, speaking about the additional treatment and additional hospitalization period, are considerable. One of the most consistent findings of reviews of registration is that, in average, a patient suffering an adverse event stays an additional six to eight days in the hospital. When the prices are established and the findings are extrapolated at the national level, the prices are reasonable.

Nurses play a very important role in patients' security, because these are the providers of the medical system, whom the patients spend the majority of time with. This fact has important implications. In case of decreasing the rate of nurse-patient, the staff rates could be associated with a high risk level of medical errors, the rates of 1:1 or 1: 2 seem to be the safest in ICU [14].

Strategies of the prevention

Incident Reporting System supports the necessity of an organizational commitment to improve general patient's safety, including the medication errors. The studies have discovered that the safety climate in a unit could predict the incidence of the ME. A more positive culture is associated with fewer errors [15].

The mechanisms suggested for the improvement of the results are various. The fear of adverse consequences can be major obstacle to the accurate reporting of errors, from 50% to 96% of them are unreported [16].

The usage of checklists is well-spread not only in ICUs, but at Emergency medicine, as well. The steadiness is caused by the low cost of the usage, easiness and high efficiency. Checklists have the role of the direction of the doctors for the successful actions that need quick and productive decisions in critical situations. Respectively is omitted a part of the ME that could be caused by the situations associated with a high stress rate.

The system of medical prescriptions is computerized. This system has the role to help and inform the doctor about the possible adverse reactions using the data base of the patient. In this base are available the results of all the investigations and medication got from the hospitalization.

Computer System presents all the general steps of the prescription and transcription of the drug [17].

The System of administration through a bar cod (SABC) is a system of the bar codes built to prevent ME and to improve the quality and safety of drug administration. General objectives of the SABC are to improve accuracy, prevent errors and generate online medication administration. It consists of Bar-Code reader, a portable computer or an office PC, a server and software. When a nurse is administrating a drug to a patient, she could scan the code from the breastplate of the patient and from the package of the drug. The appropriate software could check it and then, if it is the corresponding patient, the corresponding drug at the appropriate dosage at appropriate moment by the appropriate way is administered ("Five rights") [18]. SABC was created as an additional control to help the nurse at drug administration. At the same time, it can not replace the experience and professional judgment of the nurse.

The usage of intelligent pumps, that were evaluated, has shown the incidence rate of ME was 4% less than the pumps of the previous generations [19]. As well, there are used more types of procedures to optimize the rate of the perfusions, using the same syringe or 2 syringes with or without the period of superposition [20].

Conclusions

1. As a result of analysis of the above data, dosage errors have been ascertained in proportion of 20%, of which 4% of errors were encountered at the drug administration by dilution. The drug administration was not registered in the medical card in one case.

2. The exact body weight is known exactly in 21 patients (42%), which suggests that the medical personnel is facing limited technical opportunities.

3. The recommended doses for cardiotonic drugs investigated in this study have an orientation character. From the beginning of administration till the establishment of constant infusion speed, the dose undergoes many changes until it reaches the reference values of BP.

4. Mean arterial pressure and heart rate are the key indicators starting with the initiation of medication and subsequent continuous monitoring of patients. ECG also has an important role during monitoring, particularly in cardiac patients.

5. The incidence of four cases of dose errors in patients receiving cardiotonic drugs by the automatic syringe pump indicates that the use of modern equipment, not only does not limit the incidence of ME, but it may be even a source.

References

- Vincent JL, de Mendoca A, Cantraine F, Moreno R, Takala J, Suter PM, Sprung CL, Colardyn F, Blecher S: Use of the SOFA score to assess the incidence of organ dysfunction/failure in intensive care units: result of a multicenter, prospective study. Working group on 'sepsis-related problems' of the European Society of Intensive Care Medecine. Crit Care Med 1998, 26:1793-1800.
- 2. Stelfox HT, Palmisani S, Scurlock C, Orav EJ, Bates DW. The "To Err is Human" report and the patient safety literature. Qual Saf Health Care. 2006;15:1748.
- Donchin Y, Gopher D, Olin M, Badihi Y, Biesky M, Sprung CL, Pizov R, Cotev S: A look into the nature and causes of human errors in the intensive care unit. Crit Care Med 1995, 23:294-300.
- 4. Rothschild JM, Landrigan CP, Cronin JW, Kaushal R, Lockley SW, Burdick E, Stone PH, Lilly CM, Katz JT, Czeisler CA, Bates DW: The Critical Care Safety Study: The incidence and nature of adverse events and serious medical errors in intensive care. Crit Care Med 2005, 33:1694-1700.
- Phillips DP, Christenfeld N, Glynn LM. Increase in US medicationerror deaths between 1983 and 1993. Lancet. 1998;351(9103):643–644.
- 6. Ghicavîi V. Medicamentele-baza farmacoterapiei raționale [Drugsrational pharmacotherapy bases]. Chisinau 2013, 74-84.
- Ghicavîi V., Bacinschi., Guşuilă Gh., Farmacologie [Pharmacology], Ediția a II-a, Chişinău-2010, 223-236.
- Webb RK, Russell WJ, Klepper I, Runciman WB. The Australian Incident Monitoring Study. Equipment failure. An analysis of 2000 incident reports. Anaesth Intensive Care 1993; 21: 673–677.
- 9. Donchin Y, Gopher D, Olin M et al. A look into the nature and causes of human errors in the intensive care unit. Crit Care Med 1995.
- Webster CS, Merry AF, Gander PH, Mann NK. A prospective, randomised clinical evaluation of a new safety-orientated injectable drug administration system in comparison with conventional methods. Anaesthesia 2004; 59: 80–7.
- Kohn LT, Corrigan JM, Donaldson MS: To Err is Human: Building a Safer Health System. Washington: National Academy Press; 1999.
- Potylycki MJ, Kimmel SR, Ritter M, et al. Nonpunitive medication error reporting: 3-year findings from one hospital's Primum Non Nocere initiative. J Nurs Adm. 2006;36(7–8):370–376.
- Valentin A, Capuzzo M, Guidet B, et al. Patient safety in intensive care: results from the multinational Sentinel Events Evaluation (SEE) study. Intensive Care Med 2006;32:1591.
- 14. Ford DG, Seybert AL, Smithburger PL, Kobulinsky LR, Samosky JT, Kane-Gill SL. Impact of simulation-based learning on medication error rates in critically ill patients. Intensive Care Med. 2010;36(9): 1526–1531.
- 15. Latif A, Rawat N, Pustavoitau A, Pronovost PJ, Pham JC. National study on the distribution, causes, and consequences of voluntarily reported medication errors between the ICU and non-ICU settings. Crit Care Med. 2013;41(2):389–398.
- Leape LL, Cullen DJ, Clapp MD, Burdick E, Demonaco HJ, Erickson JI, Bates DW: Pharmacist participation on physician rounds and adverse drug events in the intensive care unit. JAMA 1999, 282:267-270.
- 17. Teryl K. Nuckols, Anthony G. Bower, Susan M.Paddock, Lee H. Hilborne, Peggy Wallace, Jeffrey M. Rothschild, Anne Griffin, Rollin J. Faibanks, Beverly Carlson, Robert J. Panzer and Robert H. Brook: Programmable Infusion Pumps in ICUs: An Analysis of Corresponding Adverse Drug Events Crit Care Clin 2005;21:91-110, ix.
- Powell ML, Carnevale FA: A comparative between single and doublepump syringe changes of intravenous inotropic medications in children. Dynamics 2004, 15:10-14.
- Hanneman SK: Advancing nursing practice with a unit-based clinical expert. Image J Nurs Sch 1996, 28:331-337.
- 20. Bates DW, Leape LL, Cullen DJ, Laird N, Petersen LA, Teich JM, Burdick E, Hickey M, Kleefield S, Shea B, Vander Vliet M, Seger DL: Effect of computerized physician order entry and a team intervention on prevention of serious medication errors. JAMA 1998, 280:1311-1316.

REVIEW ARTICLES

DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.1051087 UDC: 577.112.386:616.018.749



The role of homocysteine in endothelial dysfunction

Visternicean Elena

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology No 2 Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Corresponding author: mecineanuelena@yahoo.com. Received December 26, 2016; accepted February 06, 2017

Abstract

Background: Homocysteine is a sulfur-containing intermediate product in the normal metabolism of methionine, an essential amino acid. Hyperhomocysteinemia defines the state in which concentrations of homocysteine exceeds normal level. Homocysteine is located at a metabolic branch point and can either be irreversibly degraded to cysteine via the transsulfuration pathway, or conserved by remethylation back to methionine. Folic acid, vitamin B_{12} , and vitamin B_6 deficiencies and reduced enzyme activities inhibit the breakdown of homocysteine, thus increasing the concentration of intracellular homocysteine. Being cytotoxic, homocysteine is increasingly exported from the cell to become detectable in plasma. In recent years the amino acid homocysteine has achieved the status of an important factor in vascular disease, diseases of aging, and other fundamental processes in biology and medicine. Hyperhomocysteinemia may alter vascular morphology, stimulate inflammation, activate the endothelium and the blood clotting cascade, and inhibit fibrinolysis. As a result, hyperhomocysteinemia is associated with loss of endothelial antithrombotic function and induction of a procoagulant environment. The role of homocysteine in endothelial dysfunction is thought to be mediated by mechanisms including oxidative stress. Vascular injury could be caused by an imbalance between nitric oxide production from dysfunctional endothelial cells and homocysteine concentrations. **Conclusions**: Hyperhomocysteinemia is associated with alterations in vascular morphology, loss of endothelial antithrombotic function, and induction of a procoagulant environment.

Key words: homocysteine, endothelial dysfunction, hyperhomocysteinemia, endothelium, oxidative stress.

Introduction

In recent years the amino acid homocysteine has achieved the status of an important factor in vascular disease, diseases of aging, and other fundamental processes in biology and medicine [25]. After its discovery in 1932, homocysteine was characterized as an important intermediate in methionine metabolism. Little was known about its biomedical significance until 1962, when children with mental retardation, accelerated growth, and propensity to thrombosis of arteries and veins were found to excrete homocysteine in the urine [19,25]. The cause of homocystinuria in most of these cases is deficiency of the enzyme cystathionine synthase, a pyridoxal phosphate-dependent enzyme [25]. In 1968, a second case of homocystinuria caused by deficiency of a different enzyme, methionine synthase, a folate and vitamin B12-dependent enzyme, was critical in the discovery of the atherogenic potential of homocysteine [25]. McCully and Wilson proposed the "homocysteine theory of artheriosclerosis" in 1975 on the basis of pathological examinations of autopsy material from children with homocystinuria [20]. However, only within the past 5 years has homocysteine taken its place among other major risk factors such as cholesterol, smoking, and obesity [20]. Homocysteine is now widely accepted as a major independent risk factor for cardiovascular, cerebrovascular, and peripheral vascular disease [13,17,20,33]. However, the precise mechanisms underlying this association, although intensively studied, are still incompletely solved [30].

Homocysteine metabolism

Homocysteine is located at a metabolic branch point and can either be irreversibly degraded to cysteine via the transsulfuration pathway, or conserved by remethylation back to methionine (fig. 1) [12,30].

First, methionine is activated by the enzyme methionine adenosyltransferase (MAT) and ATP to form S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) [30]. SAM is the primary methyl group donor for many vital biological processes, including methylation of DNA, RNA, proteins, lipids and neurotransmitters [10,11,13,16,28,29,30,31,32,33,345]. Upon transmethylation, SAM is converted to S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH), which is further hydrolyzed by the enzyme adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase (SAHH) to homocysteine and adenosine. This reaction is reversible and favors SAH synthesis [12,30].

The transsulfuration pathway, mainly limited to liver and kidneys, is initiated with the condensation of homocysteine and serine to form cystathionine, in a reaction catalyzed by the enzyme cystathionine β -synthase (CBS), with pyridoxal phosphate (vitamin B6) as co-factor [12,13,30,31,34]. Cystathionine is further metabolized to produce cysteine by another enzyme – cystathionine γ -lyase (CGL). Besides protein synthesis, cysteine is used in the synthesis of glutathione, an important cellular antioxidant also involved in detoxification of many xenobiotics [30].

In remethylation, homocysteine acquires a methyl group from 5-methyltetrahydrofolate (5-MTHF) or from betaine



Fig. 1. Homocysteine metabolism (A – enzyme methionine adenosyltransferase, B – enzyme 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase) [33].

to form methionine. The reaction with MTHF occurs in all tissues and is vitamin B_{12} -dependent, while the reaction with betaine is confined mainly to the liver and is vitamin B_{12} -independent [31].

Homocysteine remethylation occurs by receiving the methyl group from 5-MTHF, which links the folate cycle with the homocysteine metabolism (fig. 1). 5-MTHF is the active folate derivative and the main circulating form of folate in plasma. It is produced from 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate (5,10-MTHF) by the enzyme 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR), which uses flavine adenine dinucleotide (FAD – the active form of vitamin B₂) as co-factor [1,4,33,34]. The methyl group from 5-MeTHF is transferred via vitamin B₁₂ to homocysteine, in a reaction catalyzed by the enzyme methionine synthase (MTR), with production of tetrahydrofolate (THF) [27,30,33,34]. THF is then recycled to 5,10-MTHF in the presence of serine and vitamin B₆ by the enzyme serine hydroxymethyltransferase (SHMT) [30].

Over time, the cobalamin (I) cofactor of MTR is oxidized to form cobalamin (II), leading to inactivation of MTR. Thus, the enzyme methionine synthase reductase (MTRR) is required for reversion of oxidized cobalamin (II) to CH_3 cobalamin (III) to maintain the activity of MTR [22]. The folate-dependent remethylation pathway is present in nearly all cells, except red blood cells [34].

Alternatively, in liver and kidney, methyl groups can also be donated by betaine (also known as trimethylglycine, an intermediate of choline oxidation), in a reaction catalyzed by the enzyme betaine-homocysteine methyltransferase (BHMT) [30].

The intracellular concentration of homocysteine is under

tight control. Once formed in the cell, homocysteine is quickly either metabolized to cysteine or remethylated to methionine. In addition, if one of these pathways is compromised, leading to higher intracellular production than elimination, the excess of homocysteine is rapidly exported to the blood. Hence, cellular export of homocysteine reflects the balance between homocysteine production and catabolism. [12,30].

SAM plays a central role in the regulation of homocysteine metabolism, by coordinating the fate of homocysteine towards remethylation or transsulfuration pathways; it is an allosteric inhibitor of MTHFR and an activator of CBS activity. When the levels of SAM are adequate to sustain methylation demand, the partitioning of homocysteine between both metabolic pathways is approximately equal. In case of excess of methionine supply, an increase in tissue SAM levels occurs, and homocysteine degradation to cysteine is favored. Moreover, SAM also regulates homocysteine remethylation through inhibition of BHMT activity. Conversely, if methionine levels are low, for example during fasting, low SAM levels will neither activate CBS nor inhibit MTHFR, resulting in conservation of homocysteine via remethylation back to methionine [12,16,30,31].

Folic acid, vitamin B_{12} , and vitamin B_6 deficiencies and reduced enzyme activities inhibit the breakdown of homocysteine, thus increasing the concentration of intracellular homocysteine [29,33]. Being cytotoxic, homocysteine is increasingly exported from the cell to become detectable in plasma [33].

Causes of hyperhomocysteinemia

Hyperhomocysteinemia is a terminology suggested to describe the presence of abnormal elevation in total plasma homocysteine levels. In the fasting state, normal plasma levels of homocysteine are less than 12 μ mol/l [1,2,5,6,9,14,21,30]. Pregnant women have lower plasma tHcy than nonpregnant women. The mean tHcy concentration in pregnant women is 5–6 μ mol/L, and tHcy concentrations >10 μ mol/L are rarely observed [28].

Table 1

Determinants of plasma tHcy [28]

Causes	Effect
Genetic factors	
Homocystinuria	<u>↑</u> ↑↑
Heterozygosity for CBS defects	↑
Down syndrome	Ļ
MTHFR 677C→T (homozygosity)	1
Other polymorphisms	1
Physiologic determinants	
Increasing age	↑
Male sex	1
Pregnancy	\downarrow
Postmenopausal state	↑
Renal function, reduced glomerular filtration rate	<u>↑</u>
Increasing muscle mass	1
Lifestyle determinants	
Vitamin intake (folate, B ₁₂ , B ₆ , B ₂)	Ļ
Smoking	↑
Coffee	1
Ethanol intake	↑
Lack of exercise	↑
Clinical conditions	
Folate deficiency	<u>↑</u> ↑
Cobalamin deficiency	<u></u>
Vitamin B6 deficiency	1
Renal failure	<u></u>
Hyperproliferative disorders	1
Hypothyroidism	1
Hyperthyroidism	↓
Early stage of diabetes	↓
Late stage of diabetes	1
Drugs	
Folate antagonists (Methotrexate, Trimethoprim,	↑ (
Anticonvulsants, Cholestyramine)	*
Cobalamin antagonists (Nitrous oxide, Nitric	
Vitamin B6 antagonists	↑
Sulfhydryl compounds	
Estrogens Tamovifen	
Androgens	↓ ↓ ↑
Cyclosporin A Diuretics Fibrates	 ↑
Cyclospoliti A, Dialetics, Fibrales	

↓ – decrease in tHcy, ↑ – moderate hyperhomocysteinemia (12 – 30 μ mol/l), ↑↑ – intermediate hyperhomocysteinemia (30 – 100 μ mol/l), ↑↑↑ – severe hyperhomocysteinemia (>100 μ mol/l)

Determinants of plasma total homocysteine (tHcy) include genetic, physiologic, and lifestyle factors; various diseases and drugs (tab. 1) [9,17,28,33,34]. The causes of increased tHcy concentrations vary according to the age of the person and the degree of tHcy increase [20,27,28,33]. Low folate or cobalamin status or renal impairment account for the majority of cases with increased tHcy [3,11,31,32,33]. In populations eating food fortified with folic acid, renal impairment and cobalamin deficiency are the most important determinants. Homozygosity for the MTHFR 677C \rightarrow T polymorphism is the most common genetic determinant. Individuals with the MTHFR 677CC variant, but it depends on the folate status. Most other genetic polymorphisms in enzymes related to homocysteine have little effect on tHcy concentrations [28,29].

Circulating species of homocysteine in plasma

Homocysteine is present in plasma in various forms in different proportions [20,27,33]. Human plasma contains both reduced and oxidized species of homocysteine [20]. The concentration of free homocysteine in plasma is very low and accounts for less than 2% of total plasma homocysteine in normal subjects [27,33] and the oxidized forms of homocysteine usually comprise 98-99% of total plasma homocysteine in human plasma [20]. Disulfide forms also exist with cysteine and with proteins containing reactive cysteine residues (protein-bound homocysteine). The latter oxidized forms are referred to as mixed disulfides. The concentration of homocystine and homocysteine-cysteine represents approximately 10-15%, and protein-bound homocysteine accounts for over 80% of the measured total homocysteine in normal plasma [27]. Total homocysteine, therefore, is the sum total of all forms of homocysteine that exist in plasma or serum [20]. Only minute amounts of homocysteine are found in the urine of healthy subjects. The term "homocystinuria" should therefore be reserved for inborn errors of metabolism characterized by extremely elevated plasma homocysteine levels and substantially increased excretion of homocysteine in the urine [33].

Mechanisms of homocysteine-mediated vascular damage

Hyperhomocysteinemia may alter vascular morphology, stimulate inflammation, activate the endothelium and the blood clotting cascade, and inhibit fibrinolysis [1,5,6,9,10,11,1 2,13,1418,33,34,35]. As a result, hyperhomocysteinemia is associated with loss of endothelial antithrombotic function and induction of a procoagulant environment. Most known forms of damage or injury are due to homocysteine-mediated oxidative stresses. Chief among these are changes in the intracellular redox potential, interference with the nitric oxide (NO) system, and activation of transcription factors with stimulation of gene expression [33].

Observations in clinical and animal studies have identified potential pathophysiological targets where homocysteine exerts its damaging effect. Those targets include endothelial cells (ECs), vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), connective tissue, platelets, coagulation factors, lipids, and NO signal transduction molecules. Unfortunately, there is not an established, unifying hypothesis by which homocysteine evokes vascular damage. However, there are numerous biological and biomolecular mechanisms that have been heavily studied and proposed to explain the pathological changes associated with elevated tHcy levels [34].

Oxidative stress is possibly the most detrimental stressor in the pathogenesis of most diseases. Studies have shown that the pro-oxidative homocysteine exerts direct biological damage to vascular cells and tissue through an oxidative mechanism that damages lipids, nucleic acids, and proteins [15,18,19,23,34]. An alternative hypothesis to that of a direct effect of reduced homocysteine on endothelial cell injury is that homocysteine is acting indirectly through its oxidation and the concomitant production of reactive oxygen species [7,24].

Under aerobic conditions (in the presence of molecular oxygen as an electron acceptor) and at physiological pH, thiols such as homocysteine, oxidize to form disulfides, according to the general reaction:

2 Homocysteine (RSH) + $O_2 \rightarrow$ Homocysteine (RSSR) + $[O_2^-] \rightarrow H_2O_2[19,24]$

In plasma, this reaction can be catalyzed by transition metals such as copper and cobalt. Homocysteine can autooxidize readily via general thiol oxidation mechanism described above and form homocystine, or oxidize other thiols such as cysteine and glutathione to form mixed disulfides, or oxidize free cysteine residues on proteins and peptides to form mixed disulfides [19]. Homocysteine itself has the ability to generate potent reactive oxygen species (ROS) when oxidized due to its highly reactive sulfhydryl group. In the circulation, this thiol undergoes rapid metal-catalyzed sulfhydryl auto-oxidation, leading to the generation of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide [15,19,20,27,34,35].

In addition to auto-oxidative ROS production, decreased homocysteine clearance and resultant accumulation further increases the production of harmful oxidants that collectively spurs on the negative cascade of vascular complications. Homocysteine has a detrimental effect on vascular cells and tissues as a result of oxidative damage to lipids, nucleic acids, and proteins. The injurious oxidative stress exerted by homocysteine relies either on auto-oxidation of the highly reactive thiol group of homocysteines or on the formation of intracellular superoxide and peroxyl radicals with concomitant inhibition of cellular antioxidant enzymes, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD) and glutathione peroxidase [13,34].

As a consequence of homocysteine-produced oxidative radicals, there is a critical impairment in the production of endothelium derived NO by several different mechanisms [34,35]. Homocysteine decreases the bioavailability of NO, one of the major endothelium-dependent vasodilators that is produced by the endothelial isoform of nitric oxide synthase (NOS). This effect is caused either by an accelerated oxidative inactivation of NO and/or eNOS or by an increase in serum aasymmetrical dimethylarginine (ADMA), an endogenous inhibitor of eNOS, thus decreasing NO production [13,34,35]. Also, studies have shown that homocysteine suppresses NO production without altering NOS protein levels or enzyme activity and the homocysteine-induced endothelial injury and subsequent reduction in NO production are primarily associated with increased ROS levels [34].

In the walls blood of vessels, NO contributes to the regulation of systemic blood flow and pressure by activating intracellular signaling pathways that modulate calcium levels in VSMC resulting in vasodilation. Homocysteine is known to decrease vascular function by the oxidative depletion of biologically active NO. Homocysteine has also been shown to cause striking changes in vessel wall structure by inducing extracellular matrix alterations that fragment the arterial internal and medial elastic lamina. Unlike the growth retardation of the endothelium, homocysteine has been associated with myointimal hyperplasia and VSMC hypertrophy [2,4,6,8,9,17,20,27,34,35]. It has been shown that homocysteine stimulates VSMC proliferation by the activity of homocysteine-generated oxygen radicals that activate cytokines that are active in the initial phase of the proliferative process. It has also been reported that the homocysteine-mediated reduction in NO synthesis and release by injured ECs causes the release of growth factors that provoke proliferation of nearby VSMC [34].

Homocysteine has been shown to induce vascular inflammation by enhancing the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1), which regulates migration and activation of monocytes/ macrophages, and interleukin 8 (IL-8), which is an important chemoattractant for neutrophils and T-lymphocytes [13]. Homocysteine has been shown to initiate the process by increasing the expression and plasma levels of the inflammatory cytokine, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), and enhancing the activation of a redox-sensitive nuclear inflammatory transcription factor, nuclear factor-kappa B (NF_kB), in the vasculature [19,34,35].

It has long been believed that homocysteine may cause lipid peroxidiation by an oxidation-dependent pathway [2,4,34,35]. Homocysteine generates oxidative radicals that initiate oxidative degradation of lipids on the EC surface, which causes loss of membrane function and increased permeability. Clinical data have shown that patients with hyperhomocysteinemia have an increase in end products of lipid peroxidation such as F_2 -isoprostanes and malondialdehyde [34].

A more recent concept concerns activation of the unfolded protein response (UPR) that is triggered when unfolded or misfolded proteins accumulate in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). This ER stress induces the expression of several molecular chaperones and other stress response proteins, which are aimed at restoring correct protein folding or retranslocating defective proteins back to the cytosol for degradation in the proteasomes. In case of a prolonged ER stress, the UPR extends to the activation of apoptosis by various signaling pathways. This is precisely what happens in human endothelial cells after exposure to homocysteine in vitro: while inducing misfolding in the ER by altering the local redox potential and interfering with disulfide bond formation, homocysteine activates UPR and, subsequently, growth arrest and apoptosis (fig. 2) [13].



Fig. 2. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of hyperhomocysteinemia induced cell dysfunction [13].

These actions can be in connection with the widely believed capability of homocysteine to alter the surface properties of endothelial cells by changing their phenotype from anticoagulant to procoagulant [10,18,21,24,26].

Endothelial cells also possess several antithrombotic mechanisms to protect against intravascular thrombosis. However, elevated plasma homocysteine levels have been reported to cause an imbalance in coagulant and clotting properties toward a prothrombotic state in coronary and peripheral disease that is primarily mediated by the endothelial dysfunction [34].

In fact, physiological levels of homocysteine may enhance the binding of lipoprotein to fibrin. On the other hand, high levels of homocysteine reduce protein C activation, thus inhibiting its anticoagulant activity; induce a great inhibition, by more than 75%, of antithrombin III; inhibit the synthesis of anticoagulant heparan sulphate through an induced alteration of the redox potential; suppress thrombomodulin and inactivate its co-factor activity; block tissue plasminogen activator binding to endothelial cells; and activate tissue factor transcription [10,18,24,26].

Furthermore, it has been shown that homocysteine induces the activity of a protease which activates factor V, thus promoting coagulation even in the absence of thrombin. Homocysteine rapidly reacts with nitric oxide to form S-nitroso-homocysteine, which acts as a potent antiplatelet agent; the formation of this adduct may attenuate the production of peroxides from homocysteine, thus protecting against the atherogenic properties of homocysteine [10,18,19,24]. Vascular injury could be caused by an imbalance between nitric oxide production from dysfunctional endothelial cells and homocysteine concentrations [24,35].

Conclusions

This review focuses on disorders of homocysteine metabolism, on situations in which the metabolic mechanism is impaired and elucidates the mechanisms by which homocysteine can cause endothelial dysfunction. Thereby: (1) Homocysteine may increase oxidative stress; (2) Homocysteine may impair endothelial function and bioavailability of nitric oxide; (3) Homocysteine may impair vascular smooth muscle cell function; (4) Homocysteine may change extracellular matrix, collagen structure and function; (5) Homocysteine may induce a prothrombotic state; (6) Homocysteine may increase lipid peroxidation, and increase the oxidation of lowdensity lipoprotein; (7) Homocysteine may induce inflammation and apoptosis.

References

- Alan L. et al. Homocysteine metabolism: nutritional modulation and impact on health and disease. Alternative Medicine Review, 1997, 4, 234 – 254.
- Antoniades C. et al. Homocysteine and coronary atherosclerosis: from folate fortification to the recent clinical trials. European Heart Journal, 2009, 30, 6 – 15.
- Bergen N. et al. Homocysteine and folate concentrations in early pregnancy and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes: the Generation R Study. BJOG: an international journal of obstetrics and gynecology, 2012, 119 (6), 739 – 751.
- Cattaneo M., Lussana F. Hyperhomocysteinemia and cardiovascular aging. Cell Aging and Gerontology, 2002, 11, 309 – 335.

- Chen N. et al. Regulation of homocysteine metabolism and methylation in human and mouse tissues. The FASEB Journal, 2010, 24, 2804 – 2817.
- Den Heijer M. et al. Homocysteine, MTHFR and risk of venous thrombosis: a meta-analysis of published epidemiological studies. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis, 2000, 3 (2), 292 – 299.
- Di Simone. et al. Effect of folic acid on homocysteine-induced trophoblast apoptosis. Molecular Human Reproduction, 2004, 10 (9), 665 – 669.
- Djuric D. et al. Homocysteine, Folic Acid and Coronary Artery Disease: Possible Impact on Prognosis and Therapy. The Indian Journal of Chest Diseases & Allied Sciences, 2008, 50, 39 – 48.
- 9. Durand P. et al. Impaired Homocysteine Metabolism and Atherothrombotic Disease. Laboratory Investigation, 2001, 5, 645 – 672.
- Eldibany M., Caprini J. Hyperhomocysteinemia and Thrombosis. Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine, 2007, 131, 872 – 884.
- Finell R. et al. Gene–nutrient interactions: Importance of folic acid and vitamin B12 during early embryogenesis. Food and Nutrition Bulletin, 2008, 2 (supplement), S86 – S98.
- Finkelstein J. The metabolism of homocysteine: pathways and regulations. European journal of pediatrics, 1998, 157 (supplement 2), S40 – S44.
- Forges T. et al. Impact of folate and homocysteine metabolism on human reproductive health. Human Reproduction, 2007, 13 (3), 225 – 238.
- 14. Fredriksen A. et al. Large-scale population-based metabolic phenotyping of thirteen genetic polymorphisms related to one-carbon metabolism. Human Mutation, 2007, 28, 9, 56 – 865.
- Gerdes V. et al. Homocysteine and markers of coagulation and endothelial cell activation. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis, 2003, 2, 445 – 451.
- Green R. Indicators for assessing folate and vitamin B₁₂ status and for monitoring the efficacy of intervention strategies. Food and Nutrition Bulletin, 2008, 2 (supplement), S52 – S63.
- Guilliams T. Homocysteine A Risk Factor for Vascular Diseases: Guidelines for the Clinical Practice. The Journal of the American Nutraceutical Association, 2004, 7, 10 – 24.
- Harpel P. et al. Homocysteine and hemostatsis: pathogenic mechanisms predisposing to thrombosis. The journal of nutrition, 1996, Supplement, 1285S – 1289S
- 19. Hurjui L. ș. a. Impactul clinic al hiperhomocisteinemiei: rol, cauze, tratament. Clasic și modern în fiziopatologie. O abordare integrativă în educație și cercetare, 2015, 229 – 235.

- 20. Jacobsen W. Homocysteine and vitamins in cardiovascular disease. Clinical Chemistry, 1998, 44, 8(B), 1833–1843.
- Key N., McGlennen R. Hyperhomocyst(e)inemia and Thrombophilia. Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine, 2002, 126, 1367 – 1375.
- 22. Li W. et al. Homocysteine metabolism gene polymorphisms (MTHFR C677T, MTHFR A1298C, MTR A2756G and MTRR A66G) jointly elevate the risk of folate deficiency. Nutrients, 2015, 7, 6670 6687.
- 23. Malinowska J. et al. Comparison of the effect of homocysteine in the reduced form, its thiolactone and protein homocysteinylation on hemostatic properties of plasma. Thrombosis Research, 2011, 127, 214 219.
- Medina M. Amores-SaÂnchez M. Homocysteine: an emergent cardiovascular risk factor? European Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2000, 30, 754-762.
- McCully K. The Biomedical Significance of Homocysteine. Journal of Scientific Exploration, 2001, 15 (1), 5 – 20.
- 26. Quere I. et al. Homocysteine and venous thrombosis. In: Seminars in vascular medicine, 2005, 5 (2), 183 189.
- 27. Rasmussen K., Moller J. Total homocysteine measurement in clinical practice. Annals of Clinical Biochemistry, 2000, 37, 627 648.
- Refsum H. et al. Facts and Recommendations about Total Homocysteine Determinations: An Expert Opinion. Clinical Chemistry, 2004, 50 (1), 3- 32.
- 29. Refsum Helga. Folate, vitamin B12 and homocysteine in relation to birth defects and pregnancy outcome. British Journal of Nutrition, 2001, 85, Suppl. 2, S109-S113.
- Rocha M. Crossroads of homocysteine, nitric oxide and asymmetric dimethylarginine metabolisms. Involvement of S-adenosylhomocysteine and impaired cellular methylation. Lisbon 2012.
- Selhub J. Public health significance of elevated homocysteine. Food and Nutrition Bulletin, 2008, 2 (supplement), S116 – S125.
- 32. Shane B. Folate and vitamin B12 metabolism: Overview and interaction with riboflavin, vitamin B6, and polymorphisms. Food and Nutrition Bulletin, 2008, 2 (supplement), S5 – S16.
- 33. Stanger O. et al. Clinical use and rational management of homocysteine, folic acid, and B vitamins in cardiovascular and thrombotic diseases. In: Zeitschrift für Kardiologie, 2004, 93, 439 – 453.
- Steed M., Tyagi S. Mechanisms of cardiovascular remodeling in hyperhomocysteinemia. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling, 2011, 15 (7), 1927 – 1943.
- Weiss N. Mechanisms of increased vascular oxidant stress in hyperhomocysteinemia and its impact on endothelial function. Current Drug Metabolism, 2005, 6, 27 – 36.

DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.1051092 UDC: 616.125-008.313.2:615.84



Radiofrequency ablation – new insights into the modern treatment of atrial flutter and fibrillation

Grib Liviu, Cenusa Octavian, *Varvariuc Viorica, Abras Marcel, Grib Andrei, Grajdieru Romeo

Department of Internal Medicine, Medical clinic No 3, Discipline of Cardiology Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova *Corresponding author: viorica.varvariuc@gmail.com. Received December 23, 2016; accepted April 03, 2017

Abstract

Background: Atrial fibrillation (AF) is associated with a 5-fold increase in the risk of stroke and a 3-fold increase in the incidence of heart failure. The increase in AF prevalence can be attributed both to better detection of silent AF, alongside increasing age and conditions predisposing to AF. Non-pharmacological measures aimed at «healing» AF were initially tested in open surgery. Searching for an approach with a greater chance of success led to the development of radiofrequency ablation (RFA). Only recently RFA technique began to be used extensively in people with AF, not being tested in large randomized studies, with establishment of remote results.

Conclusions: Catheter ablation is used successfully in patients suffering from symptomatic paroxysmal atrial fibrillation, as an alternative to drug therapy. Performed correctly by a trained and experienced electrophysiolologist, RFA allows us to get remarkable results, being possible suspension of treatment with antiarrhythmic drugs and to avoid its so well known side's effects. RFA with catheter is superior to antiarrhythmic drug therapy in preventing recurrence in both persistent AF and in the paroxysmal AF. The success rate of RFA in experienced centers for paroxysmal AF exceeds 70% a year. RFA reintervention is necessary in the approximately 9-20% of patients with more modest results. The frequency of major complications related to RFA is less than 5%. The restored sinus rhythm with RFA in patients with heart failure may be associated with significant improvement in left ventricular ejection fraction. **Key words:** atrial fibrillation, radiofrequency ablation.

Introduction

Despite good progress in the management of patients with atrial fibrillation (AF), this arrhythmia remains one of the most common sustained cardiac rhythm disorders and one of the major causes of stroke, heart failure, sudden death, and cardiovascular morbidity in the world [1]. In 2010, the estimated numbers of men and women with AF worldwide were 20.9 million and 12.6 million, respectively, with higher incidence and prevalence rates in developed countries [2,3]. By 2030, 14–17 million AF patients are anticipated in the European Union, with 120 000–215 000 newly diagnosed patients per year [3,4,5].

The age of patients with this disease increases progressively, that currently the average age is between 75 and 85 years. This arrhythmia is associated with a 5-fold increase in the risk of stroke and a 3-fold increase in the incidence of heart failure. The increase in AF prevalence can be attributed both to better detection of silent AF, alongside increasing age and conditions predisposing to AF [1].

In many patients, AF progresses from short, infrequent episodes to longer and more frequent attacks. With time, many patients will develop permanent AF. In a small proportion of patients, AF will remain paroxysmal over several decades. Based on the presentation, duration, and spontaneous termination of AF episodes, five types of AF are traditionally distinguished: first diagnosed, paroxysmal, persistent, longstanding persistent and permanent AF. If patients suffer from both paroxysmal and persistent AF episodes, the more frequent type should be used for the diagnosis [1,6].

Patients who are primary diagnosed with AF are in the

category called de novo AF. Many patients with AF are often asymptomatic and are diagnosed incidentally during a routine physical examination. If the patient has more episodes of AF lasting up to seven days and that stops on its own the category changes to paroxysmal AF. If AF lasting longer than 7 days is then known as persistent AF [7]. In this case to restore sinus rhythm it is recommended to perform planned electrical cardioversion. If the electrical cardioversion is ineffective, contraindicated or not performed and AF continues year or more the patient's AF is then known as permanent [8]. In addition to the above four AF categories, which are mainly defined by episode timing and termination, the ACC/AHA/ ESC guidelines describe additional AF categories in terms of other characteristics of the patient [9].

Lone atrial fibrillation – the absence of clinical signs and symptoms or echocardiographic findings of rheumatic valve disease, ischemic heart disease, hypertension, pulmonary heart, cardiomyopathy thyrotoxicosis or the left atrium enlargement in patient under 60 years old.

Secondary AF – the occurrence of arrhythmias in certain situations or directly in the acute phase of diseases, such as during myocardial infarction, acute pericarditis, pulmonary embolism, infectious diseases, brain trauma or thoracic surgery [9].

AF is a chaotic atrial depolarization at a rate of 300-600 beats per minute and ventricular rate may vary depending on atrioventricular (AV) conduction. On the electrocardiogram (ECG) we have a completely irregular ventricular rhythm and fibrillatory waves of small amplitude and different morphology.

AF and atrial flutter (AFL) are two forms of supraven-

tricular tachyarrhythmia that in different periods of time can coexist on the same patient. Sources of rapid electrical discharges are automatic foci localized in the left atrium near the pulmonary veins or in a variety of other locations through both the left or right atrium [10].

AFL is atrial tachyarrhythmia with frequency of 250-350 beats per minute. AFL foci are often localized in the cavotricuspidian isthmus in the right atrium [10]. The prevalence of AFL is less than one tenth of the prevalence of AF. AFL often coexists with or precedes AF [1]. In typical, isthmus-dependent flutter, P waves will often show a "saw tooth" morphology, especially in the inferior leads (II, III, aVF). The ventricular rate can be variable (usual ratio of atrial to ventricular contraction 4:1 to 2:1, in rare cases 1:1) and macro-re-entrant tachycardias may be missed in stable 2:1 conduction [11].

Non-pharmacological measures aimed at "healing" AF were tested initially in open surgery. Searching for an approach with a greater chance of success led to the development of ablation with radiofrequency (RFA) without the need for open surgery, after having determined that, in many patients, AF is initiated and / or maintained by extrasystoles with the origin in the pulmonary veins. In the form of persistent AF, pulmonary vein isolation is not sufficient to achieve acceptable success rates but are often necessary to modify the atrial substrate (discrete ablation and / or linear ablation). Reintervention by RFA applies in the case of about 9-20% of patients. The frequency of major complications related to the ablation is less than 5%. Only recently RFA catheter technique began to be used extensively in people with AF, not being tested in large randomized studies, with the establishment of remote results. However, several well-conducted randomized trials and systematic reviews have shown that both in the persistent AF and paroxysmal AF, catheter ablation is superior to antiarrhythmic drug therapy in terms of preventing recurrences [12].

According to recent guidelines, prevention of recurrence of AF using RFA is warranted in patients with symptomatic paroxysmal form, RFA catheter may be considered after failure of first line antiarrhythmic drugs. Thus, in those without structural heart disease, RFA is an alternative to treatment by antiarrhythmic drugs if they have been found to be ineffective. In cases where the medication with amiodarone is the first line therapy due to the presence of contraindications for IC antiarrhythmic class RFA may be considered if amiodarone does not work [12]. The guides are equivocal regarding persistent AF patients. RFA can be indicated for cases of recurrent AF with severe symptoms after the failure of an antiarrhythmic drug. Such a recommendation is not based on solid evidence, but is supported by small case series and randomized trials that show that, in patients with heart failure restoring sinus rhythm (SR), the ablation catheter can be associated with significant improvement in left ventricular ejection fraction [12].

Obesity may increase the rate of AF recurrence after catheter ablation, with obstructive sleep apnea as an important potential confounder. Obesity has also been linked to a higher radiation dose and complication rate during AF ablation [13,14]. Notably, the symptomatic improvement after catheter ablation of AF in obese patients seems comparable to the improvement in normal-weight patients. In view of the potential to reduce AF episodes by weight reduction, AF ablation should be indicated to obese patients in association with lifestyle modifications that lead to weight reduction [1,15].

Technique of Radiofrequency Ablation

RFA is a minimally invasive procedure, which is performed in the electrophysiological laboratory, usually under mild sedation and only in rare cases with general anesthesia. Electrophysiology physician will perform femoral vein puncture. Subsequently, under radiological control will be introduced diagnostic and ablation catheters through the femoral vein and inferior vena cava up to the heart (in right atrium). Then the physician will puncture the interatrial septum to penetrate in this way into the left atrium, the place of entrance of the four pulmonary veins, where he identifies the most common sites of occurrence of AF. Responsible sites will be identified by a special technique of cardiac "mapping". The catheter uses radiofrequency energy (RE) to create a lesion and to block the pathologic circuit that generates AF. This procedure is called pulmonary vein isolation and is the most common procedure used in radiofrequency ablation for AF [16].

Under the same procedure, the physician can apply radiofrequency energy to an area of the right atrium, which is the cause of other arrhythmias, atrial flutter, commonly found in patients with AF. The procedure usually takes a few hours [16].

The objective of curative treatment of typical atrial flutter is to discontinue the leadership in cavotricuspid isthmus by providing a complete line of ablation, by drawing point to point of some types of successive RE and obtaining sinus rhythm. The absence of relapses is provided only in case of a complete bidirectional block. RFA for typical atrial flutter has a high success rate in more than 80% and low risk of relapse. In case of atypical atrial flutter, success of the procedure depends on the location of the circuit, and recurrences are more frequent and can even require later antiarrhythmic therapy. Also, atypical atrial flutter that is secondary to AF ablation may be difficult to treat with RFA [16].

Another procedure of RFA is circumferential ablating of left atrium, which consist in making some confluent ablative lesions around the orifice of the pulmonary veins entrance, usually grouped two by two, these two circles can be joined together or with other anatomical structures (e.g.: mitral valve ring) with additional ablation lines. These additional lines have as a purpose left atrial flutter prevention (which may occur especially if the ablation lines are incomplete). The optimal ablation procedure varies from patient to patient [16].

There is a consensus that administration of oral anticoagulation (OAC) in peri-procedural ablation is effective in preventing thromboembolic complications. This applies both to patients who have an indication for long-term OAC and in patients with risk factors for stroke, stressing that somehow ablation increases stroke risk in peri-procedural period [17].

According to the recommendations of the 2010 Guidelines, OAC long-term therapy post-ablation is recommended in patients with a score CHA2DS2-VASc \geq 2, regardless of the apparent procedural success [17]. Anticoagulation should be maintained for at least 8 weeks after ablation for all patients. The true incidence of thromboembolic events after catheter ablation has never been systematically studied and the expected stroke risk has been adopted from nonablation AF cohorts. Although observational studies suggest a relatively low stroke rate in the first few years after catheter ablation of AF, the long-term risk of recurrent AF and the safety profile of anticoagulation in ablated patients need to be considered. In the absence of controlled trial data, OAC after catheter ablation should follow general anticoagulation recommendations, regardless of the presumed rhythm outcome [1].

It is not uncommon to reappear arrhythmia after ablation in the first 2-4 weeks. It may take 1-3 months for healing of postablation scars in order to check the success of the procedure. In this interval antiarrhythmic therapy may be required. Surveillance to detect recurrent AF after RFA is important, so it is recommended that the first visit to electrophysiology physician will be 3 months post-ablation, then every 6 months during the first two years [12].

Outcome of catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation

After several procedures for catheter ablation of AF was observed that better results are obtained in young patients with short episodes of AF and in the absence of structural heart disease. Sinus rhythm is found in up to 70% of patients with paroxysmal AF and in 50% of patients with persistent AF. Many patients require more than one ablation procedure to obtain rhythm control. RFA reintervention is necessary in the approximately 9-20% of patients with more modest results. It is important that before ablation procedure the patient to be well informed about the benefits and the risks. The decision to continue treatment of AF with antiarrhythmic drugs or with RFA always belongs to patient [1].

Complications of catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation

EURObservational Research Programme (EORP) determined that the average length of hospital stay of patients after RFA is 3 days [18,19]. The frequency of major complications related to RFA is less than 5%-7 % [20]. Intraprocedural death has been reported, but is rare (0.2%) [1].

Possible complications post-RFA:

- Injury to vessels, nerves, organs and surrounding tissues by manipulating instruments
- Renal damage or allergies
- Infection or bleeding at injection site
- Arterio-venous fistula on puncture site
- Complete AV block requiring pacemaker implantation (under 1%);
- Pericardial effusion, cardiac tamponade
- Stroke; pulmonary vein stenosis
- Acute coronary syndrome

- Atrio-esophageal fistula especially in circumferential atrial ablation
- Pyloric spasm and gastric hypomotility by affecting the vagus nerve during ablation [12, 21].

Conclusions

Catheter ablation is successfully used in patients suffering from symptomatic paroxysmal AF, as an alternative to drug therapy. Performed correctly by a trained and experienced electrophysiolologist, RFA allows us to get remarkable results, being possible suspension of treatment with antiarrhythmic drugs such as: amiodarone, dronedarone, flecainide, propafenone, sotalol etc. and to avoid its so well known side effects. RFA is superior to antiarrhythmic drug therapy in preventing recurrence in both persistent AF and in the paroxysmal AF.

All patients should receive oral anticoagulation for at least 8 weeks after catheter ablation. The success rate of RFA in experienced centers for paroxysmal AF exceeds 70% a year. RFA reintervention is necessary in the approximately 9-20% of patients with more modest results. The frequency of major complications related to RFA is less than 5%. The restored sinus rhythm with RFA in patients with heart failure may be associated with significant improvement in left ventricular ejection fraction.

References

- 1. Paulus Kirchhof, Stefano Benussi, Dipak Kotecha et al. Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. European Heart Journal 2016; 37: 2893–2962.
- Chugh SS, Havmoeller R, Narayanan K, Singh D, Rienstra M, Benjamin EJ, et al. Worldwide epidemiology of atrial fibrillation: a Global Burden of Disease 2010 Study. Circulation 2014;129:837–847.
- 3. Colilla S, Crow A, PetkunW, Singer DE, Simon T, Liu X. Estimates of current and future incidence and prevalence of atrial fibrillation in the U.S. adult population. Am J Cardiol 2013;112:1142–1147.
- 4. Krijthe BP, Kunst A, Benjamin EJ, Lip GY, Franco OH, Hofman A, Witteman JC, Stricker BH, Heeringa J. Projections on the number of individuals with atrial fibrillation in the European Union, from 2000 to 2060. Eur Heart J 2013;34: 2746–2751.
- 5. Zoni-Berisso M, Lercari F, Carazza T, Domenicucci S. Epidemiology of atrial fibrillation: European perspective. Clin Epidemiol 2014;6:213-220.
- Jahangir A, Lee V, Friedman PA, Trusty JM, Hodge DO, et al. Longterm progression and outcomes with aging in patients with lone atrial fibrillation: a 30-year follow-up study. Circulation 2007;115:3050–3056.
- 7. Levy S «Classification system of atrial fibrillation» Current Opinion in Cardiology. 2000;15 (1): 54–57.
- Zoni-Berisso, M; Lercari, F; Carazza, T; Domenicucci, S. «Epidemiology of atrial fibrillation: European perspective». Clinical epidemiology.2014; 6: 213–20.
- Fuster V, Rydén LE, Cannom DS, «ACC/AHA/ESC 2006 Guidelines for the Management of Patients with Atrial Fibrillation": <u>Circulation</u>. 2006 Aug 15;114(7): 257-354.
- 10. Valentin Fuster, Lars E. Rydén, Richard W. et al. ACC/AHA/ESC Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: Executive Summary A Report of the American College of Cardiology/ American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and the European Society of Cardiology Committee for Practice Guidelines and Policy Conferences Circulation. 2001;104:2118-2150.

- 11. Bun SS, Latcu DG, Marchlinski F, Saoudi N. Atrial flutter: more than just one of a kind. Eur Heart J 2015;36:2356–2363.
- Josephson ME. Catheter and surgical ablation in the therapy of arrhythmias. In: Clinical Cardiac Electrophysiology, 4th, Lippincott, Philadelphia 2008; 319–1800.
- 13. Ector J, Dragusin O, Adriaenssens B, Huybrechts W, Willems R, Ector H, Heidbuchel H. Obesity is a major determinant of radiation dose in patients undergoing pulmonary vein isolation for atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;50:234–242.
- 14. Shoemaker MB, Muhammad R, Farrell M, Parvez B, et al. Relation of morbid obesity and female gender to risk of procedural complications in patients undergoing atrial fibrillation ablation. Am J Cardiol 2013;111:368–373.
- 15. Cha YM, Friedman PA, Asirvatham SJ, Shen WK, Munger TM, Rea RF, Brady PA, Jahangir A, Monahan KH, Hodge DO, Meverden RA, Gersh BJ, Hammill SC, Packer DL. Catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation in patients with obesity. Circulation 2008;117:2583–2590.
- Chen J, De Chillou C, Basiouny T, Sadoul N, J Da Silva Filho, Magnin-Poull I, Messier, Aliot E. Cavotricuspid Isthmus Mapping to Assess

Bidirectional Block During Common Atrial Flutter Radiofrequency Ablation. Circulation 1999; 100–2507.

- A. John Camm, Gregory YH Lip, Raffaele De Caterina et al. Romanian Journal of Cardiology "Actualizarea ghidului de management al fibrilației atriale al Societății Europene de Cardiologie, 2012", 2013; Vol.23, No.2: 67–88.
- 18. Kirchhof P, Breithardt G, Bax J, Benninger G, et al. A roadmap to improve the quality of atrial fibrillation management: proceedings from the fifth Atrial Fibrillation Network/European Heart Rhythm Association consensus conference. Europace 2016;18:37–50
- Cappato R, Calkins H, Chen SA, Davies W, et al. Updated worldwide survey on the methods, efficacy, and safety of catheter ablation for human atrial fibrillation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2010;3:32–38.
- 20. Dagres N, Hindricks G, Kottkamp H, et al. Complications of atrial fibrillation ablation in a high-volume center in 1,000 procedures: still cause for concern? J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2009;20:1014–1019.
- 21. Gupta A, Perera T, Ganesan A, Sullivan T, Lau DH, Roberts-Thomson KC, Brooks AG, Sanders P. Complications of catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation: asystematic review. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2013;6:1082–1088.



DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.1051099 UDC: 615.276:616-002



Traumeel S – bioregulatory approach in the treatment of inflammation

*Popovich S. V.¹, Katerenchuk I. P.²

¹Department of Research, Ukrainian Academy of Biological Medicine, Kiev, Ukraine ²Department of Internal Medicine, Ukrainian Medical Dental Academy, Poltava, Ukraine

*Corresponding authors: popovich@cascade-medical.com.ua. Received March 03, 2017; accepted April 14, 2017

Abstract

Background: In the treatment of inflammation, the action of widely used non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) is directed mainly to inhibit the synthesis of proinflammatory mediators, cell migration and proliferation, as well as to stimulate the formation of anti-inflammatory agents. These effects allow to quickly and significantly limit the severe symptoms of acute inflammation and pain. However, at the same time, NSAIDs suppress the sanogenetic mechanism of inflammation. Absence of correction of pathogenetic mechanisms of inflammation can lead to chronic inflammation and development of its complications (cicatricial changes, adhesions, contractures, etc.). Also, nonselectivity of NSAIDs contributes to the development of known side effects. And inhibitors of cyclooxygenase 2, as it became known, with excess daily therapeutic dose also cause serious side effects. New possibilities for solving this problem have already been demonstrated by the bioregulatory approach and the complex bioregulatory medicines (BRMs) created on its principles.

Conclusions: The complex bioregulatory action of the medicine Traumeel S allows to control and optimize the course of the inflammatory process wherever it is located and of any form. Its use contributes to the full completion of inflammation with the recovery of the structure and function of the tissue, reduces the risk of complications and chronic inflammation. Such characteristics, combined with good tolerability (absence of side effects characteristic to NSAIDs) make Traumeel S a simple and reliable assistant to a doctor of any specialty in the treatment of inflammatory diseases of different localization. **Key words:** Traumeel S, bioregulatory approach, inflammation.

Introduction

Acute inflammation is a protective reaction of the body to infection, traumatic, postischemic, toxic, autoimmune and other affection. Its main goal is the localization of this process with the further restoration of the damaged tissue structure and its function [3]. In the treatment of inflammation, the action of widely used non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) is directed mainly to inhibit the synthesis of proinflammatory mediators, cell migration and proliferation, as well as to stimulate the formation of anti-inflammatory agents. These effects allow to quickly and significantly limit the severe symptoms of acute inflammation and pain. However, at the same time, NSAIDs suppress the sanogenetic mechanism of inflammation. Absence of correction of pathogenetic mechanisms of inflammation can lead to chronic inflammation and development of its complications (cicatricial changes, adhesions, contractures, etc.). Also, nonselectivity of NSAIDs contributes to the development of known side effects. And inhibitors of cyclooxygenase 2, as it became known, with excess daily therapeutic dose also cause serious side effects [1].

New possibilities for solving this problem have already been demonstrated by the bioregulatory approach and the complex bioregulatory medicines (BRMs) created on its principles. Old name – antihomotoxic medications (AHTM). Their peculiarity is the effect of ultra-small doses of components of vegetable and mineral origin that contribute to the activation of detoxification and the restoration of self-regulation processes, including in relation to the course of the inflammatory process.

Therewith, they do not suppress the natural protective and detoxifying mechanisms of the body [3, 9, 10, 17].

Among the BRMs, the BRM Traumeel S (injectable solution, ointment) showed great opportunities in the therapy of inflammatory diseases [2, 9–11, 13, 14].





ТРАУМЕЛЬ С Комплексное биорегуляционное действие при воспалении ^{14, 17}





Показания:

В комплексном лечении воспалительных процессов различной локализации 5, 3, 16:

- ЛОР-органов 5, 13
- дыхательной системы 5, 13
- пищеварительной системы ¹³
- нефрологических заболеваний ¹⁶
- Комплексный состав и действие
- Механизм действия, отличный от НПВП 14
- Не вызывает побочных эффектов, свойственных НПВП ¹⁴
- Хороший профиль переносимости и безопасности 5, 13, 14
- Применяется с рождения¹⁴
- Длительный прием не вызывает привыкания и синдрома отмены 5, 13, 14
- Сочетается с другими препаратами 5, 13, 14, 16

Р-р для инъекций: Р.С. в РМ: № 22761 от 09.09.2016. Состав: Achillea millefolium D3; Aconitum napellusD2, Arnica montana D2, Atropa bella-donna D2, Bellis perennis D2, Calendula officinalis D2, Echinacea D2, Echinacea purpurea D2, Hamamelis virginiana D1, Hepar sulfuris D6, Hypericum perforatum D2, Matricaria recutita D3, Mercurius solubilis Hahnemanni D6, Symphytum officinale D6. Противопоказания: аллергические реакции на любой компонент препарата. Побочные действия: могут проявляться кожные аллергические реакции и отек в месте инъекции. Masb: PC. в PM: № 22627 от 09.09.2016. Состав: Achillea millefolium D6, Atropa belladonna D1, Bellis perennis Ø, Calendula officinalis Ø, Echinacea Ø, Echinacea purpurea Ø, Hamamelis virginiana Ø, Hepar sulfuris D6, Hypericum perforatum D6, Matricaria recutita Ø, Mercurius solubilis Hahnemanni D6, Symphytum officinalis Ø, Echinacea Ø, Echinacea purpurea Ø, Hamamelis virginiana Ø, Hepar sulfuris D6, Hypericum perforatum D6, Matricaria recutita Ø, Mercurius solubilis Hahnemanni D6, Symphytum officinalis Ø, Echinacea Ø, Echinacea purpurea Ø, Hamamelis virginiana Ø, Hepar sulfuris D6, Hypericum perforatum D6, Matricaria recutita Ø, Mercurius solubilis Hahnemanni D6, Symphytum officinale D4. Противопоказания: очень реакции на любой компонент препарата. Побочные действия: очень редко могут проявляться кожные аллергические реакции. Полный перечень возможных побочных эффектов указан в инструкции для медицинского применения препарата. Полная информация о препаратах находится в инструкцииях для медицинского применения. Производитель: «Биологише Хайльмиттель Хеель Гмбх» (Баден-Баден, Германия). Информация о лекарственном средстве, предназначена для медицинских и фармацевтических работников.

Main pharmacological actions of Traumeel S: anti-inflammatory (not suppression of inflammation, but its optimization only), antiexudative, regenerating, analgesic, immunocorrecting. These properties are provided by 14 components of plant and mineral origin in ultra-small (homeopathic) doses (fig. 1).

The effectiveness of Traumeel S in inflammatory diseases is confirmed by many clinical studies conducted in Germany, Ukraine and other countries [1–17].

Traumeel S in diseases of ENT organs

Traumeel S has proven itself in the complex therapy of rhinosinusitis, otitis, tonsillitis, nasopharyngitis, both in their independent treatment and associated with the acute respiratory viral infection (ARVI), in the prevention of bacterial complications of ARVI [1-5, 7, 8, 12, 13].

Peresadin N.A. and Dyachenko T. of the Lugansk State Medical University compared the indicators of cellular and humoral immunity in children with the prescription of conventional treatment and therapy of BRM / AHTM. It was concluded that Traumeel S, in combination with other BRMs has, when used step-by-step, a clinically beneficial effect: the number of episodes of ARVI decreased 1.5-2 times, the manifestations of intoxication, headache and fever decreased; they were significantly less expressed compared with the cough control group, running nose, chest pain, sore throat. The course use of BRMs outside the aggravation period for 1-4 years indicates the potentiating and protective adaptation action of Traumeel S and other AHTMs [5, 11, 12].

Specialists from Belarus (Nikolaev V. V., Sakovich A. R., 1999) investigated the use of complex AHTMs in the treatment of acute purulent sinusitis.

The results of treatment of patients with sinusitis using the complex of BRMs (Traumeel S, etc.) and treated with classical therapy (antibiotics, antihistamines, vasoconstrictors, vitamins) were compared. The study shows that the treatment scheme for acute purulent maxillary sinusitis using BRMs is not inferior in effectiveness to conventional treatment. At the same time, a faster regression of the thermosymmetry indictors of the nasal mucosa, normalization of the pH of the nasal secretion associated with the decrease in the number of punctures in the group of patients receiving BMRs, indicates its undeniable advantages [15].

Traumeel S in pulmonology

Polish colleagues demonstrated that the use of a single Traumeel S ampoule once a week in patients with corticosteroid-dependent bronchial asthma allows lowering the daily dose of corticosteroids (triamcinolone) after five months from 4.6 to 2.6 mg, and in some patients even give up it.

It is noted that the use of Traumeel S leads to an improvement in the overall clinical condition of patients, an increase in muscle strength, and also contributes to the reduction of complications associated with prolonged corticosteroid therapy [11].

Traumeel S in nephrologic diseases

In the campus of Uzhhorod State University (Kovalchuk I.A. et al., 1999), the efficacy of BMRs in the treatment of patients with chronic pyelonephritis - Traumeel S, etc. was studied. In the main group, the BMR was used along with etiotropic drugs (antibiotics). As control was an identical group of patients who received treatment according to the standard method with allopathic drugs only. In patients of the main group, subjective improvement of the condition occurred much earlier, the laboratory indicators were faster than in the control group.

No signs of toxicity, intolerance, side effects of use of AHTM were observed [16].

Traumeel S, practical recommendations

The most informative indicator describing the presence and intensity of the inflammatory process is the concentration of the C-reactive protein (CRP) of blood serum. The increase in the level of CRP up to 3-7 mg / l already indicates local inflammation and serves as a criterion for the prescription of BMR Traumeel S. The criterion for stopping to receive Traumeel S is a decrease in the level of CRP below 3 mg / l [6].

The studies showed there has been an increase in the effectiveness of therapy for inflammation with the combination of BMR Traumeel S injections with the local (ointment) form. During the acute period, along with the course of injections, it is recommended to apply locally ointment [2, 13, 14] (table 1).

Recommendations for the dosage of Traumeel S when combined with several dosage forms

	Acute and subacute period	Completion of treatment (2-4 weeks or more)		
	Basic BMR in case of inflammati	ion (CRP level 3-7 mg/l)		
Traumeel S	2,2 ml (1 amp) i/m, s/c, i/c daily No 3-5	2,2 ml (1 amp) i/m, s/c, i/c 2-3 times (up to decrease of CRP below 3 mg / I)		
	Ointment: easily to rub in/ apply under the bandage / apply on the affected area: on the 1st day – 5-6 times, then 3 times / day	Ointment: easily to rub in/ apply 2-3 times / day, incl. with mas- sage or injected with phonophoresis No 10 (daily)		

Conclusions

The complex bioregulatory action of the medicine Traumeel S allows to control and optimize the course of the inflammatory process wherever it is located and of any form. Its use contributes to the full completion of inflammation with the recovery of the structure and function of the tissue, reduces the risk of complications and chronic inflammation. Such characteristics, combined with good tolerability (absence of side effects characteristic to NSAIDs) make Traumeel S a simple and reliable assistant to a doctor of any specialty in the treatment of inflammatory diseases of different localization.

References

- Chursina T.YA., Mikhalev K.A. Allopaticheskaya i antigomotoksicheskaya terapiya ostrogo vospaleniya: al'ternativnyye ili vzaimodopolnyayushchiye puti [Allopathic and antihomotoxic therapy of acute inflammation: alternative or complementary ways]. Biologicheskaya terapiya [Biological Therapy]. 2006; 1:17-21.
- Popovich S.V. Klinicheskiy obraz preparata Traumeel S. [Clinical image of the medicine Traumeel S]. Biologicheskaya terapiya [Biological Therapy]. 2006; 1:22-23.
- Nikonenko A.G. Sovremennyye predstavleniya o mekhanizmakh regulyatsii vospalitel'nogo protsessa [Modern ideas about the mechanisms of inflammatory process regulation]. Biologicheskaya terapiya [Biological Therapy]. 2006; 1:11-15.
- Katerenchuk I.P., Chernomorets P.M., Klimenko V.G. Patogeneticheskiye mekhanizmy razvitiya khronicheskogo vospaleniya i klyuchevyye aspekty yego antigomotoksicheskoy terapii [Pathogenetic mechanisms of development of chronic inflammation and key aspects of its antihomotoxic therapy]. Biologicheskaya terapiya [Biological Therapy]. 2007; 1:4-14.
- 5. Peresadin N.A., D'yachenko T.V. Kompleksnoye lecheniye i reabilitatsiya patsiyentov s khronicheskimi zabolevaniyami LOR-organov i dykhatel'noy sistemy: sovremennyye metodologicheskiye aspekty ispol'zovaniya antigomotoksicheskikh sredstv u chasto boleyushchikh lits [Complex treatment and rehabilitation of patients with chronic diseases of ENT organs and the respiratory system: modern methodological aspects of the use of antihomotoxic drugs in often ill persons]. Biologicheskaya terapiya [Biological Therapy]. 2004; 1:24-27.
- Pashchenko V.N., Girin S.V. Diagnosticheskaya rol' S-reaktivnogo belka v sovremennoy klinicheskoy praktike [Diagnostic role of C-reactive protein in modern clinical practice]. Biologicheskaya Terapiya [Biological Therapy]. 2010; 1:10-14.
- 7. Kireyeva T.V., Sutyrina I.G., Ginkota L.V. Primeneniye antigomotoksicheskikh preparatov v lechenii ostrykh respiratornykh virusnykh infektsiy [The use of antihomotoxic drugs in the treatment of acute

48

respiratory viral infections]. Materialy Mezhdunarodnogo nauchnoprakticheskogo simpoziuma "Antigomotoksicheskaya terapiya ostrykh vospalitel'nykh zabolevaniy" [Materials of the International Scientific and Practical Symposium "Antihomotoxic Therapy of Acute Inflammatory Diseases"]. 2006; 46-47.

- Khayne KH., Shmolts M.V. Immunologicheskaya vspomogatel'naya reaktsiya, vyzyvayemaya rastitel'nymi ekstraktami, soderzhashchimisya v antigomotoksicheskikh preparatakh [Immunological auxiliary reaction caused by plant extracts contained in antihomotoxic preparations]. Biologicheskaya meditsina [Biological medicine]. 1998; 2: 9-11.
- Khayne KH. Znacheniye antigomotoksicheskoy terapii v regulyatornoy meditsine [The value of antihomotoxic therapy in regulatory medicine]. Biologicheskaya meditsina [Biological medicine]. 2004; 2: 4-9.
- Van Brandt B., Khayne KH. Regulyatornaya blokada: opredeleniye, znacheniye i terapiya [Regulatory blockade: definition, significance and therapy]. Biologicheskaya meditsina [Biological medicine]. 2006; 4-5.
- 11. Myuller-Lobnits K., Getel D. Klinicheskaya effektivnost kompleksnogo gomeopaticheskogo preparata Traumeel S i yego komponentov [Clinical efficacy of the complex homeopathic preparation Traumeel S and its components]. Biologicheskaya meditsina [Biological medicine]. 2013; 1: 13-27.
- 12. Kramarev S.A., Palatna L.O., Shamugiya B.K. Al'ternativní metodi líkuvannya ta profílaktiki gripu ta GRVÍ u dítey [Alternative methods of treatment and prevention of influenza and acute respiratory viral infections in children]. Metodichní rekomendatsíí MOZ Ukraini [Guidelines of Ministry of Health of Ukraine]. 2006; 40.
- Shamugiya B.K., Timoshkov M.V. Vozmozhnosti preparata Traumeel S v terapii vospaleniya [Possibilities of Traumeel S in the treatment of inflammation]. Mistetstvo líkuvannya [Therapy Art]. 2013; 2-3 (98-99): 44-49.
- 14. Byolohyshe Khaylmyttel Kheel HmbKH. Monohrafyya po preparatu Traumeel S [Biologische Heilmittel Heel GmbH: Monographie über das Medikament Traumeel S]. Per. s angl. M. Arnebiya [Trans. from English by M. Arnebyya]. 2011; 53.
- 15. Nikolayev V.V.; Sakovich A.R. Kompleksnyye antigomotoksicheskiye preparaty v lechenii ostrykh gnoynykh sinusitov [Complex antihomotoxic drugs in the treatment of acute purulent sinusitis]. Biologicheskaya Meditsina [Biological medicine]. 1999; 2: 47-48.
- 16. Koval'chuk I.A., Strizhak V.V., Shkoda-Ulyanova N.V. Opyt ispol'zovaniya kompleksnykh antigomotoksicheskikh preparatov Traumeel S, Echinacea compositum S i Lymphomyosot dlya lecheniya bol'nykh s khronicheskim piyelonefritom [Experience in the use of complex antihomotoxic drugs Traumeel S, Echinacea compositum S and Lymphomyosot for the treatment of patients with chronic pyelonephritis]. Biologicheskaya terapiya [Biological Therapy]. 1999; 3:6-8.
- Klimenko V.G. Osnovnyye polozheniya patogeneticheskogo bioregulyatsionnogo podkhoda v obshchey terapevticheskoy praktike [The main provisions of the pathogenetic bioregulatory approach in general therapeutic practice]. Biologicheskaya terapiya [Biological Therapy]. 2013; 1: 8-11.

BOOK REVIEW

Monograph "Pituitary adenomas. Morphopathology and molecular profile"

Publishing company Sirius, Chisinau, 2017, 169 pages

The author: Eugen Melnic, MD, PhD, Associate Professor

Department of Morphopathology, Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

Pituitary gland volume structures are neighbourhood related with important brain assemblies (the internal carotid arteries, cranial nerves III, IV, V, cavernous sinuses, optic chiasm, hypothalamus, the third ventricle, etc.) causing severe and progressive changes by local compression. Now, one plausible explanation is the absence of a detailed description regarding their biological heterogeneity, able to highlight the molecular alterations, cellular composition and susceptibility to treatment.

Despite adenomas are a sort of benign pathological entities, they can convert severe, even life threatening by local invasion and compression or by metabolic and cardiovascular complications.

Pituitary adenomas molecular features, extremely necessary to identify factors that may affect prognosis and treatment are insufficiently studied. Except GH and PRL-secreting pituitary adenomas which have been extensively studied in molecular terms, other relatively rare types that show higher aggressiveness compared to previous ones, with adverse effects on the body endocrine profile have not been fully characterized.

Research direction exhibited by the author is an innovative and current. For these reasons, this paper reports the predictive study of molecular factors and probably the therapeutic approach depending on hormonal status of pituitary adenomas and determines correlations between different molecular factors for achieving molecular subgroups, which could then be used as prognostic and especially therapeutic markers. Nevertheless, this paper contains preliminary data obtained for factors such as VEGF165b fraction inhibiting VEGF that have not been studied in pituitary adenomas until now or less and sporadically such as EG VEGF.

The study is devided into five chapters with 325 references.

The **introductory** chapter highlights the importance of recent scientific study and practice medicine.

Chapter I **Anatomy and histology.** The author describes anatomical and histological data of the human pituitary structure through the new laboratory files.

Chapter II **Pituitary adenomas: histopathology and molecular profile: Controversy and certainties** contains classic histopathological examination competed later by immunohistochemical study of hormonal profile on paraffin processed specimens.

A key importance have Chapters III **Involvement of growth factors and correspondents receptors in pituitary adenomas pathology** and IV **Predictive factors for the diagnosis and therapy of pituitary adenomas**. These subdivisions of monograph allow radical change of treatment and follow up of patients diagnosed with pituitary adenoma. Customized treatment is one of the basic switches that can give dynamic favourable results.

In Chapter V Epidemiological data of pituitary adenomas hormonal profile in Moldova compared with those in Romania. It is the first analysis of the pituitary adenomas structure depending on geographical area, which would allow highlighting some environmental factors involved in the aetiology of these tumors.

Conclusions: "Pituitary adenomas. Pathology and molecular profile" proposed by Dr. Eugen Melnic is well-done and current study and should be printed as a monograph. The work is intended for resident doctors, specialists in pathology, neuropathology, neurology, neurosurgery, endocrinology, oncology and molecular biology.

Vladimir Vataman, MD, PhD, Associate Professor Department of Morphopathology Nicolae Testemitsanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy Chisinau, the Republic of Moldova

GUIDE FOR AUTHORS

The authors are kindly requested to visit our web site www.moldmedjournal.md and strictly follow the directions of the Publication Ethics and Malpractice Statement.

The articles must be sent electronically to editor@moldmedjournal.md by the author, responsible for the correspondence, using the Authorship Statement Form (www.moldmedjournal/authorship-statement/.

All papers are to be executed in the following manner:

1. The manuscripts should be typed in format A4, 1.5-spaced, with 2.0 cm margins, printing type 12 Times New Roman, in Microsoft Word.

2. The title page should include the first and family name of all the authors, their academic degrees, the name of the department and institution from which the paper has arrived, the phone number and e-mail address of the corresponding author.

3. The abstract should be written on the title page and limited from 220 to 240 words.

<u>The abstract of research articles</u> should have four parts: Background, Material and methods, Results, Conclusions. <u>The abstract of review articles</u> should have two parts: Background and Conclusions. The abstract should end with 3 to 6 key words.

4. The text of clinical or experimental articles (has to be less than 16 pages long) should consist of an Introduction, Material and Methods, Results, Discussion, Conclusions and be followed by not more than 40 References. The review articles must not exceed 25 pages and contain not more than 100 references.

5. The tables and figures must be typed, consecutively numbered and followed by an explanatory text. The figures that have to emphasize a comparison or details are published in color. If colored figures are to be placed, the author must pay an additional fee of \in 100 per page (1-8 figures on a page).

6. The references are to be listed in order of their appearance in the text, and the appropriate numbers are to be inserted in the text in square brackets in proper places. The references must comply with the general format outlined in the Uniform Requirements for the Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals developed by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (www.icmje.org), chapter IV.A.9.

7. The references in the Cyrillic script should be transliterated into Latin script as follows: A–A, B–B, B–V, Γ–G, Д–D, E–E, Ë–E, Ж–ZH, 3–Z, И–I, Й–Y, K–K, Л–L, M–M, H–N, O–O, Π–P, P–R, C–S, T–T, V–U, Φ–F, X–KH, Ц–TS, Ч–CH, Ш–SH, Щ–SCH, Ы–Y, Э–E, Ю–YU, Я–YA, b and b are omitted. Immediately after the transliteration the translation of the title in English in the square brackets should follow. For example: Ivanov IV, Sidorov VM, Kozlov NF. Transplantatsiya organov i tkaney [Transplantation of organs and tissues]. Vestnik Khirurgii [Messenger of Surgery]. 2010; 26(6):45-49.

Address of the Editorial Office 192, Stefan cel Mare Avenue, Chisinau, MD-2004, the Republic of Moldova Phone: +37322 205209, +37322 244751, +37332 205877 www.moldmedjournal.md editor@moldmedjournal.md Index for subscription – 32130